Geomicrobiology of Terrestrial Subsurface Fluids

and Potential Applications in Biotechnology

ΒY

BHARATHI VALLALAR B.S., Louisiana State University, 2010 M.S., Louisiana State University, 2012

THESIS

Submitted as partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Earth and Environmental Sciences in the Graduate College of the University of Illinois at Chicago, 2017

Chicago, Illinois

Defense Committee: D'Arcy Meyer-Dombard, Chair and Advisor Fabien Kenig Kathryn L. Nagy Max Berkelhammer Fred A. Rainey, University of Alaska, Anchorage

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my thesis committee, consisting of Dr. D'Arcy Meyer-Dombard, Dr. Fabien Kenig, Dr. Fred A. Rainey, Dr. Kathryn L. Nagy, and Dr. Max Berkelhammer, for guiding me through my academic career and providing positive encouragement through the many setbacks experienced in research. Special thanks to Professor Meyer-Dombard for her patient guidance and for largely funding my research expenses. Completion of this degree would not have been possible without the unwavering love and support of my friends and family.

I am also grateful to many friends and colleagues that assisted in sample collection and data analysis. Caitlin Boblitt, M.S. for indispensable aid in constructing figures for this manuscript; Dr. Caloy Arcilla at The University of the Philippines, Diliman for coordinating sample collection in the Philippines; Lionel Mojekwu, M.S. at Argonne National Laboratory for ICP analyses; Dr. Dawn Cardace at University of Rhode Island for field assistance and geochemical analyses of environmental samples; Dr. Everett Shock for geochemical data collected over the years from field sites in Yellowstone National Park; Dr. Kristin Woycheese and Caitlin Casar, M.S. for laboratory aid, field support, productive academic discussions, and moral support.

ii

I. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 MICROBIOLOGY OF THE SUBSURFACE AND IMPLICATIONS IN BIOTECHNOLOGY	1
1.2 TERRESTRIAL HYDROTHERMAL SPRINGS	2
1.3 SERPENTINIZATION AND SERPENTINIZING ENVIRONMENTS	4
1.4 GEOMICROBIOLOGY AND POTENTIAL APPLICATIONS IN BIOTECHNOLOGY	6
1.5 JUSTIFICATION AND OBJECTIVES.	9
1.6 GEOLOGIC SETTING, FIELD SITE CHARACTERIZATION, AND SAMPLE COLLECTION - PHILIPPINES	10
1.7 GEOLOGIC SETTING, FIELD SITE CHARACTERIZATION, AND SAMPLE COLLECTION – YELLOWSTONE, WY	14
II. MULTI-METAL RESISTANT ALKALITOLERANT BACTERIA ISOLATED FROM A SERPENTINIZING SPRING	IN THE
	10
2.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS	
2.2.1 Aqueous geochemistry (ICP-AES)	
2.2.2 Cultivation of metal-resistant bacteria from environmental samples	20
2.2.3 Isolation of metal-resistant bacteria	20
2.2.4 DNA extraction from isolated strains and 165 rkNA gene sequencing	21
2.2.5 Examination of individual isolates for cross-metal tolerance and tolerance to alkalinity	21
2.2.6 Examination of metal removal efficiency by isolates	23
2.2.7 TEM dialysis of select isolales	24 2 <i>4</i>
2.2.8 Identification of mineral precipitates	24 25
2.3 RESULIS	25 25
2.3.1 Aqueous geochemistry and trace metal concentrations	25
2.3.2 Cultivation of metal-resistant organisms from environmental samples	25
2.3.4 Examination of isolates for cross-metal tolerance	20 22
2.3.5 MI_15 and associated Ni-mineral identification	
2.3.5 ML-15 und associated M-mineral Identification	
2.3.5 The duction of a secondary metabolite by isolates	
2.3.8 TEM analysis of isolate BI-3	43 47
2 3 9 Tolerance of isolates to alkalinity	
2 4 Discussion	40
2.4 1 Environmental fluid chemistry and metal-tolerance	49
2.4.2 Metal removal capacity – ICP and TEM analyses	
2.4.3 Bacillus sp. and interactions with metals	
2.4.4 Microbacterium sp. and Ni-biomineralization	
2.4.5 Streptomyces misjonensis and secondary metabolite production	
2.4.6 Tolerance to alkalinity	
2.5 CONCLUSION	57
III. MULTI-METAL RESISTANT BACTERIA ISOLATED FROM HYDROTHERMAL SPRINGS, YELLOWSTONE	IATIONAL
PARK, WY	59
3.1 INTRODUCTION	59
3.2 Materials and methods	60
3.2.1 Study sites	60
3.3 RESULTS	60

TABLE OF CONTENTS

3.3.2 Cultivation of metal-tolerant bacteria from environmental samples	61
3.3.3 Isolate Taxonomy	63
3.3.4 Examination of isolates for cross metal tolerance	63
3.3.5 Morphological variation in the presence of metals	66
3.3.6 Metal removal capacity of isolate IF-3	68
3.4 DISCUSSION	69
3.5 CONCLUSION	72
IV, CELLULOLYTIC BACTERIAL COMMUNITIES FROM AN ALKALINE SERDENTINIZING SPRING IN THE	
ZAMBALES OPHIOLITE. THE PHILIPPINES	73
	70
4.1 INTRODUCTION	
4.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS.	
4.2.1 Enrichment of cellulolytic bacteria in alkaline conditions	
4.2.2 Community analysis of environmental samples and enrichment cultures	
4.2.3 Isolation and identification of cellulolytic bacteria from environmental samples	/6/
4.2.4 Screening of isolates for cellulose degradation in dikaline conditions	//
4.3 RESULIS	// דד
4.3.1 Community analysis of serpentinizing environments	
4.3.2 Community analysis of alkaline cellulolytic enrichment cultures	۸/۸۷ ده
4.3.3 Isolation and identification of celluloiytic bacteria from environmental samples	83 05
4.3.4 Screening of isolates for cellulose degradation in dikaline conditions	85
4.4 DISCUSSION	86
4.4.1 Microbial taxa in alkaline cellulolytic enrichment cultures	86
4.4.2 Cellulolytic bacterial isolates and alkaline cellulolysis	88 00
V. CELLULOLYTIC BACTERIAL COMMUNITIES FROM ACIDIC HYDROTHERMAL SPRINGS.	
,	
YELLOWSTONE NATIONAL PARK, WY	90
YELLOWSTONE NATIONAL PARK, WY 5.1 INTRODUCTION	90 90
YELLOWSTONE NATIONAL PARK, WY 5.1 INTRODUCTION 5.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS	90 90
YELLOWSTONE NATIONAL PARK, WY 5.1 INTRODUCTION 5.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS 5.2.1 Enrichment of cellulolytic bacteria in acidic conditions	90 90 90 90
YELLOWSTONE NATIONAL PARK, WY 5.1 INTRODUCTION 5.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS 5.2.1 Enrichment of cellulolytic bacteria in acidic conditions 5.2.2 Community analysis of environmental samples and enrichment cultures	90
YELLOWSTONE NATIONAL PARK, WY 5.1 INTRODUCTION 5.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS 5.2.1 Enrichment of cellulolytic bacteria in acidic conditions 5.2.2 Community analysis of environmental samples and enrichment cultures 5.2.3 Quantification of cellulolytic potential in hydrothermal samples	
YELLOWSTONE NATIONAL PARK, WY 5.1 INTRODUCTION 5.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS 5.2.1 Enrichment of cellulolytic bacteria in acidic conditions 5.2.2 Community analysis of environmental samples and enrichment cultures 5.2.3 Quantification of cellulolytic potential in hydrothermal samples 5.2.4 Obsidian Pool cellulolytic culture analysis	
YELLOWSTONE NATIONAL PARK, WY 5.1 INTRODUCTION	
YELLOWSTONE NATIONAL PARK, WY 5.1 INTRODUCTION 5.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS 5.2.1 Enrichment of cellulolytic bacteria in acidic conditions 5.2.2 Community analysis of environmental samples and enrichment cultures 5.2.3 Quantification of cellulolytic potential in hydrothermal samples 5.2.4 Obsidian Pool cellulolytic culture analysis 5.3 RESULTS 5.3.1 Community analysis of hydrothermal field sites	
YELLOWSTONE NATIONAL PARK, WY 5.1 INTRODUCTION 5.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS 5.2.1 Enrichment of cellulolytic bacteria in acidic conditions 5.2.2 Community analysis of environmental samples and enrichment cultures 5.2.3 Quantification of cellulolytic potential in hydrothermal samples 5.2.4 Obsidian Pool cellulolytic culture analysis 5.3 RESULTS 5.3.1 Community analysis of hydrothermal field sites 5.3.2 Community analysis of acidic cellulolytic enrichment cultures	
 YELLOWSTONE NATIONAL PARK, WY 5.1 INTRODUCTION 5.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS 5.2.1 Enrichment of cellulolytic bacteria in acidic conditions 5.2.2 Community analysis of environmental samples and enrichment cultures 5.2.3 Quantification of cellulolytic potential in hydrothermal samples 5.2.4 Obsidian Pool cellulolytic culture analysis 5.3 RESULTS 5.3.1 Community analysis of hydrothermal field sites 5.3.2 Community analysis of acidic cellulolytic enrichment cultures 5.3.3 Quantification of cellulolytic potential in hydrothermal samples 	
 YELLOWSTONE NATIONAL PARK, WY 5.1 INTRODUCTION. 5.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS. 5.2.1 Enrichment of cellulolytic bacteria in acidic conditions	90
YELLOWSTONE NATIONAL PARK, WY 5.1 INTRODUCTION 5.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS 5.2.1 Enrichment of cellulolytic bacteria in acidic conditions 5.2.2 Community analysis of environmental samples and enrichment cultures 5.2.3 Quantification of cellulolytic potential in hydrothermal samples 5.2.4 Obsidian Pool cellulolytic culture analysis 5.3 RESULTS 5.3.1 Community analysis of hydrothermal field sites 5.3.2 Community analysis of acidic cellulolytic enrichment cultures 5.3.3 Quantification of cellulolytic potential in hydrothermal samples 5.3.4 Obsidian Pool paper filter-degrading culture analysis 5.4 Discussion	90 90 90 90 90 91 91 92 92 92 92 92 94 96 96 97
 YELLOWSTONE NATIONAL PARK, WY 5.1 INTRODUCTION 5.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS 5.2.1 Enrichment of cellulolytic bacteria in acidic conditions 5.2.2 Community analysis of environmental samples and enrichment cultures 5.2.3 Quantification of cellulolytic potential in hydrothermal samples 5.2.4 Obsidian Pool cellulolytic culture analysis 5.3 RESULTS 5.3.1 Community analysis of hydrothermal field sites 5.3.2 Community analysis of acidic cellulolytic enrichment cultures 5.3.3 Quantification of cellulolytic potential in hydrothermal samples 5.3.4 Obsidian Pool paper filter-degrading culture analysis 5.4.1 Microbial taxa in acidic cellulolytic enrichment cultures 	90
 YELLOWSTONE NATIONAL PARK, WY 5.1 INTRODUCTION. 5.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS. 5.2.1 Enrichment of cellulolytic bacteria in acidic conditions	
YELLOWSTONE NATIONAL PARK, WY 5.1 INTRODUCTION. 5.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS. 5.2.1 Enrichment of cellulolytic bacteria in acidic conditions 5.2.2 Community analysis of environmental samples and enrichment cultures. 5.2.3 Quantification of cellulolytic potential in hydrothermal samples. 5.2.4 Obsidian Pool cellulolytic culture analysis 5.3 RESULTS. 5.3.1 Community analysis of hydrothermal field sites. 5.3.2 Community analysis of acidic cellulolytic enrichment cultures. 5.3.3 Quantification of cellulolytic potential in hydrothermal samples. 5.3.4 Obsidian Pool paper filter-degrading culture analysis. 5.4 Discussion 5.4.1 Microbial taxa in acidic cellulolytic enrichment cultures 5.4.2 Obsidian Pool paper filter-degrading community. 5.5 CONCLUSION.	90 90 90 90 91 91 92 92 92 92 92 94 96 96 97 97 97 99 99
YELLOWSTONE NATIONAL PARK, WY 5.1 INTRODUCTION 5.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS 5.2.1 Enrichment of cellulolytic bacteria in acidic conditions 5.2.2 Community analysis of environmental samples and enrichment cultures 5.2.3 Quantification of cellulolytic potential in hydrothermal samples 5.2.4 Obsidian Pool cellulolytic culture analysis 5.3 RESULTS 5.3.1 Community analysis of hydrothermal field sites 5.3.2 Community analysis of acidic cellulolytic enrichment cultures 5.3.3 Quantification of cellulolytic potential in hydrothermal samples 5.3.4 Obsidian Pool paper filter-degrading culture analysis 5.4 Discussion 5.4.1 Microbial taxa in acidic cellulolytic enrichment cultures 5.4.2 Obsidian Pool paper filter-degrading community 5.5 CONCLUSION	
YELLOWSTONE NATIONAL PARK, WY 5.1 INTRODUCTION 5.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS 5.2.1 Enrichment of cellulolytic bacteria in acidic conditions 5.2.2 Community analysis of environmental samples and enrichment cultures 5.2.3 Quantification of cellulolytic potential in hydrothermal samples 5.2.4 Obsidian Pool cellulolytic culture analysis 5.3 RESULTS 5.3.1 Community analysis of hydrothermal field sites 5.3.2 Community analysis of acidic cellulolytic enrichment cultures 5.3.3 Quantification of cellulolytic potential in hydrothermal samples 5.3.4 Obsidian Pool paper filter-degrading culture analysis 5.4 Discussion 5.4.1 Microbial taxa in acidic cellulolytic enrichment cultures 5.4.2 Obsidian Pool paper filter-degrading community 5.5 Conclusion 5.4.1 Microbial taxa in acidic cellulolytic enrichment cultures 5.4.2 Obsidian Pool paper filter-degrading community 5.5 Conclusion 6.1 Microbes AND METAL TOLERANCE IN SERPENTINIZING AND HYDROTHERMAL SPRINGS	
YELLOWSTONE NATIONAL PARK, WY 5.1 INTRODUCTION 5.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS. 5.2.1 Enrichment of cellulolytic bacteria in acidic conditions 5.2.2 Community analysis of environmental samples and enrichment cultures. 5.2.3 Quantification of cellulolytic potential in hydrothermal samples 5.2.4 Obsidian Pool cellulolytic culture analysis 5.3 RESULTS 5.3.1 Community analysis of hydrothermal field sites 5.3.2 Community analysis of acidic cellulolytic enrichment cultures 5.3.3 Quantification of cellulolytic potential in hydrothermal samples 5.3.4 Obsidian Pool paper filter-degrading culture analysis 5.4 Discussion 5.4.1 Microbial taxa in acidic cellulolytic enrichment cultures 5.4.2 Obsidian Pool paper filter-degrading community 5.5 Conclusion 5.4.1 Microbial taxa in acidic cellulolytic enrichment cultures 5.4.2 Obsidian Pool paper filter-degrading community 5.5 Conclusion 6.1 MicroBES AND METAL TOLERANCE IN SERPENTINIZING AND HYDROTHERMAL SPRINGS 6.2. CELLULOLYTIC COMMUNITIES IN ALKALINE SERPENTINIZING SPRINGS AND ACIDIC HYDROTHERMAL SPRINGS	
YELLOWSTONE NATIONAL PARK, WY 5.1 INTRODUCTION 5.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS 5.2.1 Enrichment of cellulolytic bacteria in acidic conditions 5.2.2 Community analysis of environmental samples and enrichment cultures 5.2.3 Quantification of cellulolytic potential in hydrothermal samples 5.2.4 Obsidian Pool cellulolytic culture analysis 5.3 RESULTS 5.3.1 Community analysis of hydrothermal field sites 5.3.2 Community analysis of acidic cellulolytic enrichment cultures 5.3.3 Quantification of cellulolytic potential in hydrothermal samples 5.3.4 Obsidian Pool paper filter-degrading culture analysis 5.4 Discussion 5.4.1 Microbial taxa in acidic cellulolytic enrichment cultures 5.4.2 Obsidian Pool paper filter-degrading community 5.5 CONCLUSION 6.1 Microbes AND METAL TOLERANCE IN SERPENTINIZING AND HYDROTHERMAL SPRINGS 6.2 CELLULOLYTIC COMMUNITIES IN ALKALINE SERPENTINIZING SPRINGS AND ACIDIC HYDROTHERMAL SPRINGS 6.3 GEOMICROBIOLOGY AND POTENTIAL APPLICATIONS IN BIOTECHNOLOGY	

APPENDIX A. PHASE CONTRAST IMAGES OF BACTERIAL ISOLATES IN THE PRESENCE OF METALS	114
APPENDIX B. FINAL PH OF METAL-AMENDED CULTURES	116
APPENDIX C. SCREENING OF METAL-TOLERANT ISOLATES FOR CELLULASE ACTIVITY	117
APPENDIX D. COMMUNITY ANALYSIS OF ENVIRONMENTAL SAMPLES	118
APPENDIX E. REFERENCE DIAMETER OF ISOLATES GROWN ON LBA	120
VITA	121

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE I. GEOCHEMICAL DATA FOR ML2 AND CC1 FOR 2012 AND 2013. SAMPLING IN 2012 WAS PERFORMED DURING THE DRY SEASON, AND 2013 SAMPLING WAS DURING THE WET SEASON. 'ND' REFERS TO NO DATA AVAILABLE.
TABLE II. GEOCHEMICAL DATA FOR SELECTED HOT SPRINGS IN YELLOWSTONE NATIONAL PARK. 'ND' REFERS TO NO DATA AVAILABLE. DATA PROVIDED BY DR. EVERETT SHOCK, ARIZONA STATE UNIVERSITY
TABLE III. TRACE METAL DATA FOR FIELD SITES SAMPLED IN 2013. 'BDL' INDICATES BELOW DETECTION LIMIT (~10 PPB). 25
TABLE IV. TAXONOMIC IDENTITIES OF ISOLATED BACTERIAL STRAINS AS DETERMINED BY 16S RRNA GENE SEQUENCE AMPLIFIED WITH THE 27F PRIMER; 'ISOLATION MEDIA' REFERS TO THE CONCENTRATION AND CORRESPONDING METAL IN THE LB AGAR FROM WHICH THE ORGANISM WAS ISOLATED.
TABLE V. GROWTH OF ISOLATES IN THE PRESENCE OF INCREASING CONCENTRATIONS OF CR. CONCENTRATIONS ARE IN MG/L. GROWTH SCORE IS RELATIVE TO OBSERVED GROWTH ON LBA WITHOUT METALS. "ND" REFERS TO NOT DETERMINED. THE MIC OF CR FOR MOST ISOLATES IS GREATER THAN 600 MG/L.
TABLE VI. GROWTH OF ISOLATES IN THE PRESENCE OF INCREASING CONCENTRATIONS OF CU. CONCENTRATIONS ARE IN MG/L. GROWTHSCORE IS RELATIVE TO OBSERVED GROWTH ON LBA WITHOUT METALS. THE MIC OF CU FOR MOST ISOLATES IS 600 MG/L.35
TABLE VII. GROWTH OF ISOLATES IN THE PRESENCE OF INCREASING CONCENTRATIONS OF CO. CONCENTRATIONS ARE IN MG/L. GROWTHSCORE IS RELATIVE TO OBSERVED GROWTH ON LBA WITHOUT METALS. THE MIC FOR MOST STRAINS IS 600 MG/L
TABLE VIII. GROWTH OF ISOLATES IN THE PRESENCE OF INCREASING CONCENTRATIONS OF NI. CONCENTRATIONS ARE IN MG/L. GROWTH SCORE IS RELATIVE TO OBSERVED GROWTH ON LBA WITHOUT METALS. "ND" REFERS TO NOT DETERMINED. THE MIC OF NI FOR MOST ISOLATES IS 600 MG/L.
TABLE IX. GROWTH OF ISOLATES IN THE PRESENCE OF INCREASING CONCENTRATIONS OF ZN. CONCENTRATIONS ARE IN MG/L. GROWTHSCORE IS RELATIVE TO OBSERVED GROWTH ON LBA WITHOUT METALS. THE MIC FOR MOST ISOLATES IS 400 MG/L.39
TABLE X. METAL REMOVAL CAPACITY OF EACH ISOLATE IS REPRESENTED AS A PERCENTAGE OF TOTAL METAL CONCENTRATION; MOSTISOLATES GROWING IN CR AND NI MEDIA SHOWED MINIMAL METAL REMOVAL, WHILE MORE SIGNIFICANT CHANGES CAN BE SEENWITH BL-3 AND ML-15 GROWN IN CU MEDIA. ASTERISK INDICATES A POTENTIAL INSTRUMENTAL ERROR.46
TABLE XI. GROWTH OF ISOLATES AT VARYING PH; CONTROL MEDIA WAS ADJUSTED TO PH 7; MOST ISOLATES SHOW GROWTH UP TO PH 12, INCLUDING THOSE OBTAINED FROM AN ACIDIC SITE, INDICATED WITH ASTERISKS.
TABLE XII. TRACE METAL DATA FROM FIGURE 8 AND "HELL'S GATE," A PROXY FOR IRON FIST OUTFLOW FOR 2009-2011. DATA PROVIDED BY DR. EVERETT SHOCK, ARIZONA STATE UNIVERSITY
TABLE XIII. ISOLATE IDENTITIES DETERMINED BY 16S SEQUENCE. 'ISOLATION MEDIA' INDICATES THE CONCENTRATION OF METAL AND METAL TYPE IN THE MEDIA FROM WHICH THE STRAIN WAS ISOLATED.
TABLE XIV. GROWTH OF ISOLATES IN THE PRESENCE OF INCREASING CONCENTRATIONS OF CR. CONCENTRATIONS ARE IN MG/L. GROWTH SCORE IS RELATIVE TO OBSERVED GROWTH ON LBA WITHOUT METALS. 64
TABLE XV. GROWTH OF ISOLATES IN THE PRESENCE OF INCREASING CONCENTRATIONS OF CU. CONCENTRATIONS ARE IN MG/L. GROWTH SCORE IS RELATIVE TO OBSERVED GROWTH ON LBA WITHOUT METALS. 64
TABLE XVI. GROWTH OF ISOLATES IN THE PRESENCE OF INCREASING CONCENTRATIONS OF CO. CONCENTRATIONS ARE IN MG/L. GROWTH SCORE IS RELATIVE TO OBSERVED GROWTH ON LBA WITHOUT METALS. 65
TABLE XVII. GROWTH OF ISOLATES IN THE PRESENCE OF INCREASING CONCENTRATIONS OF NI. CONCENTRATIONS ARE IN MG/L. GROWTH SCORE IS RELATIVE TO OBSERVED GROWTH ON LBA WITHOUT METALS. 65
TABLE XVIII. GROWTH OF ISOLATES IN THE PRESENCE OF INCREASING CONCENTRATIONS OF ZN. CONCENTRATIONS ARE IN MG/L. GROWTH SCORE IS RELATIVE TO OBSERVED GROWTH ON LBA WITHOUT METALS. 65

TABLE XIX. TOTAL NUMBER OF SEQUENCES OBTAINED FROM 16S RRNA GENE SEQUENCING BEFORE AND AFTER QUALITY TRIMMING.	
INFORMATION IS SHOWN FOR ENVIRONMENTAL SAMPLES (ENV) AND CELLULOLYTIC ENRICHMENT CULTURES.	.79
TABLE XX. CELLULOLYTIC BACTERIA ISOLATED FROM SERPENTINIZING ENVIRONMENTS AND THEIR CLOSEST TAXONOMIC RELATIVE AS DETERMINED BY 16S RRNA SEQUENCES.	84
TABLE XXI. TOTAL NUMBER OF SEQUENCES OBTAINED FROM 16S RRNA GENE SEQUENCING BEFORE AND AFTER QUALITY TRIMMING.	
INFORMATION IS SHOWN FOR ENVIRONMENTAL SAMPLES AND CELLULOLYTIC ENRICHMENT CULTURES.	93

LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE 1. DISSOLVED GAS CONCENTRATIONS (MM) AT ML2 FOR 2012 AND 2013. MEASUREMENTS WERE MADE VIA GAS-STRIPPING OF AQUEOUS SAMPLES.
Figure 2. Manleluag 2 (ML2) source pool with fluid outflow towards the top of the photo (4x6 inch field book for scale)
FIGURE 3. CAUSTIC CASCADE 1 (CC1), APPROXIMATELY 10 M DOWNSTREAM FROM ML2. FLUID CAN BE SEEN FLOWING OVER ORANGE/KHAKI COLORED CARBONATE TERRACES COVERED BY ORGANIC DEBRIS FROM SURROUNDING VEGETATION
Figure 4. Sulfate and chloride concentrations (in PPM) for select years from four of the five sampling locations (data are not available for site "Wood Chip Beach.")
FIGURE 5. IMAGES COMPARING BACTERIAL GROWTH ON CONTROL LBA MEDIA (LEFT) AND IN THE PRESENCE OF METALS (RIGHT). A) ORGANISMS ON RIGHT PLATE ARE GROWING IN THE PRESENCE OF 50 MG/L CR AND ARE IDENTICAL IN SIZE AND THICKNESS AS THE CONTROL ON THE LEFT, EARNING A SCORE OF ++++. B) ORGANISMS ON THE RIGHT GROWING ON LBA + 100 MG/L CR ARE ROUGHLY HALF THE SIZE RELATIVE TO THE CONTROL AND WOULD BE SCORED ++
FIGURE 6. ENVIRONMENTAL SAMPLE FROM ML2 PLATED ON 1) LBA CONTROL, NO METAL 2) LBA + 50 MG/L CR 3) LBA + 50 MG/L CU; LESS GROWTH IS OBSERVED AT 50 MG/L CU THAN 50 MG/L CR; BOTH METAL AMENDED PLATES SHOW REDUCED GROWTH RELATIVE TO THE CONTROL PLATE
Figure 7. Neighbor-joining tree of <i>Pseudomonas</i> isolates demonstrating their phylogenetic position among closely related taxa. Isolates obtained in this study are denoted with red diamonds. Species names are followed by the strain number and accession in parentheses. The percentage of replicate trees in which the associated taxa clustered together in the bootstrap test (1000 replicates) are shown next to the branches. Bar, 0.01 substitutions per site
Figure 8. Neighbor-joining tree of <i>Microbacterium</i> isolates and their phylogenetic position among closely related taxa. Isolates obtained in this study are denoted with red diamonds. Species names are followed by the strain number and accession in parentheses. The percentage of replicate trees in which the associated taxa clustered together in the bootstrap test (1000 replicates) are shown next to the branches. Bar, 0.005 substitutions per site
Figure 9. Neighbor-joining tree of <i>Rhodococcus</i> isolates demonstrating their phylogenetic position among closely related taxa. Isolates obtained in this study are denoted with red diamonds. Species names are followed by the strain number and accession in parentheses. The percentage of replicate trees in which the associated taxa clustered together in the bootstrap test (1000 replicates) are shown next to the branches. Bar, 0.01 substitutions per site
Figure 10. Neighbor-joining tree of isolate CC-8 demonstrating its phylogenetic position among closely related members of the genus <i>Streptomyces</i> . The strain isolated from this study is indicated with a red diamond. Species names are followed by the strain number and accession in parentheses. The percentage of replicate trees in which the associated taxa clustered together in the bootstrap test (1000 replicates) are shown next to the branches. Bar, 0.01 substitutions per site
FIGURE 11. NEIGHBOR-JOINING TREE OF <i>BACILLUS</i> ISOLATES AND THEIR PHYLOGENETIC RELATIONSHIP WITH CLOSELY RELATED TAXA; MOST OF THE ISOLATES CLUSTER WITHIN THE <i>B. CEREUS</i> GROUP IN THE TOP-MOST PORTION OF THE TREE. ISOLATES OBTAINED IN THIS STUDY ARE DENOTED WITH RED DIAMONDS. THE PERCENTAGE OF REPLICATE TREES IN WHICH THE ASSOCIATED TAXA CLUSTERED TOGETHER IN THE BOOTSTRAP TEST (1000 REPLICATES) ARE SHOWN NEXT TO THE BRANCHES. BAR, 0.02 SUBSTITUTIONS PER SITE.
FIGURE 12. BACTERIA EXHIBITING DARK BROWN COLORATION ON MEDIA CONTAINING 400 MG/L CU. THE ORGANISM IN THE LEFT IMAGE IS ISOLATE CC-3, AND THE ORGANISM IN THE RIGHT IMAGE IS ISOLATE ML-6.

FIGURE 13. GREEN CRYSTALS (~1-2 MM) OBSERVED IN ASSOCIATION WITH BACTERIAL GROWTH OF STRAIN ML-15, <i>MICROBACTERIUM</i> SP. 40
FIGURE 14. PHASE CONTRAST IMAGE AT 100X MAGNIFICATION OF CRUSHED GREEN CRYSTALS FROM ML-15 CULTURE. MINERAL GRAINS INDICATE CRYSTALLINITY
FIGURE 15. RED ARROWS INDICATE A SINGLE CRYSTAL PRODUCED BY ML-15 VIEWED UNDER A POLARIZING LENS; TOP IMAGE SHOWS PLANE POLARIZED LIGHT PASSING THROUGH CRYSTAL STRUCTURE, WHILE THE BOTTOM IMAGE SHOWS EXTINCTION WITH STAGE ROTATION
FIGURE 16. POWDER DIFFRACTION PATTERN PRODUCED BY X-RAY ANALYSIS OF GREEN CRYSTALS ASSOCIATED WITH ML-15 GROWTH ON 600 mg/L NI media. The name of the mineral with the closest matching pattern is displayed in the upper right corner
FIGURE 17. COMPARISONS OF CC-8 GROWING ON CONTROL AND NI-SUPPLEMENTED MEDIA; DARK COLORATION SURROUNDING BACTERIAL GROWTH ONLY OCCURS IN THE PRESENCE OF METAL AND INCREASES WITH METAL CONCENTRATION A) LBA CONTROL (LEFT PLATE) VS. 200 MG/L NI (RIGHT PLATE); B) 200 MG/L NI; C) 400 MG/L NI
FIGURE 18. DARK BROWN COLORATION SURROUNDING COLONIES OF ISOLATE CC-8 ON LBA + 200 MG/L CU45
FIGURE 19. LEFT - ELECTRON MICROGRAPH OF CELLS OF STRAIN BL-3, BACILLUS SP., GROWN IN THE PRESENCE OF 200 PPM CU; WHITE AREAS SEEN IN THE CELL MEMBRANES INDICATE ELECTRON-DENSE REGIONS. RIGHT – CU SIGNALS AS DETERMINED BY ENERGY DISPERSIVE SPECTROSCOPY (EDS), SHOWING HIGHER CONCENTRATION OF CU SIGNALS ALONG THE PERIMETER OF AND WITHIN CELLS
Figure 20. Eh/pH diagram of Cu speciation at 200 mg/L Cu, the concentration in culture media. As the solution becomes more reduced, cuprite is the first mineral phase, followed by copper in more reducing conditions. (The Geochemist's Workbench, Ed. 11.0)
FIGURE 21. COMPARISON OF BACTERIAL GROWTH FROM IRON FIST OUTFLOW ON LBA CONTROL (LEFT) VS. LBA + 25 MG/L CU (RIGHT).
FIGURE 22. COMPARISON OF BACTERIAL GROWTH FROM IRON FIST OUTFLOW IN THE PRESENCE OF INCREASING CONCENTRATIONS OF CO. PLATES FROM LEFT TO RIGHT: LBA + 25 MG/L CO; LBA + 50 MG/L CO; LBA + 100 MG/L CO62
FIGURE 23. GROWTH OF FOUR <i>B. WIEDMANNII</i> STRAINS ON LBA CONTROL (LEFT PLATE IN A, B, AND C) VS INCREASING CONCENTRATION OF CU (RIGHT PLATE IN A, B, AND C). THE ORANGE-BROWN PIGMENTATION DARKENED WITH INCREASING CU CONCENTRATION66
Figure 24. Growth of five <i>B. wiedmannii</i> strains (numbered 20-24 in the top half of the Petri plate) on various media A) LBA control; B) 100 mg/L Ni; C) 200 mg/L Ni; D) 400 mg/L Ni. Green pigmentation was observed only on media with 200 mg/L Ni
FIGURE 25. GREEN PIGMENTATION EXHIBITED BY TWO B. WIEDMANNII ISOLATES GROWING IN THE PRESENCE OF 200 MG/L NI67
FIGURE 26. PHASE CONTRAST IMAGES OF MICROBIAL BIOMASS FROM IF-5, A <i>B. WIEDMANNII</i> ISOLATE, GROWN ON LBA (LEFT) VS IN THE PRESENCE OF 200 MG/L NI (RIGHT). CELLS GROWN ON NI-SUPPLEMENTED MEDIA ARE ASSOCIATED WITH NUMEROUS REFRACTIVE PARTICLES NOT OBSERVED WITH CELLS GROWN ON LBA
FIGURE 27. RELATIVE ABUNDANCES OF VARIOUS PHYLA IN ENVIRONMENTAL SAMPLES. "ML2" REFERS TO MANLELUAG SERPENTINIZING SPRING (SOURCE). "CC1" REFERS TO A SITE 10 M DOWN THE OUTFLOW CHANNEL OF ML2
Figure 28. Order level comparison of microbial communities in cellulolytic enrichment cultures from ML2 and CC1. Colored bars represent relative abundances (%) of various taxa. Samples are grouped by site and then by aerobic or anaerobic conditions. Site names and pH are denoted to the left of the bars. Aerobic vs. anaerobic conditions are denoted to the right of the bars

FIGURE 29. FAMILY LEVEL COMPARISON OF MICROBIAL COMMUNITIES IN CELLULOLYTIC ENRICHMENT CULTURES FROM ML2 AND CC1.
Colored bars represent relative abundances (%) of various taxa. Samples are grouped by site and then by aerobic o
ANAEROBIC CONDITIONS. THE SAMPLING SITE AND PH ARE DENOTED TO THE LEFT OF THE BARS. AEROBIC VS ANAEROBIC CONDITION
ARE DENOTED TO THE RIGHT OF THE BARS

FIGURE 30. GENUS LEVEL COMPARISON OF MICROBIAL COMMUNITIES IN CELLULOLYTIC ENRICHMENT CULTURES FROM ML2 AND CC1. COLORED BARS REPRESENT RELATIVE ABUNDANCES (%) OF VARIOUS TAXA. SAMPLES ARE GROUPED BY SITE AND THEN BY AEROBIC OR ANAEROBIC CONDITIONS. THE SAMPLING SITE AND PH ARE DENOTED TO THE LEFT OF THE BARS. AEROBIC VS ANAEROBIC CONDITIONS ARE DENOTED TO THE RIGHT OF THE BARS.

FIGURE 31. CMC-AGAR PLATES INOCULATED WITH ML2 BEFORE (LEFT) AND AFTER (RIGHT) STAINING WITH 0.2% CONGO RED SOLUTION	
LIGHTER ZONES OF CLEARING ON THE STAINED PLATES INDICATE ZONES OF HYDROLYSIS SURROUNDING CELLULOLYTIC COLONIES	33

FIGURE 32. PHYLOGENETIC DENDROGRAM OF ISOLATES OBTAINED IN THIS STUDY (DENOTED WITH RED DIAMONDS) AND THEIR POSITION
WITHIN THE RADIATION OF MEMBERS OF THE GENUS <i>MICROMONOSPORA</i> AND CLOSELY RELATED TAXA. THE PERCENTAGE OF
REPLICATE TREES IN WHICH THE ASSOCIATED TAXA CLUSTERED TOGETHER IN THE BOOTSTRAP TEST $(1000$ REPLICATES) ARE SHOWN
NEXT TO THE BRANCHES. BAR, 0.01 NT SUBSTITUTIONS PER SITE

FIGURE 33. ZONES OF HYDROLYSIS SURROUNDING BACTERIAL GROWTH ON PH 9 CMC-AGAR STAINED WITH CONGO RED; CLEA	RINGS
INDICATE CELLULASE ACTIVITY ONLY BY STRAINS ML2-E AND ML2-G.	85

FIGURE 34. RELATIVE ABUNDANCES OF VARIOUS PHYLA IN THREE HYDROTHERMAL SPRINGS IN YELLOWSTONE NATIONA	L PARK (YNP). SITE
NAMES ARE LISTED ON THE LEFT; SAMPLE INVENTORY NUMBER IS SHOWN IN PARENTHESES.	93

FIGURE 35. RELATIVE ABUNDANCES OF VARIOUS PHYLA IN CELLULOLYTIC ENRICHMENTS OF ENVIRONMENTAL SAMPLES FROM THREE H	IOT
SPRINGS IN YELLOWSTONE NATIONAL PARK (YNP). SITE DESIGNATIONS AND PH ARE DENOTED ON THE LEFT: WCB = "WOOD	Снір
BEACH"; OP = "Obsidian Pool"; LJ = "Log Jam"	95

SUMMARY

The purpose of this study was to culture bacteria from two distinct extreme ecosystems, and to assess their physiological and biochemical characteristics as they pertain to biotechnology. Specifically, the focus was on applications in bioremediation/biometallurgy and degradation of cellulose. Two dissimilar field sites chosen for this study included alkaline serpentinizing environments in the Philippines and acidic hydrothermal environments in Yellowstone National Park. The unifying theme of both sites is that fluids undergo extensive interactions with the subsurface, resulting in unique respective geochemistry and microbial communities.

The first investigation involves microbe-metal interactions, with a focus on isolating and identifying highly metal-tolerant bacteria, and determining the maximum extent of their metal tolerance. Implications of studying these bacteria and their associated mechanisms range from applications in bioremediation to extracting metal from ores, a process known as biomining. Tolerance to five metals, Cr, Cu, Ni, Co, and Zn, was determined for 20 isolated strains. Findings indicate that most metal-tolerant isolates from both environments are *Bacillus* species. Furthermore, many organisms from both types of environment can tolerate extremely high concentrations (>200 mg/L) of toxic heavy metals. In addition, several were observed to transform or otherwise remove metals from solution. Most of the isolates appear to use efflux pumps to regulate internal metal concentrations, while some are capable of intracellular accumulation of at least one metal.

The second investigation focuses on the ability of microorganisms from these same environments to degrade cellulose, the most abundant organic compound on Earth. Cellulose degradation at extreme pH and temperatures has implications in the conversion of this abundant renewable resource to biofuels and other useful chemicals like acetic acid and glucose. Results demonstrate that in both alkaline and acidic conditions, most cellulolytic organisms belong to the phylum *Firmicutes*, specifically the families *Clostridiaceae* and *Bacillaceae*. The results may support targeted culturing efforts for cellulolytic bacteria that are active at a specific pH range. Additionally, a cellulolytic consortium of *Thermoanaerobacterium* and *Caldicellulosiruptor* was observed to efficiently degrade paper substrate at low pH (~4.0).

xi

I. Introduction

1.1 Microbiology of the subsurface and implications in biotechnology

The study of life in the deep subsurface has far-reaching implications ranging from elucidating the origin of life on Earth to assessing the mechanisms by which life may exist elsewhere in the universe. Despite the profundity of these implications, the concept of life existing in the deep subsurface has only gained traction in recent decades. For much of scientific history, the subsurface was believed to be a hostile environment exhibiting geochemical and physical extremes rendering it completely inhospitable to life. In the 1930s, subsurface microbiology emerged in the field of petroleum geology when sulfatereducing bacteria were isolated from water flowing from an oil well (Bastin 1926); however, sampling and analytical techniques at the time, as well as misinformed assumptions about distribution of life on Earth, cast doubt on the validity of the findings. It was not until the end of the 20th century that technological advancements allowed for convincing, accurate analysis and interpretation of subsurface ecosystems. Since then, numerous studies have demonstrated that microbial life can exist in the deep underground (Fredrickson et al. 1991; Fredrickson and Onstott 1996; Whitman et al. 1998; Colwell and D'Hondt 2013), and that it exists in great quantities despite the harsh, inhospitable conditions. Studies of microbial biomass in subseafloor sediments estimate that there are 2.9 x 10²⁹ total cells, corresponding to 0.6% of Earth's total biomass (Kallmeyer et al. 2012). Organisms adapted to living in subsurface habitats are capable of coping with extremes in temperature, pressure, nutrient availability, pH, metal toxicity, salinity, and radiation (Pikuta et al. 2007). The mechanisms by which bacteria overcome such extremes are not only complex and varied, but often unique when compared with eukaryotes. Studying these microorganisms and their unique functions presents enormous potential for applications in biotechnology. Bacteria and archaea possess billions of years of adaptations to virtually every type of environment on the planet, making them some of Earth's most specialized inhabitants. The enzymes and

associated mechanisms that subsurface microbes have developed to tolerate and alter their surroundings may be exploited for human interests. Subsurface ecosystems therefore present largely untapped potential for discovering novel solutions to some of the most critical environmental and economic issues such as energy production, waste management, pollution remediation, and manufacturing of valuable resources. To find sustainable, low-cost solutions to these issues, it is necessary to learn from Earth's most ancient creatures that have been undertaking such endeavors for far longer than humans.

Subsurface habitats can be broadly divided into endolithic and aqueous varieties, though the two may coincide in the case of groundwater ecosystems (Amy et al. 1992; Hahn 2009). The present study will focus on aqueous subsurface habitats, specifically terrestrial springs. Terrestrial springs allow for easy sampling of subsurface microorganisms, similar to the way in which mines and drill cores serve as simple, low-cost sampling methods of endolithic subsurface habitats. Fluids in terrestrial springs may often be altered by geochemical interactions with the local bedrock, and in some cases, may be heated by a geothermal source. These changes in geochemistry affect the microbial communities inhabiting these fluids, resulting in diverse consortia that are highly adapted to the unique conditions of the subsurface.

1.2 Terrestrial hydrothermal springs

Hydrothermal environments can broadly be divided into terrestrial and marine systems. While both types may share a unifying theme in a mantle-driven heat source, other geochemical parameters exhibit significant variation. Among these, the fluid source is likely the critical differentiator, as terrestrial hydrothermal environments receive primarily meteoric input, while marine systems involve recirculating seawater. For the purposes of this study, the focus will be on terrestrial hydrothermal springs as a proxy for subsurface fluids. Yellowstone National Park, WY, USA exhibits a unique diversity of terrestrial hydrothermal systems that have been extensively studied since the late 1800s. Thermal springs in Yellowstone can generally be categorized into two main classes: vapor-dominated systems characterized by acidity and high concentrations of sulfur, and hot water dominated systems characterized by alkalinity, carbonates, and chlorides (Fournier 1989).

Gases emanating from vapor-dominated systems are sourced from underlying magmatic material as shallow as 5 – 10 km from the surface, and typically consist of H₂S, CO₂, and/or NH₃ (Fournier 1989). Upon reaching the surface, these gases may be expressed as fumaroles, boiling pools of sulfuric acid, and mud pots, all of which harbor specialized communities of microorganisms. Bacteria and archaea in such environments not only tolerate the harsh conditions, but actively participate in altering the geochemistry through metabolic processes, especially via oxidation of available reduced gases like H₂S. Oxidation of sulfides results in the production of sulfuric acid, attributing to the extreme acidity in these features. The Greater Obsidian Pool Area in Yellowstone is an example of a primarily vapor-dominated, acid-sulfate system. Previous studies based in this area have described a diverse group of microorganisms including *Aquificales, Thermodesulfobacteriales, Thermocrinis,* and *Crenarchaea* (Meyer-Dombard et al. 2005; Spear et al. 2005).

Hot water-dominated systems involve a greater degree of water-rock interactions and are typically neutral to slightly alkaline in pH, but can also exhibit acid-sulfate pools like those seen in vapordominated systems. The more well-known features of Yellowstone such as its many geysers and multicolored springs are characterized as hot water-dominated systems. These waters may be elevated in trace metals derived from water-rock interactions, and are rich in chlorides and SiO₂ that may be deposited as siliceous sinter. In Mammoth Hot Springs and Calcite Springs in the northern area of the park, fluid interactions with underlying limestone and dolostone leach calcium which is then deposited as large travertine terraces at the surface. In many instances, water-dominated systems may interact with gasdominated systems and result in springs with geochemical characteristics of both systems.

1.3 Serpentinization and Serpentinizing Environments

Serpentinizing systems are currently under scientific scrutiny for their potential in providing insight into origin of life on Earth, exobiology, and global carbon cycling. Serpentinization is a lowtemperature exothermic reaction involving the hydrologic alteration of ultramafic mantle rocks containing olivine and pyroxene to produce serpentine (Eq. 1). Resulting fluids from this reaction are reduced, extremely depleted in dissolved inorganic carbon, and are highly alkaline with typical pH values above 10 (Schrenk et al. 2013; Cardace et al. 2015); major byproducts of the serpentinization reaction include iron oxides, hydrogen, methane (Eq. 2), and small concentrations of organic molecules, all of which are excellent sources of chemosynthetic energy for microorganisms.

Eq. 1
$$(Fe,Mg)_2SiO_4 + H_2O_{(1)} \rightarrow (Fe,Mg)_3Si_2O_5(OH)_4 + (Mg,Fe)(OH)_2 + Fe_3O_4 + H_{2(g)}$$

Eq. 2 $4H_{2(g)} + CO_{2(g)} \rightarrow CH_{4(g)} + 2H_2O$

Studies indicate that serpentinizing ecosystems are not only able to support life, but may have facilitated the genesis of life billions of years ago in Earth's primordial oceans (Sleep et al. 2004; Schulte et al. 2006; Martin et al. 2008; Russell et al. 2010; Schrenk et al. 2013). This process may theoretically occur anywhere that ultramafic material contacts liquid water, even on extraterrestrial bodies. The detection of methane in the Martian atmosphere, as well as serpentine minerals in numerous locations, indicates that serpentinization was actively occurring at some point in Mars' history (Ehlmann et al. 2010), and is likely still active in the subsurface considering the presence of transient liquid water and ultramafic material in the Martian crust. As such, serpentinizing systems are the newest and most promising of the many potential habitats that have been identified in the Martian subsurface (Sleep et al. 2004; Schulte et al. 2006; Martin et al. 2008; Russell et al. 2010; Schrenk et al. 2013). Organisms inhabiting serpentinizing environments are capable of withstanding extreme pH, surviving on very little nutrients, and display a

variety of metabolisms including methanotrophy, methanogenesis, hydrogenotrophy, and iron cycling (Schrenk et al. 2013; Cardace et al. 2015).

Examples of common environments where serpentinization occurs include mid-ocean ridges, subduction zones, and terrestrial ophiolites (Schrenk et al. 2013). While the study of deep sea serpentinization in off-axis environments is useful and necessary, accessing locations and sample collection is extremely difficult and expensive. Terrestrial ophiolites provide a cost-effective way to study these deep subsurface processes at the surface. Ophiolites are sections of oceanic crust and upper mantle that have been emplaced onto land, typically at continental margins, as a result of tectonic processes like subduction, extension, or plume activity (Schrenk et al. 2013). Oftentimes, these terrestrial ophiolites are actively serpentinizing, and can be sampled via fluid seeps at the surface. Thus, ophiolites serve as convenient analogs to study subsurface processes and microbiology. Ophiolite complexes can be found in several locations around the world including the Western US, the Philippines, Oman, Turkey, and Canada.

Serpentinizing seeps on terrestrial ophiolites present a unique transitional habitat for microorganisms in which reduced, nutrient-depleted fluids from the deep subsurface come into contact with the surface environment. Although it is believed that the fluids exiting these springs were initially meteoric in origin (Schrenk et al. 2013), they emerge with an entirely different chemistry reflective of the process of serpentinization. It is a reasonable assumption that microorganisms percolating down through sediments with meteoric fluid have been isolated from the surface for an extended period, and thus have evolved to adapt to subsurface conditions. It is currently unknown how long it takes for meteoric water to cycle through these systems and re-emerge at the surface, but it may be assumed that it varies depending on hydrological characteristics of specific locales. At the surface, microbes in these fluids must cope with a number of geochemical and physical changes that occur along rapid gradients. For example, temperatures associated with serpentinization in the subsurface may reach upwards of 60 °C, while surface temperatures are significantly cooler. Nutrient-poor fluid from the subsurface system is suddenly

overwhelmed with a large surficial input of plants, insects, and other organic matter; furthermore, a major change that could affect metabolism and growth of many organisms is exposure to a comparatively oxygen-rich atmosphere. Recent work by Woycheese et al. (Woycheese et al. 2015) indicates that transposon activity in bacteria increases with distance down the outflow channel of a serpentinizing seep, suggesting that microorganisms undergo rapid genetic changes in response to this transitional environment over the course of a few meters. These genetic changes may potentially be encoding for new metabolisms or other coping mechanisms to survive conditions of the exposed surface. Thus, this transitional environment hosts a plethora of yet undiscovered and poorly understood microbial processes.

1.4 Geomicrobiology and potential applications in biotechnology

Earth's most extreme environments harbor some of the most functionally unique microorganisms. They have adapted over time to not only survive in those environments, but alter and utilize the harsh conditions to their advantage. Many of these microbial adaptations can be exploited for use in various industries and applications. In fact, people have benefited from targeted use of microorganisms for thousands of years, especially in medicine and the food industry. Ancient people discovered the utility of microorganisms and microbial enzymes in fermentation of dairy products, bread, and alcohol. Biologically sourced antibiotics found in various natural products and soils have been used medicinally throughout human history without any knowledge of the underlying mechanism. Eventually, the accidental discovery of Penicillin by Alexander Fleming in 1928 sparked increased interest in the study of environmental microbiology in relation to the production of natural antibiotics; today, the majority of antibiotics used in medicine are produced by a single genus of bacteria known as *Streptomyces* (Watve et al. 2001; de Lima Procópio et al. 2012), a common soil-dwelling organism. Through significant advances in science and technology in the last hundred years, the potential applications of microorganisms have now grown far beyond food and medicine.

A primary advantage to using microorganisms in industrial and environmental applications is that biological waste products are typically far less destructive to the environment than those produced from anthropogenic manufacturing practices. This is not always the case, as evidenced by phenomena like biocorrosion and acid mine drainage in which microbial processes may escalate anthropogenically initiated processes. Generally, however, natural microbial processes may be used to deal with environmental contaminants or production of valuable resources in a manner that is both environmentally friendly and less expensive than alternatives. As such, biotechnology is becoming increasingly necessary to address many current environmental concerns such as pollution, hazardous waste management, and discovering alternatives to fossil fuels.

A currently popular area of research involves the microbially-mediated conversion of lignocellulosic biomass to biofuels and other chemicals. Net primary production of biomass in terrestrial and marine ecosystems is estimated to be approximately 113 Gt/year, and about half of all terrestrial biomass is in the form of cellulose (Schwarz 2001). This means that cellulose is the most abundant organic compound and source of renewable natural energy available on Earth. While cellulose is not easily degraded, numerous microorganisms have developed the ability to metabolize this substrate, producing ethanol and other sugars as byproducts. Biofuel research focuses on discovering new enzymes with better efficiency and new strategies for conversion of cellulose into biofuel.

Another popular field of study is microbial tolerance to and transformation of metals. Studying interactions between microorganisms and metals has a range of applications from bioremediation of contaminated sites to bioleaching of valuable metals from ores. Metals such as Cr, Cu, Ni, Pb, and Hg derived from both natural and anthropogenic sources pose a severe threat to both human health and the environment. Anthropogenic activities such as burning of fossil fuels, mining, smelting, steel manufacturing, and production of municipal wastes are significant sources of environmental metal pollution; alternatively, natural sources of metals in the environment from the weathering of ultramafic

rocks at the surface can cause similar concerns. For example, weathering of serpentine rocks is known to produce laterite soils containing high concentrations of Cr, Ni, and Co (Oze et al. 2004; Pal et al. 2005; Rajkumar et al. 2009). Furthermore, many metals are difficult to remove from soil due to their mobility and general recalcitrance to be transformed to inert forms. Natural mechanisms by which metals are immobilized and transformed to less toxic species are primarily mediated by microorganisms (Haferburg and Kothe 2007). For this reason, remediation efforts have turned to naturally metal-resistant bacterial communities.

A lesser known application of metal-tolerant microorganisms is microbially-mediated metal extraction from ores and mine tailings. While underrated, biomining potentially dates back to before the first century BCE, and compared with conventional mining processes is both economically superior and more environmentally friendly (Rawlings et al. 2003; Johnson 2015). For these reasons, the minerals biotechnology industry is currently exhibiting a strong increase in feasibility and popularity. Many companies have already successfully implemented this technology, using microbial processes to recover large quantities of copper from low-grade deposits that are otherwise too costly to process. The biological processes in question involve "mineral-eating" microbes, or chemolithotrophs, capable of oxidizing iron and sulfur in the ore. Similar to processes active in many hydrothermal springs in Yellowstone, the oxidation of sulfur produces sulfuric acid, acidifying the environment and solubilizing iron which can act as an electron donor. These processes promote dissolution of valuable metals locked in mineral phases, such as Cu, Ni, Zn, Ag, and Au that can be recovered from leachate. The most relevant bacteria in these processes belong to the Acidithiobacillales and Nitrospirales, but at higher temperatures archaeal species typically dominate (Norris et al. 2000). Biomining has proven potential, and with growing environmental concern and stricter regulations, its viability and implementation may continue to increase in the coming years.

1.5 Justification and objectives

The purpose of this study is to cultivate extremophiles from two geochemically distinct subsurface ecosystems and investigate their phylogenetic, physiological, and biochemical characteristics as it pertains to applications in biotechnology. It is anticipated that a comparison of similar investigations of hydrothermal sites in Yellowstone National Park and serpentinizing seeps in the Philippines will result in a unique and comprehensive dataset.

The field sites chosen for this study include two natural, dissimilar environments well-suited to investigate processes associated with microbial cellulose degradation and interactions between microorganisms and metals. The Zambales ophiolite region in the Philippines is a serpentinizing system with associated fluid seeps that exhibit extremely alkaline and low-nutrient conditions; however, there is a transition to high nutrient availability at the surface where there is a large input of organic carbon, including cellulose from the surrounding rainforest. It is expected that investigating microbial cellulose-degradation in this unexplored extreme habitat may result in identification of novel taxa relevant to biofuel research. In addition, weathering of serpentinite rocks associated with this ophiolitic complex may result in leaching of various metals into soils and fluids. Therefore, studying microbial metal tolerance and potential for metal removal is justified in this setting.

In Yellowstone, spring fluids typically range from acidic to neutral, and contain low concentrations of organic carbon. Addition of exogenous carbon is limited to infrequent rainfall events in which surrounding debris is washed into hydrothermal pools. Some of this debris is likely to be nutrients in the form of cellulose derived from vegetation and bison excrement. Studying the ability of hot spring microbial communities to degrade cellulose may elucidate biogeochemical processes in these springs, and may result in discovery of novel cellulolytic consortia capable of functioning in extreme conditions that may prove to be more efficient than current strategies for biofuel production from cellulosic biomass. Furthermore, subsurface water-rock interactions in these springs leach metals in a similar fashion to weathering in serpentine environments, resulting in toxicity, but also a source of chemosynthetic energy. Therefore, hydrothermal ecosystems are appropriate settings to find metal-tolerant organisms that may be capable of sequestering or transforming metals in solution.

1.6 Geologic Setting, Field Site Characterization, and Sample Collection - Philippines

Samples for this study were collected from an alkaline serpentinizing spring in the Zambales Ophiolite complex located in western Luzon, the Philippines. The Philippine archipelago is located amidst a tectonically complex region consisting of a convergent boundary between the Eurasian plate in the west and the Philippine Sea plate in the east, as well as several smaller microplates. The Zambales Ophiolite consists of a typical sequence of mantle peridotite, gabbro, oceanic pillow basalts, and marine sedimentary units (Hawkins and Evans 1983; Evans and Hawkins 1989). The ophiolite itself consists of Eocene Age material believed to have been emplaced between the Oligocene and early Miocene. In previous studies it was concluded that the ophiolite is actively serpentinizing based on gas chemistry and isotopic ratios (Cardace et al. 2015).

The field site is located in Manleluag Spring National Park in Mangatarem, Pangasinan Province (N15°42'16" E120°16'52"). The region exhibits a tropical climate with an average annual temperature of 27.4 °C and average rainfall of 222.3 cm. A field campaign was conducted in September 2013 during the wet season in which samples were collected from an actively serpentinizing fluid seep, designated Manleluag 2 (ML2), for geochemical and microbiological analysis. ML2 is a small, half-meter wide natural spring located in a densely-vegetated area. Fluid from the seep forms an outflow channel that flows tens of meters into the rainforest, depositing travertine terraces downstream. The fluid temperature is about 34°C, and pH at the seep and outflow is recorded as 10.8 (see Table I for additional geochemical data). Compared with other serpentinizing springs in the region, ML2 exhibits slightly lower pH and Ca²⁺ concentration, suggesting that the underlying material might represent a contact between mafic and

ultramafic rocks; gas analysis reveals a nearly equal ratio of H₂:CH₄ (Fig. 1), indicating a more typical serpentinization signal (Cardace et al. 2015). Serpentinizing fluids in this site are still within the range of Type II waters that are characterized by higher Ca²⁺ and OH⁻. It has also been suggested that heavy precipitation significantly influences the input of DOC into this system, causing considerable fluctuations in carbon availability, and distinguishing this site from other terrestrial serpentinizing seeps.

Table I. Geochemical data for ML2 and CC1 for 2012 and 2013. Sampling in 2012 was performed during the dry season, and 2013 sampling was during the wet season. 'nd' refers to no data available.

Site				Cond.	DO	DIC	DOC		Cl	Na⁺	Ca ²⁺
Name	Year	T (°C)	рΗ	(mS/cm)	(%)	(ppm)	(ppm)	ORP	(ppm)	(ppm)	(ppm)
					26.6						
ML2	2012	34.3	10.8	0.337	0	0.4	0.42	-355	18.7	24.4	3.9
CC1	2012	33.8	10.8	nd	0.81	1.53	0.54	-245	nd	nd	nd
ML2	2013	34.4	10.8	0.388	0.90	0.4	0.10	-425	16.9	18.7	6.0



Figure 1. Dissolved gas concentrations (μ M) at ML2 for 2012 and 2013. Measurements were made via gas-stripping of aqueous samples.

Fluid and sediment were collected at the source of ML2 (Fig. 2), as well as points downstream in the outflow channel. Sediment for culturing was collected from the bottom of the source pool with a sterile scoop and transferred to a Whirl-Pak® bag that was immediately stored at 4°C. Fluid emanating from the seep was continuously flowing through the sampled sediment, and the top ~5-10 cm was collected. Sediment consisted of brown silt to sand sized particles. The second sampling location, designated Caustic Cascade 1 (CC1), is located approximately 10 m down the outflow channel from ML2 near the first travertine deposit (Fig. 3). At CC1, the top 3 cm of sediment was collected with a sterile scoop and transferred to a Whirl-Pak® bag for storage at 4°C. Environmental parameters including temperature, pH, conductivity, ORP and DO were measured in the field using a YSI 556 multiprobe meter. All other sampling for geochemical analyses including DIC, DOC, and major cations and anions was performed as described by Cardace et al. (2015).



Figure 2. Manleluag 2 (ML2) source pool with fluid outflow towards the top of the photo (4x6 inch field book for scale).



Figure 3. Caustic Cascade 1 (CC1), approximately 10 m downstream from ML2. Fluid can be seen flowing over orange/khaki colored carbonate terraces covered by organic debris from surrounding vegetation.

Additionally, samples were collected from Barlo Mine in Dasol, Pangasinan Province, Luzon, the Philippines. Barlo is a strip mining operation primarily extracting copper ore from a massive sulfide deposit. Most of the rocks in the area are part of a Cretaceous-Paleogene sequence consisting of basalts, quartz keratophyres, shale, and limestone (Bryner 1969). The ore deposit includes pyrite, chalcopyrite, and sphalerite, and is composed of about 8% Cu and 6% Zn (Bryner 1969). This site exhibited bright orange acid mine runoff from large piles of tailings that drained into a large tailings pond, given the designation "Blue Lagoon". The runoff from which the sample was collected was at a higher elevation near the edge of the tailings pond, and had a wet clay-like consistency with a pH of 4.2. A sterile scoop was used to transfer the upper 2 cm of fine sediment to a WhirlPak bag that was stored at 4°C for culturing analysis, and a second sample was kept frozen for DNA analysis.

1.7 Geologic Setting, Field Site Characterization, and Sample Collection – Yellowstone, WY

Yellowstone National Park has a history that has been shaped by a multitude of geologic processes, the most influential being hotspot volcanism driven by magmatic and partially molten material lying at shallow depths (3-10 km). The Yellowstone caldera is located over a mantle plume that has resulted in three major eruptions since the Cenozoic era (Fournier 1989). Thus, much of the geology is directly influenced by these eruptions and subsequent lava flows that form the underlying bedrock. The area mostly consists of permeable rhyolite through which water circulates and emerges in various springs with a chemical composition partially reflective of elements found in the igneous basement (Fournier 1989). The area was also highly reworked by Pleistocene glaciations; glaciers shaped the geology by eroding much of the surface and leaving large till deposits. The park's numerous geothermal features are dynamic and some are ephemeral, allowing for continuously evolving studies of geology and biogeochemistry.

Sampling was performed at several hydrothermal springs located in various regions of the park. Two sites are located in the Greater Obsidian Pool Area (GOPA); these sites are designated "Obsidian Pool Proper" and "Figure 8 outflow." Many studies have previously characterized springs in this area (Meyer-Dombard et al. 2005; Shock et al. 2005, 2010), which has been described as a gas-dominated system that interacts with the local water table. As such, higher chloride values and very high sulfate values (resulting from sulfide gas interacting with the water) are typical of the area, and the geochemistry in general is highly variable over time (Table II, Fig. 4). Obsidian Pool is an irregularly shaped feature only a few meters wide in most directions (see Shock et al. 2010 for map of the area). Obsidian Pool is situated in a large topographical depression formed as the feature eroded away part of the surrounding meadow. "Figure 8" Pool is much larger and topographically higher than Obsidian Pool, with approximate dimensions of 10 x 30 m (Shock et al. 2010). Both features express vigorous degassing with lengthy runoff channels that flow independently for tens of meters and ultimately drain into "Goose Lake" located down slope. Sediment from Obsidian Pool was collected from the top 0.5 cm of sediment beneath 1-2 cm of pool fluid. Sediment size is several mm in diameter, black/brown in color, and exhibits a somewhat metallic sheen. The "Figure 8 outflow" sample was taken approximately 30 m downstream of the pool's source, in an area where the fluid was ~10 cm deep. Sediment collected from this site is tan/grey with a silty texture.

		Temp		Cond.	Cl	SO ₄ ⁻²	DIC	DOC	DO
Site	Year	(°C)	рН	(μS)	(mg/L)	(mg/L)	(ppm C)	(ppm C)	(mg/L)
Obsidian Pool	2009	79.0	5.18	988	30.71	203.84	nd	5.98	5.8
Obsidian Pool	2010	77.9	4.30	1304	34	256.20	12.1	3	nd
Obsidian Pool	2011	75.9	5.17	1213	26.59	205.96	19.2	5.6	0.57
Log Jam	2007	80.6	7.08	3561	213.1	25.30	nd	nd	nd
Log Jam	2008	80.0	7.30	3466	260.39	21.19	nd	nd	2.1
Log Jam	2009	80.3	7.23	3415	313.73	21.42	65.16	0.2	nd
Figure 8 outflow	2010	43.0	3.63	3291	447.6	386.70	1.5	0.8	1.5
Figure 8 outflow	2011	46.2	3.85	3411	424.9	345.50	4.66	2.4	3.3
Figure 8 outflow	2012	49.8	5.78	4797	nd	nd	1.5	0.9	1.3
Hell's Gate	2009	87.6	4.46	637	0.97	97.35	nd	nd	nd
Hell's Gate	2011	81.6	4.58	437	0.81	77.00	1.4	0.2	0.6

Table II. Geochemical data for selected hot springs in Yellowstone National Park. 'nd' refers to no data available. Data provided by Dr. Everett Shock, Arizona State University.



Figure 4. Sulfate and chloride concentrations (in ppm) for select years from four of the five sampling locations (data are not available for site "Wood Chip Beach.")

Samples were also collected from a hot spring called "Log Jam" in the White Creek region of Lower Geyser Basin. The White Creek area is renowned as the general location from which the organism *Thermus aquaticus* was first isolated, a bacterium responsible for revolutionizing PCR technology (Brock and Freeze 1969), and is also where pink streamer biofilms were originally characterized (Reysenbach et al. 1994; Huber et al. 1998; Meyer-Dombard et al. 2011); these streamers are now known to be found in many locations throughout the park and worldwide (Marteinsson et al. 2001; Nakagawa and Fukui 2002; Reysenbach et al. 2005; Meyer-Dombard et al. 2011). The Lower Geyser Basin is a typical alkaline-chloride, hot water dominated system. Chloride concentrations are very high, derived from long-term water-rock interactions, while sulfate concentrations are low due to low sulfide gas presence (Table II, Fig. 4). "Log Jam" is a nearly circular feature, about 2.5 m in diameter. It is a boiling feature, with very little outgassing and copious amounts of pine tree logs and other detritus that have fallen into the pool from the small slope <1 m away. Sediment samples were taken in the soft, silty area at the edge of the pool where water depth is ~10 cm.

Another sampling site, "Iron Fist," is located in South Rabbit Creek of the Lower Geyser Basin, and is a relatively new formation that exhibited a sudden appearance in 2011. Due to its recent emergence, geochemical data from the specific site is currently limited, although it is possible that the spring was originally part of the feature named "Hell's Gate." Geochemical data for "Hell's Gate" is shown in lieu of "Iron Fist" as a proxy (Table II, Fig. 4) The pool is a large feature, 7 m in diameter in a rhyolite crater that is filled with violently degassing orange fluid. The surrounding sediment is light grey clay. Samples were taken from a small outflow rivulet carved into the soil, which runs about 30 m into the surrounding area. The fluid in the outflow is orange along the entire length of the channel. Samples were collected ~15 m downstream and were silty/clay textured, red/orange at the surface and light grey beneath. The sediment is beneath ~2 cm of fluid.

Sample location, "Wood Chip Beach", is located in the Norris Geyser Basin in the area known as "The Gap". This area has been well studied and is characterized as an acid-sulfate, vapor dominant system that interacts with a hot water dominated system (Jackson et al. 2001; Inskeep and McDermott 2005; Boyd et al. 2007). "Wood Chip Beach" is a large feature, tens of meters in diameter, at the base of a hillside. The sample was collected from a calm "beach" at the edge of the pool on the side opposite of the hill where a collection of wood chips are floating in the water. The sediment consists of clay-sized particles with a pink/tan color. The sampling area exhibited abundant wood chips, and the sample was taken from the upper 1 cm of sediment.

II. Multi-metal Resistant Alkalitolerant Bacteria Isolated from a Serpentinizing Spring in the Zambales Ophiolite, the Philippines

2.1 Introduction

Weathering of serpentinite and ferromagnesium minerals found in ultramafic rocks produces soils containing high concentrations of associated heavy metals such as chromium, nickel, cobalt, magnesium, copper, and zinc (Stoppel and Schlegel 1995; Mengoni et al. 2001; Oze et al. 2004; Pal et al. 2005). Metal concentrations in serpentine soils have been reported to range from a few hundred to thousands of parts per million (Pal et al. 2005; Rajkumar et al. 2008, 2009). Although several metals are required for cellular function in trace amounts, elevated concentrations result in toxicity, primarily through protein denaturation. Whereas metalliferous serpentine soils occur naturally, anthropogenic activities such as burning of fossil fuels, use of fertilizers and pesticides, mining, smelting, steel manufacturing, and municipal wastes are all major sources of environmental metal pollution. As such, metal-contaminated soils and groundwater pose a significant global threat to human health, agriculture, and ecosystems. Alternatively, soils derived from natural weathering of serpentine rocks, such as laterites, are often mined directly due to their economic value. Furthermore, metals in soil are often difficult to remove due to their tendency to bind strongly to organic compounds and their general inability to be transformed to inert forms. Natural processes by which metals in the environment are immobilized or transformed to less toxic states are primarily mediated by microbial activity. Many studies have investigated metal-resistant microbial communities from naturally metalliferous serpentine soils for potential applications in bioremediation (Gadd and Griffiths 1978; Stoppel and Schlegel 1995; Mengoni et al. 2001; Pal et al. 2005; Abou-Shanab et al. 2007; Rajkumar et al. 2009). These microorganisms employ various mechanisms to cope with metallic stressors, such as transforming or removing metals from their surroundings via cellular uptake, adsorption, biomineralization, or production of organic compounds to chelate metal cations. Investigating modes of bacterial metal-resistance from newly discovered serpentinizing environments

may result in discovery of novel strains or mechanisms that may be relevant in biotechnology and bioremediation strategies.

The purpose of this study is to investigate the limits of metal tolerance exhibited by bacteria isolated from natural serpentinizing seeps and acid mine drainage, and to assess their potential for application in biotechnology.

2.2 Materials and Methods

2.2.1 Aqueous geochemistry (ICP-AES)

Surface and groundwater samples were filtered with Millipore Sterivex Sterile Filter Units (Cat. No. SVGPL10RC) into new, certified sampling bottles pre-spiked with trace metal grade nitric acid to stabilize metals in solution; final solutions were ~2% HNO₃. Filtered samples were stored refrigerated, then brought to room temperature and agitated vigorously prior to analysis. Samples were analyzed at the Brown University Environmental Chemistry Facility (http://www.brown.edu/Research/Evchem/) on a Thermo Scientific iCAP 7400 DUO Inductively Coupled Plasma Atomic Emission Spectrometer (ICP-AES). The instrument was equipped with a Teledyne ASX-560 240 position autosampler, and controlled by Thermo Scientific Qtegra software. The charge injection device (CID86) detector allowed flexible choice of wavelengths. The wavelengths chosen for quantification of each analyte are: K (766.490, radial mode), Mg (279.553, radial mode), Si (251.611, radial mode), Na (589.592, radial mode), Ca (317.933, radial mode), Cr (283.563, axial mode), Fe (259.940, axial mode), Ni (221.647, axial mode), Cu (324.754, axial mode), Zn (213.856, axial mode), Mn (257.610, axial mode), Co (228.616, axial mode). To assess instrument accuracy, two standards were used. QC28 is a 28 element standard purchased from Inorganic Ventures (product IV28, (https://www.inorganicventures.com/productdisplay/quality-control-standard-28-0). Verification Std 1 is a SPEX certified standard.

For the solutions presented to the ICP-AES (diluted or full strength), and given actual calibration ranges, the detection limits for each analyte are effectively: Cr (9 ppb), Fe (4 ppb), Ni (14 ppb), Cu (14 ppb), Zn (14 ppb), Mn (9 ppb), Co (14 ppb).

2.2.2 Cultivation of metal-resistant bacteria from environmental samples

All organisms in this study were cultivated based on aerobic, heterotrophic metabolism on solid culture media. Luria-Bertani agar (LBA) was used as the control medium, and was supplemented with varying concentrations of five metals of interest. The following metal salts were used to adjust media to the appropriate concentrations of the corresponding metal cations: NiCl₂·6H₂O, CuCl₂, CoCl₂·6H₂O, ZnCl₂, and K₂CrO₄. Concentrations of 25, 50, 100, 200, and 400 mg/L of each metal were initially used for culturing directly from environmental samples. The pH of all media was adjusted to 7.2 using 10 N NaOH or 10 M HCl, and the media were subsequently autoclaved at 250 °C for 50 minutes.

Environmental samples were generally in the form of a sediment-fluid slurry; in the case that there was not enough fluid in the sample, approximately 1.0 g of sediment was added to 5 mL of sterile, deionized water to create a slurry. A 100 μ L aliquot of each sample was pipetted onto the control and test media. Spread plate technique was used to evenly distribute the sample on the agar surface, and plates were then incubated at 35 °C for up to 2 weeks with growth observations of colony-forming units recorded every 2 days.

2.2.3 Isolation of metal-resistant bacteria

Morphologically distinct colonies from metal-amended plates were selected for isolation. Colonies were transferred via an inoculating loop to fresh media reflective of the corresponding metal and concentration from which the colony originated using the streak plate method. Plates were incubated at 35 °C for up to one week. Following a successful transfer, a single colony was again transferred to a new plate of LB-medium without metal in order to remove the stressor, promote growth, and prepare stock solutions. The pure isolate was given a specific designation reflective of the sample of origin. Stock cultures of 10% glycerol + yeast-peptone were prepared for each isolate and stored at -80 °C.

2.2.4 DNA extraction from isolated strains and 16S rRNA gene sequencing

Genomic DNA was extracted from cell material of each bacterial strain using UltraClean[®] Microbial DNA Isolation Kit (MO BIO Laboratories, Inc. Carlsbad, CA, USA). The 16S rRNA gene was amplified with 27F and 1492R primers, and purified using QIAquick[®] PCR Purification Kit (QIAGEN, Germantown, MD, USA). PCR products were verified with agarose gel electrophoresis. Sanger sequencing was performed by DNA Services at the University of Illinois at Chicago, and sequence similarities were compared with GenBank's 16S Bacteria and Archaea database using NCBI's Basic Local Alignment Search Tool (BLAST). Secondarily, sequences were also identified using EzBioCloud's Identify Service (www.ezbiocloud.net/identify), resulting in sequence matches only with valid prokaryotic taxa. Type strain sequences of closely related species were acquired from EzBioCloud's online sequence database (Yoon et al. 2017). Evolutionary analyses were computed using MEGA version 7 (Kumar et al. 2016b). Sequences were aligned using the MUSCLE program (Edgar 2004), and phylogenetic trees were constructed using the neighbor-joining method (Saitou and Nei 1987) with the Jukes-Cantor model for calculating evolutionary relationships (Jukes and Cantor 1969). Bootstrap resampling analysis was performed with 1000 replicates (Felsenstein 1985).

2.2.5 Examination of individual isolates for cross-metal tolerance and tolerance to alkalinity

As each isolate was obtained from a growth medium containing only one of five metals, resistance to all other metals used in this study was then examined. Cell suspensions were made for each isolate by adding approximately 10 mg of cell material to 500 μ L of 0.85% w/v saline solution and vortexing gently for homogeneity. Ten µL of each cell suspension was pipetted onto the control and metal-amended media to observe growth response and the extent of the isolates' tolerance to metals. A scoring system was implemented for relative growth analysis using a system of 1 (+) to 4 (++++), with 4 indicating abundant growth. If no growth was perceptible, a 0 (-) score was given. Growth score was determined by comparing the spot diameter and opacity relative to the control plate; a smaller diameter and translucence of the spot relative to the control indicated reduced growth and was given lesser scores, while equal diameter and opacity relative to the control was given a score of 4 (++++). Therefore, a score of ++++ indicates no visibly discernible inhibition by the presence of metals. Examples of the scoring system are shown in Fig. 5. For reference diameters of all isolates grown on control media (LBA), refer to Appendix E. In some cases, it was necessary to prepare growth media containing higher concentrations of metal to find the minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) for several strains. Media with higher metal concentrations were prepared in the same manner as previously described.

Tolerance to alkalinity was determined independently of tolerance to metals. Alkaline pH affects the speciation of metal cations, typically by promoting precipitation of metal hydroxides; metal precipitates reduce the bioavailability of the metal and lower overall toxicity of the solution. Thus, growth response to high pH was tested independently by altering LBA media to pH 8, 9, 10, 11, and 12. The pH was adjusted with 10 N NaOH solution.



Figure 5. Images comparing bacterial growth on control LBA media (left) and in the presence of metals (right). A) Organisms on right plate are growing in the presence of 50 mg/L Cr and are identical in size and thickness as the control on the left, earning a score of ++++. B) Organisms on the right growing on LBA + 100 mg/L Cr are roughly half the size relative to the control and would be scored ++.

2.2.6 Examination of metal removal efficiency by isolates

Select isolates that displayed tolerance to high concentrations of metals were then examined for capacity to remove metals from a liquid solution. Only Ni, Cu, and Cr were selected for testing metal removal based on abundance of bacterial growth or appearance of precipitates. A yeast-peptone (YP) solution (5.0 g/L yeast extract; 10 g/L peptone) was used as the growth medium to which 200 mg/L of each metal was added. All solutions were adjusted to pH 7.2. Cell suspensions were made for each isolate,

and 10 μ L aliquots were inoculated into 10 mL cultures of control and test media. Controls included uninoculated YP without metals, as well as uninoculated YP containing each metal at each concentration. Culture tubes were incubated at 35 °C for two weeks in aerobic conditions. Turbid cultures were centrifuged at 3500 rpm for 30 minutes, followed by filtration with 0.2 μ m Whatman filters. Samples were prepared for analysis of Cr, Cu, and Ni by filtering the cultures through a 0.22 μ m filter and preserving the samples with 2% nitric acid. Concentrations were determined on an Agilent 5110 ICP-OES, and values were constrained by a continuous calibration standard (numerous compounds spiked with 1 mg/L and potassium at 10 mg/L), a continuous calibration blank (DI water with 2% HNO₃), matrix spikes (YP medium spiked with target elements, 10 mg/L Cr, 10 mg/L Ni, and 10 mg/L mixed Cu standard), field blanks (YP medium), and internal calibration. Margin of error for instrument is ± 10 ppm.

2.2.7 TEM analysis of select isolates

Transmission electron microscopy (TEM) was used to analyze select isolates exhibiting abundant growth or production of precipitates in culture. Isolates were grown in liquid YP media with 200 mg/L Cu for two weeks at 35 °C in aerobic conditions. Cells were recovered with centrifugation at 800 x g for 5 minutes, and culture supernatant was removed. Cells were resuspended in 0.1 M potassium phosphate buffer containing 2.5% glutaraldehyde for 10 minutes. Cells were then centrifuged and resuspended in fresh fixative prior to preparation of thin sections. Ultrathin sections were prepared by Figen Seiler at the Research Resources Center at the University of Illinois at Chicago, and mounted on Ni-coated grids for viewing. Micrographs were taken using a JEOL JEM-1220 TEM at 120 kV.

2.2.8 Identification of mineral precipitates

In one case crystals were observed within bacterial biomass on LB agar medium containing 600 mg/L Ni. The crystals were manually lifted from the biomass and washed 3x in deionized water. Crystals

were then powdered and mounted on zero-background quartz plates. The X-ray data were acquired with a Siemens D5000 automated powder diffractometer in Θ : Θ configuration, using a graphite monochromatized CuK α radiation source (40 kV at 25 mA) and incident and diffracted beam slit sizes of 1.0°. Measurements were made from 18° to 75° with a 0.02° step and 1.0 s count time. Spectral patterns were compared to ICDD PDF-4+ database (2016) using MDI JADE v.9.6.

2.3 Results

2.3.1 Aqueous geochemistry and trace metal concentrations

ICP analysis of environmental fluids from ML2 and CC1 reveals that all metals of interest in this study are below detection limits. In comparison, the Barlo mine drainage sample shows relatively higher concentrations of metals; Zn exists in the highest concentration, while Co and Ni are the lowest (Table III).

Site	Cr (ppm)	Ni (ppm)	Cu (ppm)	Zn (ppm)	Mn (ppm)	Co (ppm)
ML2	bdl	bdl	bdl	bdl	bdl	bdl
CC1	bdl	bdl	bdl	bdl	bdl	bdl
Barlo	bdl	0.039	0.995	3.688	1.028	0.031

Table III. Trace metal data for field sites sampled in 2013. 'bdl' indicates below detection limit (~10 ppb).

2.3.2 Cultivation of metal-resistant organisms from environmental samples

LBA control media exhibited confluent bacterial growth for most plated samples. In general, the number of colony forming units decreased with increasing metal concentration for all metals tested. Interestingly, at the lower concentrations of 25 and 50 mg/L, only Cu-supplemented media showed
discernible inhibitory effects compared with the control (Fig. 6). All other metal-containing media up to 50 mg/L exhibited equal or only slightly reduced numbers of colonies relative to control plates. Greater morphological diversity amongst colonies was exhibited at lower metal concentrations of 25 to 100 mg/L, while concentrations of 200 and 400 mg/L of most metals resulted in limited morphological differences; the exception is Cr-amended plates which exhibited overall more growth relative to other metals. The limited morphological differentiation of colonies at high metal concentrations may indicate a decrease in cultured bacterial diversity, a hypothesis that is later corroborated with 16S rRNA sequence data. Additionally, as metal concentrations increased, organism growth was slowed, especially relative to the LB control media without metals. On control media, abundant growth typically occurred within 2-3 days, while media amended with metals did not exhibit growth until ~7 days.



Figure 6. Environmental sample from ML2 plated on 1) LBA control, no metal 2) LBA + 50 mg/L Cr 3) LBA + 50 mg/L Cu; Less growth is observed at 50 mg/L Cu than 50 mg/L Cr; Both metal amended plates show reduced growth relative to the control plate.

2.3.3 Isolate taxonomy

16S rRNA gene sequences assigned isolates to multiple genera including Bacillus, Pseudomonas,

Microbacterium, Rhodococcus, and Streptomyces (Table IV). Several isolates shared 100% similarity with

16S rRNA sequences of previously described species. The 16S rRNA sequences of ML-1 and ML-8 are identical to *Pseudomonas koreensis* (Kwon et al. 2003) (Fig. 7); isolate ML-16 shares an identical 16S rRNA sequence with *Microbacterium maritypicum* (Takeuchi and Hatano 1998) (Fig. 8); lastly, isolate ML-14 has 100% similarity to *Rhodococcus jialingiae*, also known under the name *Rhodococcus qingshengii* (Wang et al. 2010) (Fig. 9). CC-8 is the only *Streptomyces* organism that was cultured, and the partial 16S sequence is 99% related to *Streptomyces misionensis* (Cercos et al. 1962) (Fig. 10).

Most isolates belong to the genus *Bacillus*. Of these, most are closely related to members of the *Bacillus cereus* group, which currently includes nine other species. These nine species have been shown to have identical 16S sequences, and therefore it has been proposed in prior taxonomic studies that they be considered a single species (Helgason et al. 2000; Ticknor et al. 2001). For this reason, it is impossible to differentiate these organisms based on 16S alone; species differentiation is primarily based on phenotypic and biochemical characteristics, such as substrate utilization. Isolates ML-7, CC-2, BL-6, BL-3, ML-9, CC-3, and ML-6 share 99% or greater sequence similarity with species in the *B. cereus* group (Fig. 11). More diversity is exhibited by the other *Bacillus* isolates. BL-4 shares 98% similarity to *B. stratosphericus* and *B. altitudinis*, while the 16S rRNA sequence of CC-6 is 100% identical to *B. aryabhattai*. ML-4 is 99.7% similar to *B. mesonae*, and CC-7 is 97.4% similar to *B. firmus*.

			# of	Seq. Similarity	
Strain	Source	Closest Taxon	Bases	(%)	Isolation Media
BL-3	Barlo Mine Drainage	Bacillus sp.	834	99	200 mg/L Cr
BL-4	Barlo Mine Drainage	Bacillus altitudinis	867	99	200 mg/L Cr
BL-6	Barlo Mine Drainage	Bacillus sp.	880	99	400 mg/L Ni
CC-1	CC1 outflow	Bacillus sp.	824	99	100 mg/L Co
CC-2	CC1 outflow	Bacillus sp.	915	99	100 mg/L Zn
CC-3	CC1 outflow	Bacillus sp.	939	100	200 mg/L Zn
CC-4	CC1 outflow	Bacillus sp.	945	99	200 mg/L Ni
CC-6	CC1 outflow	Bacillus aryabhattai	1022	100	200 mg/L Cr
CC-7	CC1 outflow	Bacillus firmus	745	98	400 mg/L Ni
CC-8	CC1 outflow	Streptomyces misionensis	850	99	400 mg/L Ni
ML-1	ML2 source	Pseudomonas koreensis	962	100	25 mg/L Cu
ML-4	ML2 source	Bacillus mesonae	866	99	50 mg/L Cu
ML-6	ML2 source	Bacillus sp.	869	99	100 mg/L Co
ML-7	ML2 source	Bacillus sp.	881	100	100 mg/L Zn
ML-8	ML2 source	Pseudomonas koreensis	894	100	200 mg/L Cu
ML-9	ML2 source	Bacillus sp.	882	99	200 mg/L Zn
	ML2 source	Microbacterium	758		
ML-10		maritypicum		99	200 mg/L Zn
ML-14	ML2 source	Rhodococcus jialingiae	581	100	400 mg/L Co
ML-15	ML2 source	Microbacterium sp.	196	100	400 mg/L Co
	ML2 source	Microbacterium	1012		
ML-16		maritypicum		100	400 mg/L Zn

Table IV. Taxonomic identities of isolated bacterial strains as determined by 16S rRNA gene sequence amplified with the 27F primer; 'Isolation Media' refers to the concentration and corresponding metal in the LB agar from which the organism was isolated.



0.01

Figure 7. Neighbor-joining tree of *Pseudomonas* isolates demonstrating their phylogenetic position among closely related taxa. Isolates obtained in this study are denoted with red diamonds. Species names are followed by the strain number and accession in parentheses. The percentage of replicate trees in which the associated taxa clustered together in the bootstrap test (1000 replicates) are shown next to the branches. Bar, 0.01 substitutions per site.



0.005

Figure 8. Neighbor-joining tree of *Microbacterium* isolates and their phylogenetic position among closely related taxa. Isolates obtained in this study are denoted with red diamonds. Species names are followed by the strain number and accession in parentheses. The percentage of replicate trees in which the associated taxa clustered together in the bootstrap test (1000 replicates) are shown next to the branches. Bar, 0.005 substitutions per site.



0.01

Figure 9. Neighbor-joining tree of *Rhodococcus* isolates demonstrating their phylogenetic position among closely related taxa. Isolates obtained in this study are denoted with red diamonds. Species names are followed by the strain number and accession in parentheses. The percentage of replicate trees in which the associated taxa clustered together in the bootstrap test (1000 replicates) are shown next to the branches. Bar, 0.01 substitutions per site.



0.01

Figure 10. Neighbor-joining tree of isolate CC-8 demonstrating its phylogenetic position among closely related members of the genus *Streptomyces*. The strain isolated from this study is indicated with a red diamond. Species names are followed by the strain number and accession in parentheses. The percentage of replicate trees in which the associated taxa clustered together in the bootstrap test (1000 replicates) are shown next to the branches. Bar, 0.01 substitutions per site.



Figure 11. Neighbor-joining tree of *Bacillus* isolates and their phylogenetic relationship with closely related taxa; most of the isolates cluster within the *B. cereus* group in the top-most portion of the tree. Isolates obtained in this study are denoted with red diamonds. The percentage of replicate trees in which the associated taxa clustered together in the bootstrap test (1000 replicates) are shown next to the branches. Bar, 0.02 substitutions per site.

2.3.4 Examination of isolates for cross-metal tolerance

All isolates obtained from media containing one of five metals also show growth in the presence of additional metals used in this study. In general, Cr seemed to be least inhibitory to bacterial growth relative to other metals based on the observation that more isolates could grow at higher concentrations of Cr than any other metal. Close to 75% of the isolates tolerate the maximum concentration of Cr tested (Table V), but many display significantly reduced growth and altered morphology on the agar, evidenced by very thin, translucent growth. The minimum inhibitory concentration of Cr for most isolates is therefore greater than 600 mg/L. Approximately half of the isolates tolerate 400 mg/L Cu, while only one isolate, ML-1, shows growth in the presence of 600 mg/L Cu (Table VI). Thus, 600 mg/L Cu represents the MIC for all isolates, excluding ML-1. For reference diameters of each isolate grown on control media, refer to Appendix E.

Strain	Conc. in							
Designation	Isolation Media	LBA	Cr 25	Cr 50	Cr 100	Cr 200	Cr 400	Cr 600
ML-1	25 mg/L Cu	++++	++++	++++	++++	+++	-	-
ML-4	50 mg/L Cu	++++	++++	++++	++++	++	-	-
ML-6	100 mg/L Co	++++	++++	++++	++++	+++	+++	++
ML-7	100 mg/L Zn	++++	++++	++++	++++	+++	+++	++
ML-8	200 mg/L Cu	++++	+++	+++	++	++	+	-
ML-9	200 mg/L Zn	++++	++++	++++	++++	+++	+++	++
ML-10	200 mg/L Zn	++++	++++	++++	++++	+++	+++	nd
ML-14	400 mg/L Co	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	++
ML-15	400 mg/L Co	++++	++++	++++	++++	+++	+++	++
ML-16	400 mg/L Zn	++++	++++	++++	++++	+++	++	nd
CC-1	100 mg/L Co	++++	++++	++++	++++	+++	++	++
CC-2	100 mg/L Zn	++++	++++	++++	++++	+++	++	++
CC-3	200 mg/L Zn	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	++	++
CC-4	200 mg/L Ni	++++	++++	++++	++++	+++	++	++
CC-6	200 mg/L Cr	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	++	++
CC-7	400 mg/L Ni	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	++	++
CC-8	400 mg/L Ni	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	nd
BL-3	200 mg/L Cr	++++	++++	++++	++++	+++	++	++
BL-4	200 mg/L Cr	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	++
BL-6	400 mg/L Ni	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	++	+

Table V. Growth of isolates in the presence of increasing concentrations of Cr. Concentrations are in mg/L. Growth score is relative to observed growth on LBA without metals. "nd" refers to not determined. The MIC of Cr for most isolates is greater than 600 mg/L.

Strain	Conc. in							
Designation	Isolation Media	LBA	Cu 25	Cu 50	Cu 100	Cu 200	Cu 400	Cu 600
ML-1	25 mg/L Cu	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++
ML-4	50 mg/L Cu	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	++	-
ML-6	100 mg/L Co	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	++	-
ML-7	100 mg/L Zn	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	-	-
ML-8	200 mg/L Cu	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	+++	-
ML-9	200 mg/L Zn	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	+++	-
ML-10	200 mg/L Zn	++++	++++	++++	+++	+++	+++	-
ML-14	400 mg/L Co	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	-	-
ML-15	400 mg/L Co	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	+++	-
ML-16	400 mg/L Zn	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	-	-
CC-1	100 mg/L Co	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	-	-
CC-2	100 mg/L Zn	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	+++	-
CC-3	200 mg/L Zn	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	-
CC-4	200 mg/L Ni	++++	++++	++++	++++	-	-	-
CC-6	200 mg/L Cr	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	-	-
CC-7	400 mg/L Ni	++++	++++	++++	++++	+++	+++	-
CC-8	400 mg/L Ni	++++	++++	++++	++++	+++	+++	-
BL-3	200 mg/L Cr	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	-	-
BL-4	200 mg/L Cr	++++	++++	++++	++++	-	-	-
BL-6	400 mg/L Ni	++++	++++	++++	+++	+	++	-

Table VI. Growth of isolates in the presence of increasing concentrations of Cu. Concentrations are in mg/L. Growth score is relative to observed growth on LBA without metals. The MIC of Cu for most isolates is 600 mg/L.

.....

-

Many organisms growing on Cu-amended media display a dark orange-brown coloration (Fig. 12) that typically increases in intensity correlated to Cu concentration. This coloration is only observed on Cu supplemented media, and only by organisms belonging to the *B. cereus* group. While the majority of isolates show growth in the presence of 400 mg/L Co, no organisms are capable of growth at the next highest concentration tested, 600 mg/L; therefore, the MIC of Co lies between 400 and 600 mg/L (Table VII). As with Cu, approximately half of the isolates show growth in the presence of 400 mg/L to the same concentration of Cu, though not all. Several isolates show growth at concentrations beyond 600 mg/L Ni as well (Table VIII). ML-1, ML-15, CC-7, and BL-6 can grow up to 600 mg/L Ni, and ML-15 and BL-6 also grow at 800 and 1000 mg/L Ni. Media

with concentrations exceeding 1000 mg/L were not prepared, and therefore the MIC for ML-15 and BL-6 was not determined. Lastly, approximately half of the isolates are capable of growth at 400 mg/L Zn, and eight of those strains also grow at 600 mg/L Zn (Table IX). The MIC of Zn for these organisms was not determined.



Figure 12. Bacteria exhibiting dark brown coloration on media containing 400 mg/L Cu. The organism in the left image is isolate CC-3, and the organism in the right image is isolate ML-6.

Strain	Conc. in							
Designation	Isolation Media	LBA	Co 25	Co 50	Co 100	Co 200	Co 400	Co 600
ML-1	25 mg/L Cu	++++	++++	++++	+++	+++	-	-
ML-4	50 mg/L Cu	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	+++	-
ML-6	100 mg/L Co	++++	++++	++++	+++	+++	+	-
ML-7	100 mg/L Zn	++++	++++	++++	+++	+++	+	-
ML-8	200 mg/L Cu	++++	+++	+++	-	-	-	-
ML-9	200 mg/L Zn	++++	++++	++++	+++	+++	+++	-
ML-10	200 mg/L Zn	++++	++++	++++	+++	+++	+++	-
ML-14	400 mg/L Co	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	-	-
ML-15	400 mg/L Co	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	++	-
ML-16	400 mg/L Zn	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	++	-
CC-1	100 mg/L Co	++++	++++	++++	+++	+++	+++	-
CC-2	100 mg/L Zn	++++	++++	++++	+++	+++	+++	-
CC-3	200 mg/L Zn	++++	++++	++++	+++	+++	+++	-
CC-4	200 mg/L Ni	++++	++++	++++	++++	+++	+++	-
CC-6	200 mg/L Cr	++++	++++	++++	++++	+++	+++	-
CC-7	400 mg/L Ni	++++	++++	++++	++	++	++	-
CC-8	400 mg/L Ni	++++	++++	++++	+++	++	-	-
BL-3	200 mg/L Cr	++++	++++	++++	+++	+++	++	-
BL-4	200 mg/L Cr	++++	++++	++++	++	++	++	-
BL-6	400 mg/L Ni	++++	++++	++++	++++	+++	+++	-

Table VII. Growth of isolates in the presence of increasing concentrations of Co. Concentrations are in mg/L. Growth score is relative to observed growth on LBA without metals. The MIC for most strains is 600 mg/L.

	Conc. in									
Strain	Isolation									Ni
Designation	Media	LBA	Ni 25	Ni 50	Ni 100	Ni 200	Ni 400	Ni 600	Ni 800	1000
ML-1	25 mg/L Cu	++++	++++	++++	++++	+++	+++	++	-	-
ML-4	50 mg/L Cu	++++	++++	++++	++++	+++	++	-	-	-
ML-6	100 mg/L Co	++++	++++	++++	++++	+++	++	-	-	-
ML-7	100 mg/L Zn	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	-	-	-	-
ML-8	200 mg/L Cu	++++	++++	++++	++++	+++	-	-	-	-
ML-9	200 mg/L Zn	++++	++++	++++	++++	+++	-	-	-	-
ML-10	200 mg/L Zn	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	-	-	-	-
ML-14	400 mg/L Co	++++	++++	++++	++++	+++	-	-	-	-
ML-15	400 mg/L Co	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	++	+
ML-16	400 mg/L Zn	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	-	-	-
CC-1	100 mg/L Co	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	++	-	-	-
CC-2	100 mg/L Zn	++++	++++	++++	++++	+++	-	-	-	-
CC-3	200 mg/L Zn	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	-	-	-
CC-4	200 mg/L Ni	++++	++++	++++	+++	++	-	-	-	-
CC-6	200 mg/L Cr	++++	++++	++++	++++	+++	-	-	-	-
CC-7	400 mg/L Ni	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	+++	-	-
CC-8	400 mg/L Ni	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	nd	nd	nd
BL-3	200 mg/L Cr	++++	++++	++++	++++	+++	++	-	-	-
BL-4	200 mg/L Cr	++++	++++	++++	++++	++	-	-	-	-
BL-6	400 mg/L Ni	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	++	+

Table VIII. Growth of isolates in the presence of increasing concentrations of Ni. Concentrations are in mg/L. Growth score is relative to observed growth on LBA without metals. "nd" refers to not determined. The MIC of Ni for most isolates is 600 mg/L.

Strain	Conc. in							
Designation	Isolation Media	LBA	Zn 25	Zn 50	Zn 100	Zn 200	Zn 400	Zn 600
ML-1	25 mg/L Cu	++++	++++	+++	+	-	-	-
ML-4	50 mg/L Cu	++++	++++	++++	-	-	-	-
ML-6	100 mg/L Co	++++	+++	+++	+++	++	+	+
ML-7	100 mg/L Zn	++++	++++	++++	++++	++	+	+
ML-8	200 mg/L Cu	++++	++++	+++	+++	++	-	-
ML-9	200 mg/L Zn	++++	++++	++++	+++	++	++	+++
ML-10	200 mg/L Zn	++++	++++	++++	++++	++	++	-
ML-14	400 mg/L Co	++++	+++	++	+	+	-	-
ML-15	400 mg/L Co	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	++	++
ML-16	400 mg/L Zn	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	+	-
CC-1	100 mg/L Co	++++	++++	++++	+++	++	-	-
CC-2	100 mg/L Zn	++++	++++	++++	+++	++	-	-
CC-3	200 mg/L Zn	++++	++++	++++	+++	++	++	++
CC-4	200 mg/L Ni	++++	++++	+++	+++	++	-	-
CC-6	200 mg/L Cr	++++	+++	-	-	-	-	-
CC-7	400 mg/L Ni	++++	-	-	-	-	-	-
CC-8	400 mg/L Ni	++++	-	-	-	-	-	-
BL-3	200 mg/L Cr	++++	++++	++++	+++	++	++	++
BL-4	200 mg/L Cr	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	+	+
BL-6	400 mg/L Ni	++++	++++	++++	+++	++	+	+

Table IX. Growth of isolates in the presence of increasing concentrations of Zn. Concentrations are in mg/L. Growth score is relative to observed growth on LBA without metals. The MIC for most isolates is 400 mg/L.

2.3.5 ML-15 and associated Ni-mineral identification

Multiple green crystalline precipitates (1-2 mm) were observed associated with bacterial biomass of isolate ML-15 on LBA plates supplemented with 600 mg/L Ni (Fig. 13). The crystals are not observed at lesser concentrations of Ni, in the presence of any other metal, or associated with any other organism. The observation was initially noted approximately 3 months post inoculation, after the culture plate was stored in a 15°C refrigerator. Thus, the exact length of time needed for growth of the crystals was initially not determined.



Figure 13. Green crystals (~1-2 mm) observed in association with bacterial growth of strain ML-15, *Microbacterium* sp.

The experiment was replicated with concentrations of 800 and 1000 mg/L Ni, and after 2 months of incubation at 25°C, small (~1-2 mm) green crystals are observed to form at these concentrations as well. Crystal formation time at 25°C can therefore be approximated as 2 months. It is important to note that crystals are observed only in the field of cellular growth of the organism, and are not present elsewhere on the agar surface. Individual crystals are half submerged within the agar, and could be plucked from the media with a sterile inoculating loop. Phase contrast microscopy indicated crystallinity (Fig. 14), and subsequent petrographic analysis with a polarizing lens enabled microscope showed crystal extinction with rotation of the stage (Fig. 15). Having confirmed the crystalline nature of the mineral, crystals were

next analyzed with X-ray powder diffraction. Based on the diffraction pattern, it can be concluded that the mineral is most likely a Ni-chloride hydrate (Fig. 16).



Figure 14. Phase contrast image at 100x magnification of crushed green crystals from ML-15 culture. Mineral grains indicate crystallinity.



Figure 15. Red arrows indicate a single crystal produced by ML-15 viewed under a polarizing lens; top image shows plane polarized light passing through crystal structure, while the bottom image shows extinction with stage rotation.



Figure 16. Powder diffraction pattern produced by X-ray analysis of green crystals associated with ML-15 growth on 600 mg/L Ni media. The name of the mineral with the closest matching pattern is displayed in the upper right corner.

2.3.6 Production of a secondary metabolite by isolate CC-8, Streptomyces misionensis

Isolate CC-8 was initially selected from isolation media based on the observation of a dark brown substance diffused into the agar surrounding the colony on 400 mg/L Ni media. Upon examination of tolerance to other metals, it is observed that production of the colored substance most consistently occurs in the presence of Ni (Fig. 17,18), and is only occasionally observed in the presence of Cu and Co. Color intensity increases with increasing concentrations of Cu and Ni. The coloration is not present on control LBA plates or media with added Cr and Zn.



Figure 17. Comparisons of CC-8 growing on control and Ni-supplemented media; Dark coloration surrounding bacterial growth only occurs in the presence of metal and increases with metal concentration A) LBA control (left plate) vs. 200 mg/L Ni (right plate); B) 200 mg/L Ni; C) 400 mg/L Ni.



Figure 18. Dark brown coloration surrounding colonies of isolate CC-8 on LBA + 200 mg/L Cu.

2.3.7 Determination of metal removal capacity by isolates

Select organisms showing high tolerance to metals on solid media were chosen for transfer to liquid cultures modified with 200 mg/L of one of three metals – Cr, Ni, or Cu. After two weeks of incubation, several cultures showed visual changes. Notably, several Cu-containing cultures showed apparent precipitates in the form of a rusty brown powder on the bottom surface of the test tube, seemingly mixed with cell material. In comparison, Ni-containing cultures showed abundant cell growth but no discernible color changes or precipitates. Cultures growing in the presence of Cr generally exhibited turbidity, and some cultures showed a marked change in color. The Cr-supplemented YP media is initially bright yellow in color, but post incubation with certain isolates became a dull purple to colorless.

Representative cultures for each metal were selected for ICP analysis based on relative amounts of precipitate, growth, or color change. Of the analyzed samples, organisms growing in Cu show significant removal of Cu from solution (Table X). BL-3 exhibits the greatest potential for Cu removal, reducing the aqueous Cu concentration by approximately 44%. The other three isolates are capable of removing between 4% and 19% of Cu. Analysis of cultures grown in the presence of Cr did not show significant reduction in metal concentration, and were within the margin of error for the instrument (±10 ppm). Most isolates growing in the presence of Ni show minimal or no removal of the metal from solution. However, it is worth noting that ML-1 removed nearly the same amount of Ni as Cu (~9%), potentially implying a correlation with this organism's metal removal capacity.

Table X. Metal removal capacity of each isolate is represented as a percentage of total metal concentration; Most isolates growing in Cr and Ni media showed minimal metal removal, while more significant changes can be seen with BL-3 and ML-15 grown in Cu media. Asterisk indicates a potential instrumental error.

Isolate	Metal	Initial Concentration	Final Concentration	% Removal
CC-7	Cr	209.84	206.46	1.6
ML-7	Cr	209.84	205.02	2.3
ML-9	Cr	209.84	205.37	2.1
BL-6	Ni	211.41	204.1	3.5
CC-8	Ni	211.41	213.39*	n/a
ML-1	Ni	211.41	191.65	9.4
ML-15	Ni	211.41	210.37	0.5
BL-3	Cu	196.74	110.44	43.9
ML-1	Cu	196.74	179.59	8.7
ML-8	Cu	196.74	188.58	4.2
ML-15	Cu	196.74	160.59	18.4

2.3.8 TEM analysis of isolate BL-3

TEM results reveal the accumulation of Cu within cell membranes of strain BL-3 (Fig 19), previously noted as removing ~40% of Cu from liquid culture media. Electron-dense regions in the membrane correlate with EDS data showing a high concentration of Cu signals within the cell membrane and cytosol of bacterial cells grown in the presence of 200 mg/L Cu. These data confirm metal removal and sequestration by bacterial cells.



Figure 19. Left - Electron micrograph of cells of strain BL-3, Bacillus sp., grown in the presence of 200 ppm Cu; white areas seen in the cell membranes indicate electron-dense regions. Right – Cu signals as determined by Energy Dispersive Spectroscopy (EDS), showing higher concentration of Cu signals along the perimeter of and within cells.

All isolates are capable of growth at up to pH 10 on solid media, and most can tolerate the maximum pH tested (Table XI). The tolerance of all strains to pH 10 is worth noting, as this value is near the pH of the serpentinizing seep, recorded as 10.23 – 10.83. Above pH 10, growth of ML-8 and CC-8 was completely inhibited and several other strains showed decreased growth relative to the control. These results show that despite the neutral pH of the metal-amended media on which they were isolated, most strains show tolerance to a pH value greater than or equal to the environment of origin.

			Source						
Strain	Identity	Source	рН	Control	pH 8	рН 9	pH 10	pH 11	pH 12
ML-1	Pseudomonas sp.	ML2 source	10.83	++++	++++	++++	++++	++	+
ML-4	Bacillus sp.	ML2 source	10.83	++++	++++	++++	++++	++	++
ML-6	Bacillus sp.	ML2 source	10.83	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++
ML-7	Bacillus sp.	ML2 source	10.83	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++
ML-8	Pseudomonas sp.	ML2 source	10.83	++++	++++	++++	++++	-	-
ML-9	Bacillus sp.	ML2 source	10.83	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++
ML-10	Microbacterium sp.	ML2 source	10.83	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++
ML-14	R. jialingiae	ML2 source	10.83	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++
ML-15	Microbacterium sp.	ML2 source	10.83	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++
ML-16	Microbacterium sp.	ML2 source	10.83	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++
CC-1	Bacillus sp.	CC1 outflow	10.23	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++
CC-2	Bacillus sp.	CC1 outflow	10.23	++++	++++	++++	++++	+++	+++
CC-3	Bacillus sp.	CC1 outflow	10.23	++++	++++	++++	++++	+++	+++
CC-4	Bacillus sp.	CC1 outflow	10.23	++++	++++	++++	++++	+++	+++
CC-6	Bacillus sp.	CC1 outflow	10.23	++++	++++	++++	++++	+	+
CC-7	Bacillus sp.	CC1 outflow	10.23	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++
CC-8	S. misionensis	CC1 outflow	10.23	++++	++++	++++	+	-	-
BL-3*	Bacillus sp.	Barlo Mine	4.2	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++
BL-4*	Bacillus sp.	Barlo Mine	4.2	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++
BL-6*	Bacillus sp.	Barlo Mine	4.2	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++

Table XI. Growth of isolates at varying pH; Control media was adjusted to pH 7; Most isolates show growth up to pH 12, including those obtained from an acidic site, indicated with asterisks.

2.4 Discussion

2.4.1 Environmental fluid chemistry and metal-tolerance

Fluids from Manleluag serpentinizing seep had extremely low to below detectable concentrations of metals relevant to this study. However, it has been shown that organisms displaying tolerance to high concentrations of metals can be cultured from this environment. As microorganisms typically develop adaptations to resist harsh conditions in their environment, an alternate explanation is needed for the observed tolerance to metals. A likely explanation may be that metals in this environment would precipitate out of solution at such alkaline pH, and thereby accumulate in sediments. As all isolates in this study were cultured from sediment slurries from the spring and its outflow, it is possible the sediments may be laden with metal compounds. While mineral forms of these metals would be far less toxic than mobilized aqueous species, they still represent a potential source of toxicity for organisms living in sediments of the spring. An alternate hypothesis is that these adaptations would have been developed through prolonged exposure to metal toxicity as fluid harboring these microorganisms circulated through the subsurface. If these organisms represent subsurface microbiota, the presence of ultramafic material in the subsurface would undoubtedly result in microbe-metal contact, as well as potential leaching and re-precipitation of mineral-derived metals. Similarly, surface weathering of serpentinite rocks in the area may also cause an influx of metal leachates into springs and outflows, thereby driving microbial adaptation as well. Considering the alkalinity of the environment, these metals would likely be bound in mineral, or possibly organic complexes. Thus, the inability of several isolates to remove metal ions from aqueous solution may be explained by the low natural concentrations of these metals. Furthermore, abundant strain growth on solid media containing high metal concentrations potentially supports the hypothesis that these organisms may be more adapted to coping with metals that are bound to organics.

It is also necessary to consider the formation of organometallic complexes in relation to both environmental chemistry and laboratory media preparation. It has been demonstrated that metal ions tend to have a high affinity for organic ligands, resulting in reduction of metal bioavailability and overall toxicity (Ramamorthy and Kushner 1975; Zevenhuizen et al. 1979). Organic compounds in commonly used microbial growth media, including those used in this study, have been reported to have high binding capacities for metals. This issue is largely unavoidable when designing experiments, as microorganisms require organics for sustenance. However, the binding capacity is directly related to the concentrations of available metal ions and organic substrate; thus, beyond a certain concentration, organic binding sites are saturated and free ions would be present in solution. This is corroborated by a study conducted by Ramamoorthy and Kushner (1975). The study demonstrated that in one microbial culture medium, free Hg²⁺ is not present until concentrations exceed 160 ppm (mg/L); however, it was found that even concentrations of 10 ppm Hg²⁺ were inhibitory to aquatic bacterial organisms, although no free ions were present at that concentration. Therefore, it is supported that inhibitory effects by organometallic complexes, although lessened, still occur to a significant degree. This is especially true when considering the high concentrations used in the present study. One likely explanation for persisting toxicity is that bacterial cells must still metabolize metal-bound organics, and thus are required to cope with metals that enter the cytosol bound to their nutrient source. Thus, methods used for testing metal tolerance in this study are justified, both in terms of the natural environment and experimental design.

2.4.2 Metal removal capacity – ICP and TEM analyses

The data show that removal of Cr from aqueous solution does not occur in the analyzed cultures, and removal of Ni was very minimal (<4%) in all but one sample. Thus, speculation is required to clarify the mechanism of metal tolerance utilized by these microorganisms. If these isolates are not accumulating, adsorbing, or otherwise biomineralizing metals, the only reasonable assumption is that they possess a highly efficient efflux pump to expel toxic metals from cells. This hypothesis is strongly supported by the observed abundant cellular growth in conjunction with completely unchanged concentrations of metals in the culture media.

ML-1 potentially represents an exception. It was demonstrated that this organism reduced both the Ni and Cu concentrations by roughly 9%. Though more data points are needed for confirmation, this potentially suggests a correlation between the results, especially when considering that metal concentrations in other cultures were typically only reduced by approximately 2%, a difference that is more likely attributed to instrumental error. It may therefore be postulated that ML-1 utilizes a nonspecific metal removal mechanism, such as passive cellular adsorption.

All examined isolates show some capacity to remove Cu from solution. Based on the observation of rust-brown precipitates collected on the bottom surface of test tubes, it is probable that Cu is being removed through biomineralization. An Eh/pH diagram of Cu²⁺ at 200 mg/L supports this possibility (Fig. 20). The diagram shows that at higher oxidation states and circumneutral pH, Cu exists in aqueous phases; furthermore, there is no phase change observed with an increase in pH as exhibited by cultures that alkalified media to a final pH of ~9. However, as the solution becomes more reducing, as would be typical during bacterial growth, the mineral phase cuprite is observed followed by elemental Cu⁰ under the most reducing conditions. Thus, it can be reasonably assumed that any mineral precipitation is likely facilitated by microbial activity.

Electron microscopy analysis of cells grown in the presence of 200 mg/L Cu confirms these assumptions of biologically facilitated metal removal. Electron micrographs reveal electron-dense areas along the perimeter of cells of BL-3, and EDS confirms that the areas correspond to an accumulation of Cu. The oxidation state of the Cu could not immediately be determined, and thus requires further analysis to elucidate the type of metal transformation taking place.



Figure 20. Eh/pH diagram of Cu speciation at 200 mg/L Cu, the concentration in culture media. As the solution becomes more reduced, cuprite is the first mineral phase, followed by copper in more reducing conditions. (The Geochemist's Workbench, Ed. 11.0)

2.4.3 Bacillus sp. and interactions with metals

The genus *Bacillus* consists of a highly diverse group of bacteria commonly found in extreme environments ranging from hot springs to spacecraft assembly clean rooms (La Duc et al. 2007). Therefore, it is no surprise that the majority of metal-tolerant isolates in this investigation are *Bacillus* species. Seven isolates obtained from this study have 16S rRNA sequences that are 99% similar to members of the *B. cereus* group, which includes nine other related species. Most isolates were capable of tolerating at least 200 mg/L concentrations of each metal that was tested. One of these strains, BL-6, could grow at 1000 mg/L Ni, the highest concentration prepared. Another isolate, BL-3 exhibited the largest capacity to remove metal ions from aqueous solution, reducing the Cu concentration in growth media by roughly half. TEM analysis of BL-3 cells grown in the presence of 200 mg/L Cu confirmed removal through accumulation of Cu in the membrane. These results demonstrate the potential for these isolates, and other organisms within this group, to be used in industrial and environmental applications.

The B. cereus group consists of many organisms previously cited as having a high tolerance to metals (Wang et al. 2015; Chen et al. 2016; Kumar et al. 2016a; Nayak et al. 2016; Wu et al. 2016). The results from this study further support findings that Bacillus species are commonly found in environments associated with physicochemical extremes, and so have adapted a uniquely robust set of mechanisms to enable them to cope with those conditions. These mechanisms have potential for applications in bioremediation and leaching of valuable metals from wastes. Studies have shown that strains of B. cereus can biomineralize Pb from mine tailings (Chen et al. 2016), remove Cd ions from polluted water (Wu et al. 2016), and oxidize arsenite to arsenate (Naureen and Rehman 2016). In addition, B. thuringiensis strains have previously been documented in bioremediation studies as being capable of removing metals like Cu, Co, Ni, and Ag from solution (Kumar et al. 2016a; Nayak et al. 2016). A recent study found that a strain of B. toyonensis, another member of the B. cereus group, cultured from marine sediments in South Africa produced a bioflocculant (Okaiyeto et al. 2015); bioflocculants are organic molecules produced by microorganisms that are capable of flocculating various contaminants, and therefore have a potentially wide range of applications, including heavy metal removal. Although strains from this study were not specifically examined for bioflocculant production, this prior discovery suggests one potential mechanism of metal tolerance implemented by members of this group.

Other *Bacillus* species were also represented by isolates obtained from this study. Interestingly, BL-4's closest relatives, *B. stratosphericus* and *B. altitudinis*, are organisms initially isolated from high altitudes between 24 and 41 km and can tolerate high levels of UV radiation (Shivaji et al. 2006), though

there is no prior evidence for metal tolerance. CC-7 shares 99% of its 16S rRNA gene sequence with *B. firmus*, a species known to display resistance to metal toxicity. A previous study found that a *B. firmus* strain produced a polysaccharide capable of binding and removing metal ions from aqueous solution (Salehizadeh and Shojaosadati 2003). Another strain of *B. firmus* isolated from tannery effluent has been shown to reduce hexavalent Cr and oxidize As (Bachate et al. 2013). CC-6 shares 100% 16S rRNA gene sequence similarity with *Bacillus aryabhattai*, an organism incidentally also isolated from the upper atmosphere, and since been found in environments ranging from fish guts to soils and waste water (Arora et al. 2016; Dey 2016). More notably however, *B. aryabhattai* is well-known as a multi-tasking bacterium, having been described in previous studies as displaying a range of biotechnological applications including As bioremediation, conversion of lignocellulosic waste into valuable resources, treatment of waste dyes in the textile industry, and production of the aromatic compound vanillin (Paz et al. 2016a, b; Singh et al. 2016). Additionally, strains of this species have been shown to tolerate high concentrations of Cu and accumulate hexavalent Cr from water (Verma et al. 2014; Mesa et al. 2015). Considering the genetic homology and demonstrated tolerance to Cu and other metals, isolate CC-6 warrants further examination to thoroughly elucidate its potential utility.

2.4.4 Microbacterium sp. and Ni-biomineralization

The mineral precipitate on the agar media is interesting for many reasons. XRD analysis determined that the mineral may be a Ni-chloride hydrate. This is possibly a compound identical or related to the metal salt used in the media preparation, NiCl₂·6H₂O. Although there are examples of *Pseudomonas* species capable of reducing aqueous Ni²⁺ to elemental Ni⁰ (Zhan et al. 2012), and even *Microbacterium* capable of synthesizing NiO nanoparticles from NiSO₄ (Sathyavathi et al. 2014), there are no published examples of biomineralization of a NiCl₂ mineral. Furthermore, the occurrence of this mineral on solid media is intriguing, as most studies describe metal biomineralization in aqueous conditions. It may be that

the mineral precipitation is not directly facilitated by the bacterium, but by conditions created by bacterial growth, such as an increase in alkalinity. However, this does not provide an adequate explanation as many isolates were observed to increase alkalinity when final pH was measured in metal-supplemented liquid media (refer to Appendix B). CC-7 and BL-6 exhibited abundant growth at 600 mg/L Ni, and both were noted to increase alkalinity in liquid culture; yet, no crystals were associated with either organism. Hence, it is more likely that isolate ML-15 is in some way involved in the synthesis of the mineral. Even more confounding is that ML-15 exhibits the least metal removal capacity of all tested cultures, indicating that intracellular accumulation and precipitation is not likely. Based on the ICP data, one hypothesis may be postulated. As the final concentration of Ni in liquid culture with ML-15 was virtually unchanged, the organism may have a highly efficient efflux pump for unwanted intracellular Ni. Additionally, the presence of Cl⁻ in growth media has been largely ignored, but is present in large quantities, as there are two Cl⁻ ions present for every one metal ion in the salts used for media preparation. During growth, isolate ML-15 was certainly ingesting nutrient-metal complexes from the growth media, and may have been subsequently expelling Ni²⁺ and possibly Cl⁻. Millions of cells exhibiting this behavior in a small area on a dry surface may have led to the concentration of Ni²⁺ and Cl⁻, and eventually to the crystallization of Ni-chloride, possibly with cells as nucleation points. Further investigation is needed to confirm this hypothesis.

2.4.5 Streptomyces misionensis and secondary metabolite production

Isolate CC-8 displays the unique characteristic of releasing a brown, water-soluble substance that increases in response to metal concentration, but is not produced in response to every metal tested. The most abundant production of this substance is observed in the presence of Ni, followed closely by Cu. Though the molecular character of the substance could not be determined in this study, literature regarding *Streptomyces* organisms offers a likely explanation. These bacteria are renowned for the production of antibiotics, but many *Streptomyces* species are also capable of producing melanin, an organic pigment composed of chains of phenolic compounds, in response to stressors such as metals (Raytapadar et al. 1995; Plonka and Grabacka 2006; Haferburg and Kothe 2007). Melanin has a strong affinity for metal cations, and is probably the mechanism of metal tolerance utilized by members of this genus. The mechanism acts in the same way that formation of organometallic complexes binds free metal cations and reduces toxicity. This also explains the increase in CC-8's pigment production with increasing metal concentration, as more melanin would be required to bind a greater quantity of toxic metal cations. Another piece of supporting evidence is that the concentration of Ni in CC-8 culture was unchanged (data suggests a slight increase in Ni concentration after growth of the culture, but this is likely a result of instrumental error). Melanin is a soluble compound, and thus binding of metals by this pigment would not remove cations from solution, explaining the constant concentration. Additionally, melanin is also known to act as an electron donor or acceptor, so melanogenesis may also be involved in microbial metabolism in some cases (Plonka and Grabacka 2006).

Considering the evidence, it may be reasonably concluded that this organism is synthesizing extracellular melanin as a defense mechanism against metal toxicity. Specifically, a brown or black melanin is categorized as a eumelanin, produced via the oxidation of tyrosine (Plonka and Grabacka 2006). Confirmation of the production of eumelanin by CC-8 may be achieved through the use of high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC), and must be considered for future work.

2.4.6 Tolerance to alkalinity

All isolates exhibit growth at the highly alkaline pH of the natural serpentinizing environment (10.8). Additionally, most organisms show robust growth up to pH 12. These results suggest that the isolates obtained in this study do represent a subset of the natural microbial community, and the majority are well-suited to survive extreme alkalinity. It is interesting to note that CC-8 and ML-8 exhibit a sharp cessation of growth beyond pH 10, while ML-1, ML-4, and CC-6 all show diminished growth at pH 11 and

12. This suggests that these isolates may be narrowly adapted to the conditions of this environment and, while most can tolerate higher pH, it negatively impacts growth of others.

2.5 Conclusion

Organisms isolated in this investigation represent diverse taxa that consist of many known extremophiles, especially those belonging to the genus Bacillus. 16S rRNA gene sequence analysis determined that several species that are closely related to the isolates have been previously documented as metal-tolerant and interact with metals using a variety of mechanisms, including intracellular metal sequestration and biomineralization. The isolates in this study also display a diversity of metal tolerance mechanisms. Considering the ICP data, it can be presumed that most of the strains likely use an efflux pump to regulate intracellular metal concentrations. However, in the presence of Cu, several strains show the capacity to biomineralize Cu minerals from aqueous solution, a process with strong implications in bioremediation of metal contaminated environments and biomining valuable metals from mine tailings. Isolate ML-15, a *Microbacterium* sp., demonstrated the novel ability to biomineralize a Ni-chloride mineral from solid agar media, a feat that is unprecedented to the best of the author's knowledge. This process not only has implications in bioremediation, but possibly in production of chemical reagents for industrial use as well. Lastly, isolate CC-8, a strain closely related to Streptomyces misionensis, produced the secondary metabolite melanin to chelate metals and reduce toxic stress; microbial melanin may play an important role in studying organometallic complexes and their mobility through the environment. Additionally, the type strain of S. misionensis was originally described as producing misionin, an antibiotic active against phytopathogenic fungi. As many Streptoymyces organisms are renowned for the production of secondary metabolites, especially in the presence of metals, isolate CC-8 warrants further examination for production of antibiotics in addition to melanin.

The results demonstrate that alkalitolerant, multi-metal resistant bacteria are present and can be cultured from natural serpentinizing environments. Although trace metal concentrations in source fluids were generally determined to be too low for detection, there are potential alternate sources of metal stress. These include subsurface fluid-rock interactions or surface weathering of ultramafic material and subsequent deposition into serpentinizing springs and outflow channels of the Manleluag seep. As the metals used in this study are commonly associated with serpentine environments, the metal-resistant bacterial isolates have implications in understanding the local serpentinizing ecosystem and in biotechnology.

III. Multi-metal Resistant Bacteria Isolated from Hydrothermal Springs, Yellowstone National Park, WY

3.1 Introduction

Hydrothermal environments are characterized by numerous physicochemical extremes that seemingly make them inhospitable to life. Yet, microorganisms have adapted to tolerate such conditions through the development of various structural and metabolic adaptations. Because of the geochemical and physical extremes, the survival mechanisms of hydrothermal communities are appropriately robust and efficient. The functions of such microorganisms are of significant interest from a biogeochemical standpoint, but are also particularly useful in biotechnology.

Hot springs are commonly characterized by acidic conditions, increasing the solubility of metal ions and thereby leaching elements from the rock. Many organisms in hydrothermal environments have adapted to take advantage of metals by using them as electron acceptors for metabolism, while others accumulate and precipitate toxic metals in the cell periplasm (Lovley and Coates 2000; Rathgeber et al. 2002; Ghosh et al. 2003; Meyer-Dombard et al. 2012). Organisms displaying the ability to biomineralize or otherwise sequester metals at high temperatures offer new potential strategies for removing highly toxic elements like uranium and chromium from contaminated water. In addition, metal-extracting bioreactors in the biomining industry operate at high temperatures and extreme acidity. Thus, hydrothermal environments are ideal sites in which to study microbial metal tolerance in relation to applications in bioremediation and biometallurgy.

The purpose of this study is to enumerate heterotrophic, metal tolerant bacteria from hydrothermal springs in Yellowstone National Park, and to isolate pure strains for further investigation of metal tolerance mechanisms for potential applications in biotechnology.

3.2 Materials and methods

3.2.1 Study sites

Samples were collected from the outflows of two hydrothermal springs in Yellowstone National Park (YNP). The first is named Iron Fist Outflow in South Rabbit Creek and the second is named Figure 8 outflow in located in the Greater Obsidian Pool Area. Samples were collected and stored as described in Chapter I section 1.6.

All methods and analyses performed in this investigation are identical to those described in "Multi-metal resistant, alkalitolerant bacteria isolated from a serpentinizing seep." For all culturing methods and analyses performed, refer to Chapter II section 2.1. For microbial community analysis of environmental samples, refer to Appendix D.

3.3 Results

3.3.1 ICP data for metals of interest in environmental samples

In general, previous geochemical data shows that all metals relevant to this study exist in extremely low concentrations in environmental samples from Figure 8 and Hell's Gate, a proxy for Iron Fist outflow (see Chapter I, section 1.6). For select years from 2009-2011, Zn occurred in the highest concentrations at both sites, while Co generally exhibits the lowest concentration (Table XII).

Table XII. Trace metal data from Figure 8 and "Hell's Gate," a proxy for Iron Fist outflow for 2009-2011. Data provided by Dr. Everett Shock, Arizona State University.

Site	Year	Cr (ppb)	Ni (ppb)	Co (ppb)	Cu (ppb)	Zn (ppb)
Figure 8	2010	0.29	0.34	bdl	0.105	10.6
Figure 8	2011	0.79	0.9	0.25	0.15	21
Hell's Gate	2009	bdl	0.18	0.062	0.58	9.03
Hell's Gate	2011	0.02	0.103	0.048	0.164	23.9

3.3.2 Cultivation of metal-tolerant bacteria from environmental samples

In general, a greater number of metal-tolerant organisms were cultured from Iron Fist outflow than Figure 8. Additionally, on control media with no metals, Iron Fist exhibited a confluent lawn of bacterial growth, while Figure 8 showed four large, morphologically similar colonies. This trend was consistent for both sites at concentrations of metals below 100 mg/L of metals. The exception was media containing Cu; at the lowest concentration tested, no growth was observed from Figure 8. In comparison, Iron Fist exhibited reduced colony forming units at 25 mg/L Cu relative to the control media, but colonies were large, approximately 5-10 mm in diameter (Fig. 21). All concentrations of Cr resulted in greater than 300 densely-packed colonies from Iron Fist, but only an average of 5 colonies from Figure 8. Interestingly, the number of colonies from both sites generally did not decrease with increasing concentration. The same phenomenon was also observed on Co media, the difference being that no growth from either site was observed beyond a concentration of 100 mg/L Co (Fig. 22). Iron Fist also exhibited growth of organisms up to a maximum of 200 mg/L Ni and 400 mg/L Zn. In contrast, Figure 8 did not show bacterial growth at any concentration of Zn, and only on media containing up to a maximum of 100 mg/L Ni.

It is important to note that morphological differentiation in colonies was extremely limited in the presence of all metals, as well as control media. This consideration is significant in relation to the taxonomic identities of the selected isolates described in the next section.


Figure 21. Comparison of bacterial growth from Iron Fist outflow on LBA control (left) vs. LBA + 25 mg/L Cu (right).



Figure 22. Comparison of bacterial growth from Iron Fist outflow in the presence of increasing concentrations of Co. Plates from left to right: LBA + 25 mg/L Co; LBA + 50 mg/L Co; LBA + 100 mg/L Co.

3.3.3 Isolate Taxonomy

_

The low morphological diversity of organisms growing on metal-amended media is explained by 16S analysis of eight pure isolates. Seven of the eight strains share 100% 16S rRNA gene sequence with a single species, *Bacillus wiedmannii*, a member of the *Bacillus cereus* group. The remaining isolate is also closely related, but its 16S rRNA gene sequence is more similar to *Bacillus cereus* (Table XIII).

Table XIII. Isolate identities determined by 16S sequence. 'Isolation Media' indicates the concentration of metal and metal type in the media from which the strain was isolated.

				Seq. Similarity	
Strain	Source	Closest Taxon	# of Bases	(%)	Isolation Media
FE-1	Figure 8 Outflow	Bacillus wiedmannii	586	100	50 mg/L Co
FE-2	Figure 8 Outflow	Bacillus wiedmannii	943	100	100 mg/L Co
FE-3	Figure 8 Outflow	Bacillus cereus	670	100	100 mg/L Ni
IF-1	Iron Fist Outflow	Bacillus wiedmannii	913	100	400 mg/L Cr
IF-3	Iron Fist Outflow	Bacillus wiedmannii	836	100	100 mg/L Co
IF-5	Iron Fist Outflow	Bacillus wiedmannii	691	99	200 mg/L Ni
IF-6	Iron Fist Outflow	Bacillus wiedmannii	570	100	25 mg/L Cu
IF-8	Iron Fist Outflow	Bacillus wiedmannii	846	100	200 mg/L Zn

3.3.4 Examination of isolates for cross metal tolerance

All isolates show marked tolerance to each of the five metals examined in this study. Although virtually all isolates had identical 16S rRNA gene sequences, each displayed subtle differences in specific metal tolerance. Every strain grew at 600 mg/L Cr, the highest concentration tested (Table XIV). Thus, the minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) of Cr was not determined in this investigation. Cu appears to have the greatest inhibitory effect on organism growth (Table XV); the MIC of Cu for seven of the eight strains is 400 mg/L. In the presence of Ni and Co, roughly half of the isolates displayed tolerance to 400 mg/L (Table XVI, XVII). All strains exhibit growth at 400 mg/L Zn (Table XVIII). Generally, 600 mg/L

represents the MIC for all strains in the presence of all metals tested, excluding Cr. For reference diameters of each isolate grown on LBA, refer to Appendix E.

Conc. in Strain **Isolation Media** LBA Cr 25 Cr 50 Cr 100 Cr 200 Cr 400 Cr 600 FE-1 50 mg/L Co ++++ ++++ ++++ ++++ ++++ +++ ++ FE-2 100 mg/L Co ++++ ++++ ++++ ++++ ++++ +++ ++ FE-3 100 mg/L Ni ++++ ++++ ++++ ++++ ++++ +++ ++ IF-1 400 mg/L Cr ++++ ++ ++++ ++++ +++ +++ ++ IF-3 100 mg/L Co ++++ +++ ++++ ++ ++++ +++ ++ IF-5 200 mg/L Ni ++++ ++++ ++++ ++++ ++++ +++ ++ IF-6 25 mg/L Cu +++ ++++ ++++ ++++ ++++ +++ ++ IF-8 200 mg/L Zn ++++ ++++ ++++ ++++ +++ +++ ++

Table XIV. Growth of isolates in the presence of increasing concentrations of Cr. Concentrations are in mg/L. Growth score is relative to observed growth on LBA without metals.

Table XV. Growth of isolates in the presence of increasing concentrations of Cu. Concentrations are in mg/L. Growth score is relative to observed growth on LBA without metals.

	Conc. in							
Strain	Isolation Media	LBA	Cu 25	Cu 50	Cu 100	Cu 200	Cu 400	Cu 600
FE-1	50 mg/L Co	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	-	-
FE-2	100 mg/L Co	++++	++++	++++	++++	-	-	-
FE-3	100 mg/L Ni	++++	++++	++++	++++	-	-	-
IF-1	400 mg/L Cr	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	-	-
IF-3	100 mg/L Co	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	+++	-
IF-5	200 mg/L Ni	++++	++++	++++	++++	-	-	-
IF-6	25 mg/L Cu	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	-	-
IF-8	200 mg/L Zn	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++	-	-

	Conc. in							
Strain	Isolation Media	LBA	Co 25	Co 50	Co 100	Co 200	Co 400	Co 600
FE-1	50 mg/L Co	++++	++++	++++	++	+	-	-
FE-2	100 mg/L Co	++++	++++	++++	++	+	-	-
FE-3	100 mg/L Ni	++++	++++	++++	+++	+	-	-
IF-1	400 mg/L Cr	++++	++++	++++	++	+	-	-
IF-3	100 mg/L Co	++++	++++	++++	++	+	-	-
IF-5	200 mg/L Ni	++++	++++	++++	++	++	+	-
IF-6	25 mg/L Cu	++++	++++	++++	+++	+++	+++	-
IF-8	200 mg/L Zn	++++	++++	++++	+++	+++	+++	-

Table XVI. Growth of isolates in the presence of increasing concentrations of Co. Concentrations are in mg/L. Growth score is relative to observed growth on LBA without metals.

Table XVII. Growth of isolates in the presence of increasing concentrations of Ni. Concentrations are in mg/L. Growth score is relative to observed growth on LBA without metals.

	Conc. in							
Strain	Isolation Media	LBA	Ni 25	Ni 50	Ni 100	Ni 200	Ni 400	Ni 600
FE-1	50 mg/L Co	++++	++++	++++	++++	+++	-	-
FE-2	100 mg/L Co	++++	++++	++++	++++	+++	-	-
FE-3	100 mg/L Ni	++++	++++	++++	++++	+++	-	-
IF-1	400 mg/L Cr	++++	++++	++++	++++	+++	++	-
IF-3	100 mg/L Co	++++	++++	++++	++++	+++	++	-
IF-5	200 mg/L Ni	++++	++++	++++	++++	+++	++	-
IF-6	25 mg/L Cu	++++	++++	++++	++++	+++	++	-
IF-8	200 mg/L Zn	++++	++++	++++	++++	+++	++	-

Table XVIII. Growth of isolates in the presence of increasing concentrations of Zn. Concentrations are in mg/L. Growth score is relative to observed growth on LBA without metals.

	Conc. in							
Strain	Isolation Media	LBA	Zn 25	Zn 50	Zn 100	Zn 200	Zn 400	Zn 600
FE-1	50 mg/L Co	++++	++++	++++	+++	+++	++	-
FE-2	100 mg/L Co	++++	++++	++++	+++	+++	++	-
FE-3	100 mg/L Ni	++++	++++	++++	++++	+++	++	-
IF-1	400 mg/L Cr	++++	++++	++++	+++	++	++	-
IF-3	100 mg/L Co	++++	++++	++++	+++	++	++	-
IF-5	200 mg/L Ni	++++	++++	++++	+++	++	++	-
IF-6	25 mg/L Cu	++++	++++	++++	+++	++	++	-
IF-8	200 mg/L Zn	++++	++++	++++	+++	++	++	-

3.3.5 Morphological variation in the presence of metals

Many strains exhibit various coloration in response to the presence of Ni and Cu. Furthermore, the color typically intensifies with increasing metal concentration. On plates supplemented with Cu, strains exhibit an orange-brown color that darkens with increasing Cu concentration (Fig. 23); no coloration is observed on control media without metal, or in the presence of any other metals like Zn or Cr. The same organisms also display a dark green coloration in the presence of one specific concentration of Ni, at 200 mg/L; interestingly, this is not observed in the presence of any other concentration of Ni (Fig. 24,25). Phase contrast microscopy showed that cells growing in the presence of 200 mg/L Ni are associated with numerous dark particles several times the size of an average cell, and are not present when viewing cells grown on LBA without Ni (Fig. 26).



Figure 23. Growth of four *B. wiedmannii* strains on LBA control (left plate in A, B, and C) vs increasing concentration of Cu (right plate in A, B, and C). The orange-brown pigmentation darkened with increasing Cu concentration.



Figure 24. Growth of five *B. wiedmannii* strains (numbered 20-24 in the top half of the Petri plate) on various media A) LBA control; B) 100 mg/L Ni; C) 200 mg/L Ni; D) 400 mg/L Ni. Green pigmentation was observed only on media with 200 mg/L Ni.



Figure 25. Green pigmentation exhibited by two *B. wiedmannii* isolates growing in the presence of 200 mg/L Ni



Figure 26. Phase contrast images of microbial biomass from IF-5, a *B. wiedmannii* isolate, grown on LBA (left) vs in the presence of 200 mg/L Ni (right). Cells grown on Ni-supplemented media are associated with numerous refractive particles not observed with cells grown on LBA.

3.3.6 Metal removal capacity of isolate IF-3

B. wiedmannii strain, IF-3, was examined for ability to biomineralize or otherwise remove Ni from aqueous solution. ICP analysis of culture filtrate determined that there was no significant decrease in metal concentration facilitated by IF-3, and no observable precipitates were noted in culture media. Initial Ni concentration in media was measured to be 211.41 mg/L; post-growth of IF-3, the concentration was

measured to be 207.94 mg/L Ni. This results in a 1.7% total reduction in Ni concentration, and is well within the margin of error for the instrument.

3.4 Discussion

A significant dichotomy between growth of organisms from Iron Fist and Figure 8 is evident from the observed results. In all cases, even when no metals were present, a greater number of bacteria could be cultivated from Iron Fist than Figure 8 with the given culturing conditions. Furthermore, colonies observed on all media, especially those containing metals, appeared morphologically identical. In fact, it has been previously shown that using elevated trace metal concentrations to culture thermophiles from hot springs in Yellowstone results in a limited diversity of organisms (Meyer-Dombard et al. 2012). Considering that the concentrations used in the present study are far beyond typical levels used in cultivation, and that organisms were cultured in mesophilic conditions, an even lower bacterial diversity may be expected. Unsurprisingly, 16S rRNA gene sequence analysis confirmed that three isolates from Figure 8 and five isolates from Iron Fist all share nearly identical sequences and essentially belong to one species. However, between different strains of the same species, considerable variability is observed in metal tolerance. This demonstrates that these organisms may be more diverse than is evidenced by 16S rRNA gene sequencing alone. A recent study found that a psychrotolerant bacterium isolated from raw milk collected from a dairy processing plant was closely related to the *Bacillus cereus* group based on 16S rRNA sequence; however, significant differences in phenotype and whole genome analysis warranted the classification of this organism as a new species within the B. cereus group named Bacillus wiedmannii (Miller et al. 2016). This is the same organism with which seven of eight isolates share 100% sequence similarity, the eighth being more closely related to B. cereus. Considering the stark difference in environment of origin alone, it is a reasonable assumption that phenotypic characteristics and whole genome analysis may very well distinguish one or more of these isolates as novel species. This study marks the first isolation of metal-tolerant *B. wiedmannii* strains from an acidic hydrothermal spring.

Various coloration exhibited by isolates in the presence of metals is particularly intriguing. On Cucontaining media, the positive correlation between intensity of the brown color and Cu concentration suggests potential intracellular accumulation or biomineralization of Cu minerals in cells. The only prior example of such a process by organisms grown on solid media is from a study published in 1993 involving the intracellular accumulation of Cu by *Pseudomonas syringae* (Cooksey 1993). However, in this study intracellular Cu accumulation resulted in blue pigmentation by *P. syringae*, rather than brown. In addition, the investigators added Cu in the form of CuSO₄, and thus Cu mineralization may have been coupled to SO₄²² reduction, which contrasts with methods used in this study. There are many examples of sulfatereducing bacteria capable of precipitating aqueous Cu as sulfide minerals (Panchanadikar and Kar 1993; Jalali 2000; White and Gadd 2000; Dave et al. 2010), though this does not apply to the present study as no sulfate was introduced into the media. Thus, it can only be presently speculated that intracellular Cu accumulation and precipitation may be occurring in these organisms. This may be confirmed through the use of Energy Dispersive X-ray Spectroscopy (EDXA) and Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM).

Similarly, green coloration by *Bacillus* organisms growing on Ni-supplemented media is so far undocumented to the best of the author's knowledge. Furthermore, it is anomalous that the color is only exhibited at a specific concentration of Ni. One possibility is suggested considering the overwhelming presence of Ni and the specific color of the biomass. Ni-oxide minerals are green in color and have even shown to be synthesized by metal-tolerant *Microbacterium* sp. (Sathyavathi et al. 2014). However, the study in question found NiO biosynthesis in liquid media supplemented with 2000 mg/L NiSO₄, and is therefore an insufficient explanation of the present results. Phase contrast images showing the presence of relatively large particles associated with cells may be considered further support for the possible extracellular precipitation of Ni-associated minerals. The particles are two to three times the size of an average cell and may indicate mineral-encrusted cells or aggregates of a Ni mineral formed by expulsion of Ni from the cytoplasm. Further support for this hypothesis may be provided by a previous study describing the secretion of Se from cells of *Pseudoalteromonas* grown on Se-supplemented agar media (Rathgeber et al. 2002). In this study, the Se globules appeared as light-refractive particles visible in phase contrast microscopy, and bear resemblance to results shown here. As with the potential Cu precipitates, EDXA and SEM may confirm this hypothesis.

The remarkable degree of metal tolerance exhibited by organisms from these hydrothermal environments suggests a high degree of adaptation. However, metal concentrations in such springs are orders of magnitude less than even the lowest concentrations used in this study (refer to Table XII), and so another explanation must be proposed. Typical trace metal concentrations in various springs in Yellowstone are known to vary widely depending on pH and temperature and may range from a few hundred to thousands of micrograms per liter (Spear et al. 2005), bordering on the lower end of concentrations used in this study. Therefore, it is expected that these organisms would able to tolerate relatively low concentrations of these metals at any given time in their natural habitat. However, it may be possible that the tolerance mechanism used by these microorganisms functions successfully until the concentration exceeds the efficiency of the mechanism, and thus results in organism death. For example, ICP analysis of culture filtrate from Ni-supplemented media inoculated with strain IF-3 showed no change in Ni concentration. This suggests the use of an ion pump that functions efficiently at concentrations around 200 mg/L, but beyond 400 mg/L, IF-3 is completely inhibited from growth. It is reasonable then to assume that an efflux pump regulating low concentrations of intracellular trace metals would become overburdened at the highest concentrations used in this study. Similarly, the exhibited tolerance to multiple metals may further indicate non-specificity in the expulsion of these ions via an efflux pump, especially when considering that these metals are all divalent cations.

3.5 Conclusion

The results show that highly metal tolerant organisms exist and can be cultured from hydrothermal springs in Yellowstone National Park. Microbial diversity, however, is very limited with respect to the implemented culturing conditions. All organisms cultivated were highly related, and all but one belong to the species *Bacillus wiedmannii*. This study represents the first isolation of metal-tolerant *B. wiedmannii* strains from acidic hot spring environments. Furthermore, these organisms may represent potentially useful strains in biotechnology when considering the possibility of intracellular accumulation and biomineralization of metal complexes. However, further analysis must be performed to confirm the nature of the proposed mineral precipitates, and elucidate any industrial potential exhibited by these organisms.

IV. Cellulolytic Bacterial Communities from an Alkaline Serpentinizing Spring in the Zambales Ophiolite, the Philippines

4.1 Introduction

Most primary production on Earth results in the synthesis of cellulose, making it one of the most important organic molecules on the planet. The base structure of cellulose consists of thousands of glucose molecules connected by β -1,4 glycosidic bonds arranged in a linear chain. This structural homogeneity allows for crystallization through hydrogen bonding between multiple chains, and results in the formation of tightly packed microfibrils which can then twist into rope-like structures for additional rigidity. This structure causes cellulose to be highly resistant to degradation, and may even allow for the preservation of cellulosic biomass for millions of years in optimal conditions (Wilson 2011). Whereas the general composition of cellulose is simple, heterogeneity in chemical components results in a suite of related compounds. The most common heteropolymers of cellulose are hemicellulose and lignin, which are composed of multiple types of sugars arranged with a higher degree of structural complexity. Hemicellulose is the second most abundant organic compound following cellulose, and is composed of up to five different sugar monomers with a branching structure. Lignin has a highly heterogeneous composition and complex structure, making it the most recalcitrant compound in the cellulose family.

Considering that cellulose is the most abundant organic compound, it follows that the microorganisms capable of degrading this substrate play a critical role in global carbon cycling. Bacteria have evolved to utilize enzymes known as cellulases to catalyze the breakdown of cellulose, but no single enzyme is sufficient for complete degradation. Cellulolytic bacteria have developed a suite of enzymes that synergistically deconstruct cellulose and make it accessible for metabolism. Cellulases may be generally categorized as endo- or exoglucanases. Endoglucanases randomly cleave segments of the chain, and thereby produce new ends upon which exoglucanases can attach to further break down segments into cellobiose, the disaccharide subunit of cellulose (Lynd et al. 2002). The final enzyme that cleaves free

subunits is a glucosidase, also known as cellobiase. The specific mechanism by which these enzymes are implemented, however, may vary between organisms. For example, aerobic cellulolytic bacteria release cellulases in copious concentrations that begin deconstructing the cellulose structure in unison, while anaerobes use a cellulosome, an extracellular multi-enzyme system anchored to a single structural protein.

Due to the numerous enzymes required and structural soundness of cellulose, complete hydrolysis to CO₂ and H₂O is not easily achieved by natural microbial communities, much less single organisms (Schwarz 2001). Fortunately, many intermediate products of cellulose degradation are valuable resources. Sugars like glucose and starch produced from partial digestion of cellulose are useful as food products or chemical commodities, but fermentation of these sugars to produce bioethanol is currently of greater interest. With growing concern over the continued use of fossil fuels, cellulose represents a cheap and readily accessible source of renewable energy. However, there are still many challenges to overcome in order to make cellulose a feasible alternative fuel source. Mainly, researchers seek to accelerate the slow rate of enzymatic hydrolysis and to discover a single-step process for direct conversion of biomass to fuel (Schwarz 2001; Lynd et al. 2002). Further study of cellulolytic microorganisms from diverse habitats and discovery of new effective enzymes is required to overcome these challenges.

Cellulolytic bacteria are physiologically diverse and can be found in a variety of habitats including soils, aquatic environments, and intestinal tracts of animals and insects (Cross 1981; Martin et al. 1991; Kopecný et al. 2004; Russell et al. 2009). While many studies focus solely on thermophilic cellulosedegraders due to their function in high-temperature bioreactors, mesophilic cellulose-degrading bacteria offer the benefit of lower energy costs associated with bioreactor operation (Rastogi et al. 2009). Examples of prominent mesophilic cellulolytic bacteria include *Bacillus, Ruminococcus, Micromonospora*, and *Streptomyces* (Lynd et al. 2002). The present study seeks to investigate mesophilic cellulolytic microbial communities in alkaline serpentinizing springs to elucidate which consortia are most abundant at high pH. Alkaline cellulose degradation has applications in many industries, including paper processing, detergent manufacturing, and biofuel production (Fujinami and Fujisawa 2010; Vilanova et al. 2012). Results from this study have strong implications in expanding strategies for culturing target organisms for alkaline cellulolysis.

4.2 Materials and Methods

4.2.1 Enrichment of cellulolytic bacteria in alkaline conditions

Environmental samples from sites ML2 and CC1 in Manleluag Springs National Park, Luzon, the Philippines were used for inoculation of enrichment cultures. For site descriptions and sampling information, refer to Chapter I, section 1.5.

Cellulolytic bacteria from environmental samples were cultured using a basal salts medium supplemented with cellulose as the sole carbon source. The recipe for the basal salts medium was adapted from Mohagheghi et al. (1986), and altered for the purposes of this study. In 1 L solution: 1.0 g NH₄Cl; 1.0 g KH₂PO₄; 0.1 g Na₂HPO₄·7H₂O; 0.2 g MgSO₄·7H₂O; CaCl₂·2H₂O; 0.5 g yeast extract; 1.25 g SigmaCell cellulose, microcrystalline 20 um particle size (Sigma-Aldrich); 1.25 g D-(+)-cellobiose (Sigma-Aldrich). For alkaline cultures, pH was adjusted with 10 M NaOH to values of 8, 9, 10, and 12. 10 mL of cellulose media was dispensed into Balsch tubes, and 100 uL of sediment-fluid slurry from environmental samples was used for inoculation. For anaerobic cultures, gas headspace was flushed with 95% N₂, 5% H₂. Cultures were incubated at 35°C. Gas headspace was refreshed at 7 days, and experiments were incubated for a total of 14 days.

4.2.2 Community analysis of environmental samples and enrichment cultures

DNA was extracted from environmental samples and enrichment cultures using PowerSoil[®] DNA Isolation Kit (MO BIO Laboratories, Inc., Carlsbad, CA, USA). PCR amplification of gDNA was performed using 27F/1492R primers, and products were verified with agarose gel electrophoresis. Next Generation Sequencing (NGS) of the 16S rRNA gene was carried out by DNA Services at the University of Illinois at Chicago. Region-specific primers (515F/806R) were used to amplify a segment of the 16S rRNA gene. FASTQ files were merged using PEAR (Paired-End Read Merger), and were then imported to CLCBio for quality and length trimming. A Q20 quality trim was performed and sequences <225 bp were discarded. Sequences were run through a QIIME pipeline (Caporaso et al. 2010). Chimeras and 515F/806R primers were removed from the dataset, and sequences were clustered and taxonomically classified. For relative abundance charts, OTU's with less than 1000 sequence reads were discarded.

4.2.3 Isolation and identification of cellulolytic bacteria from environmental samples

Cellulolytic bacteria were isolated using minimal (Mm) agar medium supplemented with carboxymethylcellulose (CMC) powder. Mm media consists of the following (in g/L): 1.0 g NaNO₃; 1.0 g K₂HPO₄; 0.5 g MgSO₄; 1.0 g KCl; 0.25 g yeast extract; 7.5 g bacteriological agar (Sigma-Aldrich); 5.0 g carboxymethylcellulose (Sigma-Aldrich). The pH was adjusted to 7.2. Media was autoclaved at 250°C for 40 min. 100 μ L aliquots of environmental samples were spread onto Mm-CMC agar with a sterile L-spreader, and incubated at 35°C for 7 days. Cellulase activity of colonies was determined using the Congo red staining technique as described by Meddeb-Mouelhi et al. (Meddeb-Mouelhi et al. 2014). CMC agar plates were flooded with 0.2% Congo red solution and allowed to stain for 15 min. Congo red solution was then decanted, and agar was de-stained by rinsing 3x with 1 M NaCl. Transparent clearings observed surrounding colonies demonstrates the inability of Congo red to bind with hydrolyzed CMC, and is indicative of endoglucanase activity by organisms. As Congo red is toxic to bacteria, colonies were

preselected and transferred to fresh Mm-CMC agar prior to staining. Colony locations were marked on Petri plates and given specific designations. After staining, selected isolates that were observed to produce a hydrolytic clearing zone were chosen for further analysis.

For procedures involving DNA extraction, 16S rRNA sequencing, and phylogenetic analyses of bacterial isolates, refer to Chapter II, section 2.2.4.

4.2.4 Screening of isolates for cellulose degradation in alkaline conditions

Isolated bacterial strains were examined for potential to utilize CMC in alkaline conditions. Mm-CMC agar media was adjusted to pH 8, 9, 10, and 11 using 10 M NaOH. Cell suspensions for each isolate were prepared from stock plate cultures, and 10 µL aliquots were spotted onto alkaline Mm-CMC plates. Plates were incubated at 35°C for 7 days. Cellulolytic activity was determined by presence of transparent clearing zones surrounding bacterial growth using the Congo red staining technique previously described.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Community analysis of serpentinizing environments

16S rRNA gene sequences reveal diverse phyla in environmental samples, and considerable variation between sites ML2 and CC1 (Fig. 27). The most abundant phyla in ML2 include *Actinobacteria* (~30%) and *Bacteroidetes* (~28%), followed by *Proteobacteria* (~15%) and *Firmicutes* (~10%). In contrast, CC1 is dominated by two main phyla, *Thermi* (~40%) and *Proteobacteria* (~35%), while *Actinobacteria* and *Bacteroidetes* represent <10% of the community. Total number of assembled sequences are shown in Table XIX in section 4.3.2.



Figure 27. Relative abundances of various phyla in environmental samples. "ML2" refers to Manleluag serpentinizing spring (source). "CC1" refers to a site 10 m down the outflow channel of ML2.

4.3.2 Community analysis of alkaline cellulolytic enrichment cultures

Turbidity and other visual changes were observed in aerobic and anaerobic cellulolytic cultures growing in alkaline conditions. Anaerobic cultures at pH 12 inoculated with ML2 exhibit black to dark green particles (1-2 mm) in lieu of the white cellulose powder initially added to the medium; no other cultures show morphological alteration of cellulose powder. Gas production is also demonstrated in many aerobic culture tubes as evidenced by the presence of bubbles in liquid; approximately 2 – 4 mL of gas was collected via syringe from ML2 and CC1 cultures at pH 8 – 10, while there was no discernible gas production at pH 12. Gases were not analyzed for composition.

Total number of assembled sequence reads for each culture and environmental samples are shown in Table XIX.

Table XIX. Total number of sequences obtained from 16S rRNA gene sequencing before and after quality trimming and chimera removal. Information is shown for environmental samples (env) and cellulolytic enrichment cultures.

Sample	Initial	Quality Trimmed
Manleluag 2 (env)	30762	30643
Caustic Cascade 1 (env)	60217	60051
CC1 pH 8 (aerobic)	64597	61800
CC1 pH 9 (aerobic)	75771	75087
CC1 pH 10 (aerobic)	86403	82798
CC1 pH 12 (aerobic)	81358	73449
ML2 pH 8 (aerobic)	112777	111790
ML2 pH 9 (aerobic)	107722	105840
ML2 pH 10 (aerobic)	123836	121908
ML2 pH 12 (aerobic)	94036	83059
CC1 pH 8 (anaerobic)	75155	72857
CC1 pH 9 (anaerobic)	71462	66231
CC1 pH 10 (anaerobic)	71331	69237
CC1 pH 12 (anaerobic)	114989	104953
ML2 pH 8 (anaerobic)	84706	81908
ML2 pH 9 (anaerobic)	127882	125002
ML2 pH 10 (anaerobic)	87334	80878
ML2 pH 12 (anaerobic)	99926	89051

All cellulolytic enrichments from both sites are almost exclusively dominated by bacteria belonging to the orders *Clostridiales* and *Bacillales* (Fig. 28), both of which are in the phylum *Firmicutes*. Some important distinctions can be made in community structure at the order level with varying culture conditions. In aerobic conditions, there are roughly equal abundances of *Clostridiales* and *Bacillales*, while there is a considerable community shift towards *Clostridiales* in anaerobic conditions. Furthermore, in all pH 12 cultures, members of the order *Clostridiales* account for more than 80% of the community, while there is a dramatic reduction in abundance of *Bacillales*. Another interesting point to consider is the appearance of *Enterobacteriales* only above pH 10 from CC1 samples; these organisms appear to be more abundant in aerobic conditions, and show a marked increase in in aerobic pH 12 culture.



Cellulolytic Enrichment Cultures from Manleluag Serpentinizing Seep, Philippines (Order Level)

Figure 28. Order level comparison of microbial communities in cellulolytic enrichment cultures from ML2 and CC1. Colored bars represent relative abundances (%) of various taxa. Samples are grouped by site and then by aerobic or anaerobic conditions. Site names and pH are denoted to the left of the bars. Aerobic vs. anaerobic conditions are denoted to the right of the bars.

At the family level, most cellulolytic cultures are dominated by *Clostridiaceae* and *Bacillaceae* (Fig. 29). The exceptions are presented by the most alkaline culture conditions. At pH 12, roughly 20 – 30% of the community belong to the family *Veillonellaceae*; interestingly, these organisms constitute >20% of the community above pH 10 and exhibit relatively consistent abundance in both aerobic and anaerobic conditions. Other families that comprise a significant fraction of pH 12 cellulolytic enrichments include *Lachnospiraceae*, *Christensenellaceae*, and *Ruminococcaceae*. In pH 12 enrichments, there generally does not appear to be a significant difference in composition between aerobic and anaerobic cultures, though there are small variations in relative abundances of taxa; one exception is that *Enterobacteriaceae* from CC1 are approximately 90% more abundant in aerobic conditions at pH 12.



Cellulolytic Enrichment Cultures from Manleluag Serpentinizing Seep, Philippines (Family Level)

Figure 29. Family level comparison of microbial communities in cellulolytic enrichment cultures from ML2 and CC1. Colored bars represent relative abundances (%) of various taxa. Samples are grouped by site and then by aerobic or anaerobic conditions. The sampling site and pH are denoted to the left of the bars. Aerobic vs anaerobic conditions are denoted to the right of the bars.

Cellulolytic enrichment cultures exhibit similar relationships at the genus level. Generally, most cultures are dominated by *Clostridium* and *Bacillus*, but more generic variation can be observed with respect to oxygen availability and pH (Fig. 30). For example, *Ethanoligenens* comprises about a quarter of the community in pH 8 anaerobic cultures from ML2, but are significantly reduced in the presence of oxygen at the same pH. One of the most striking differences is the drastic reduction of *Clostridium* coupled to the increase of *Coprococcus* organisms at pH 12 in both aerobic and anaerobic cultures from both ML2 and CC1. *Coprococcus* accounts for approximately 20 – 30% of the community at pH 12, yet appear to be completely absent at lower alkalinity. Similarly, *Sporomusa* species also appear exclusively at pH 12, and are more predominant in ML2 than CC1; it is also worth noting that their abundance remains constant in both aerobic and anaerobic conditions.



Cellulolytic Enrichment Cultures from Manleluag Serpentinizing Seep, Philippines (Genus Level)

Figure 30. Genus level comparison of microbial communities in cellulolytic enrichment cultures from ML2 and CC1. Colored bars represent relative abundances (%) of various taxa. Samples are grouped by site and then by aerobic or anaerobic conditions. The sampling site and pH are denoted to the left of the bars. Aerobic vs anaerobic conditions are denoted to the right of the bars.

4.3.3 Isolation and identification of cellulolytic bacteria from environmental samples

Subsequent to staining of CMC-agar plates with Congo red solution, zones of clearing were observed surrounding several of the selected colonies (Fig. 31). In total, five of the selected isolates were determined to exhibit cellulolytic potential and were purified via two to three transfers to fresh media. Partial 16S rRNA sequences determined that all five isolates are closely related. Four strains belong to the genus *Micromonospora*, while one is 98.6% related to *Catellatospora*, also within the radiation of *Micromonosporaceae* (Table XIX). Phylogenetic relationships of the isolates and their closest taxonomic relatives are demonstrated in Fig. 32.



Figure 31. CMC-agar plates inoculated with ML2 before (left) and after (right) staining with 0.2% Congo red solution. Lighter zones of clearing on the stained plates indicate zones of hydrolysis surrounding cellulolytic colonies.

Strain	Source	Closest Taxon	Similarity (%)
ML2-E	ML2 seep	Micromonospora sediminis	99.41
ML2-G	ML2 seep	Micromonospora peucetia	99.60
ML2-I	ML2 seep	Micromonospora soli	98.74
CC1-C	CC1 outflow	Catellatospora chokoriensis	98.64
CC1-D	CC1 outflow	Micromonospora terminaliae	99.52

Table XX. Cellulolytic bacteria isolated from serpentinizing environments and their closest taxonomic relative as determined by 16S rRNA sequences.



0.01

Figure 32. Phylogenetic dendrogram of isolates obtained in this study (denoted with red diamonds) and their position within the radiation of members of the genus *Micromonospora* and closely related taxa. The percentage of replicate trees in which the associated taxa clustered together in the bootstrap test (1000 replicates) are shown next to the branches. Bar, 0.01 nt substitutions per site.

4.3.4 Screening of isolates for cellulose degradation in alkaline conditions

All isolates were positive for growth on control CMC-agar media which was adjusted to pH 7. Additionally, all strains were positive for growth at pH 8. Only ML2-E and ML2-G exhibit growth at pH 9, and only ML2-G can grow at pH 10. After staining, a zone of hydrolysis could be seen surrounding growth of isolates on control media, pH 8, and pH 9. At pH 9, ML2 -E produces a larger clearing zone than ML2-G (Fig. 33), indicating more cellulase production by this organism. Although one isolate displays growth at pH 10, a lighter clearing zone could not be distinguished due to darker tinting of the media at extreme alkalinity. Therefore, it is indeterminable whether ML2-G is capable of degrading cellulose at pH 10.



Figure 33. Zones of hydrolysis surrounding bacterial growth on pH 9 CMC-agar stained with Congo red; clearings indicate cellulase activity only by strains ML2-E and ML2-G.

4.4 Discussion

4.4.1 Microbial taxa in alkaline cellulolytic enrichment cultures

Whereas there is diversity seen among bacterial phyla in the environmental samples, all cellulolytic enrichment cultures consist exclusively of organisms in the *Firmicutes*. These results agree with those from another study investigating cellulolytic ability of microorganisms from the deep subsurface (Rastogi et al. 2009), reinforcing the importance of this particular phylum not only in global carbon cycling, but potentially in biofuel research as well. While the following discussion assumes cellulolytic activity by all abundant taxa indicated by 16S rRNA gene analysis, it must be mentioned that there is a likelihood that some organisms in enrichments may not be active cellulose degraders, but are utilizing the byproducts of cellulose degradation for metabolism. These enrichments represent communities, and the community structure may very well involve those organisms benefiting from the metabolic action and waste products of other species. For example, sugars formed from cellulose hydrolysis may facilitate abundant growth of heterotrophic bacteria living alongside cellulose-degrading organisms. However, all major taxa that will be discussed have been previously cited in studies as having cellulolytic potential, and thus they will be treated as such for discussion purposes.

As expected, *Bacillus* and *Clostridium* dominate all cultures, as these genera are known to harbor many cellulolytic organisms (Lynd et al. 2002; Rastogi et al. 2009). However, interesting variations are exhibited with changing pH and oxygen availability. Most notably, it is demonstrated that extreme alkalinity (pH 12) significantly reduces the abundance of *Clostridium*, suggesting that enzymes of most of these organisms may be limited in high pH environments and applications. This is important when considering that organisms like *C. thermocellum, C. cellulolyticum,* and *C. cellulovorans* are commonly studied and utilized in industrial cellulose degradation (Lynd et al. 2002). In contrast, *Bacillaceae* appear to maintain relatively constant abundances across varying pH and oxygen availability, implying that their cellulases may have a more widespread utility in biotechnology. Many cellulolytically active organisms at this end of the pH spectrum appear to be those commonly found in animal intestinal tracts, such as those in the families *Ruminococcaceae* and *Enterobacteriaceae*. This is intriguing as digestive fluids in animals are typically acidic, but there are examples of cellulolytic insects with extremely alkaline midguts that harbor appropriately alkalitolerant symbiotic microbes (Vilanova et al. 2012); however, the extremely alkalitolerant taxa identified in this study largely do not correlate with those identified in alkaline insect digestive tracts, intimating that high pH cellulose degraders in serpentinizing systems are unique. The genera *Coprococcus* and *Ruminococcus* are especially prevalent in pH 12 cellulolytic enrichments, and are predominant organisms of the human colon (Kopecný et al. 2004) and in the rumen of livestock animals (Russell et al. 2009), respectively. This provides strong motivation for potentially expanding the search for alkaline-stable cellulases to encompass human and animal digestive tracts, as well as serpentinizing ecosystems.

The abundance of the genus *Ethanoligenens* in pH 8 anaerobic cultures of ML2 provides compelling support for potential applications of microbiota from serpentinizing environments in biotechnology. These strictly anaerobic organisms demonstrate the ability to produce many valuable fermentation products such as ethanol, acetic acid, and hydrogen (Xing et al. 2006). Interestingly, this genus only contains one validly described species, *Ethanoligenens harbinense*, that was initially isolated from activated sludge of molasses wastewater (Xing et al. 2006). Thus, this study marks the first cultivation of organisms in this genus from serpentinizing fluid-associated sediments, reinforcing the claim that these environments harbor many biotechnologically relevant microorganisms that are yet to be discovered. Considering the prevalence of *Ethanoligenens* only in pH 8 cultures, it may be speculated that these organisms are sensitive to more alkaline conditions, providing valuable data that may be used in optimization of cellulose fermentation strategies using enzymes from members of this genus.

4.4.2 Cellulolytic bacterial isolates and alkaline cellulolysis

Surprisingly, the five isolates obtained in this study are not representative of any of the predominant taxa identified in enrichment cultures. Micromonosporaceae belong to the phylum Actinobacteria, ubiquitous soil-dwelling organisms that also consist of numerous cellulolytic bacteria (Schwarz 2001; Lynd et al. 2002). Interestingly, these bacteria have been previously detected in hyperalkaline serpentinizing springs in the Voltri Massif in Italy (Quemeneur et al. 2015), implying that they may easily adapt to tolerate the extreme conditions of this particular environment. Prior studies involving cellulolytic ability by Micromonospora, however, are limited and primarily constrained to soils and freshwater habitats (Cross 1981; De Menezes et al. 2008). The isolates from this study demonstrate the production of cellulases in alkaline media up to pH 9 and possibly at pH 10, although this was not able to be confirmed using the methods described. This marks the first evidence for cellulose degradation by organisms in this genus in the alkaline pH range. It is important to consider that, while the CMC-Congo red staining technique has been shown to be reliable in detecting endoglucanase production, it has been found that many organisms capable of degrading CMC are not always capable of hydrolyzing crystalline cellulose such as that used in enrichment cultures (Schwarz 2001; Lynd et al. 2002). Thus, further investigation is needed to determine the true cellulolytic potential of these isolates. It is also worth noting that one of these isolates, designated CC1-C, potentially represents a novel species of Catellatospora based on 16S rRNA gene sequence, and warrants further physiological and biochemical characterization.

4.5 Conclusion

Microbial biotechnology has been implemented by humans for thousands of years, but the current rate of growth and expansion in the field is unprecedented. A rapidly growing global population necessitates the discovery of novel approaches to fulfilling increasing energy demands, and microbial conversion of lignocellulose to biofuel has the potential to be the most cost-efficient and environmentally friendly solution. This study provides a comprehensive analysis of cellulose-degrading communities from serpentinizing environments that are active at a range of extremely alkaline conditions. Data from this study may be used in targeted culturing of cellulolytic bacteria that demonstrate functionality in alkaline conditions that are often characteristic of various industrial processes. Ultimately, it has been shown that while some prominent cellulolytic taxa are ubiquitous, other less-studied organisms may display increased efficiency in certain physicochemical extremes, and increased research is necessary to properly evaluate the potential of these microorganisms.

V. Cellulolytic Bacterial Communities from Acidic Hydrothermal Springs, Yellowstone National Park, WY

5.1 Introduction

Biotechnologically-relevant, cellulolytic organisms are commonly thermophiles that can function at extreme temperatures (Mohagheghi et al. 1986; Rainey et al. 1993; Schwarz 2001; Hamilton-Brehm et al. 2010). This is because bioreactors operating at high temperatures can more quickly and thoroughly degrade cellulose than low-temperature reactors, with the caveat of being more costly to operate (Shiratori et al. 2006). Therefore, hot spring environments are logical study sites for the discovery of cellulases produced by natural microbial communities that are stable at high temperatures as well as low pH. Many hot springs are characterized by inherently low organic carbon content (see Table II in Chapter I, section 1.6); therefore, indigenous microbial communities may benefit from the addition of exogenous carbon from meteoric runoff, which may include cellulose from vegetation surrounding hot springs. While many studies have described thermophilic, cellulolytic bacteria from hot springs, investigation seeks to elucidate thermophilic, cellulolytic communities from hydrothermal environments that function at a range of acidic conditions for potential applications in biotechnology.

5.2 Materials and Methods

5.2.1 Enrichment of cellulolytic bacteria in acidic conditions

Environmental samples from several hot springs in Yellowstone National Park were used for inoculation of enrichment cultures. Sites include "Wood Chip Beach", "Log Jam", and "Obsidian Pool". For site descriptions and sampling information, refer to Chapter I, section 1.6.

For enrichment media recipe, refer to Chapter IV, section 4.2.1. A basal salts medium was used with pH adjusted to 2, 3, 4, and 5 using 10 M HCl. For anaerobic cultures, gas headspace was flushed with

95% N_2 , 5% H_2 . Gas headspace was refreshed at 7 days. Cultures were incubated at 65°C for a total of 14 days. Uninoculated controls containing growth media were incubated alongside enrichment cultures.

5.2.2 Community analysis of environmental samples and enrichment cultures

Refer to Chapter IV, section 4.2.2 for procedures involving DNA extraction, PCR, and 16S rRNA gene sequencing for environmental samples and enrichment cultures.

5.2.3 Quantification of cellulolytic potential in hydrothermal samples

The three environmental samples from Yellowstone National Park were examined for cellulolytic potential using a filter paper degradation assay. The assay involves adding a known mass of filter paper to culture media, inoculating with environmental sample, and determining change in weight of the filters post-incubation. Whatman 0.2 µm cellulose filters were cut into 0.5 x 0.3 cm strips and weighed prior to addition into culture media; the media recipe is identical to the basal salts medium described in Chapter 4, section 4.1.1 but without cellobiose or cellulose powder. Instead, approximately 0.03-0.04 g of paper strips (2-3 strips) were added to each culture as the sole source of carbon. Additionally, media was adjusted to pH values of 3, 4, and 5 with 10 M HCl to determine degradation potential in varying acidity. 100 µL of hydrothermal fluid-sediment sample was used to inoculate serum vials containing 10 mL of basal salts medium and pre-weighed paper strips at each pH. Only aerobic conditions were used for filter paper degradation experiments. Serum vials were incubated at 65°C for 14 days. After incubation was complete, paper residue was collected via centrifugation of cultures at 3500 rpm for 30 minutes and oven-dried overnight at 80°C. Dry paper residue was weighed to determine mass loss attributed to degradation of cellulose filters.

5.2.4 Obsidian Pool cellulolytic culture analysis

A paper filter-degrading culture from Obsidian Pool (pH 4) was analyzed for microbial community composition. DNA was extracted from the filter paper culture and community analysis was performed as described in Chapter IV, section 4.2.2.

5.3 Results

5.3.1 Community analysis of hydrothermal field sites

Total number of sequences obtained from 16S rRNA gene sequencing for environmental samples and cellulolytic enrichment cultures is shown in Table XXI. Community analysis reveals remarkable similarity of phyla and their relative abundances between each of the three hydrothermal sites. In general, *Bacteroidetes, Firmicutes,* and *Proteobacteria* are the major constituents of each spring (Fig. 34). Some notable differences include the higher abundance of *Aquificae* in Obsidian Pool relative to the other two sites, and the presence of *Thermi* exclusively in "Log Jam."

Sample	Initial	Quality Trimmed
Log Jam (150729LJ)	43489	39045
Wood Chip Beach (150728)	37632	33477
Obsidian Pool (150727)	46921	41288
LJ pH 3 culture	36138	33631
LJ pH 4 culture	21947	20170
OP pH 3 culture	25429	23001
OP pH 4 culture	24025	20634
OP pH 5 culture	41395	34842
WCB pH 4 culture	134434	126721
WCB pH 5 culture	30561	26647

Table XXI. Total number of sequences obtained from 16S rRNA gene sequencing before and after quality trimming. Information is shown for environmental samples and cellulolytic enrichment cultures.



Figure 34. Relative abundances of various phyla in three hydrothermal springs in Yellowstone National Park (YNP). Site names are listed on the left; sample inventory number is shown in parentheses.

5.3.2 Community analysis of acidic cellulolytic enrichment cultures

Several cellulolytic enrichment cultures from each site appeared turbid after 1 week of incubation. Generally, aerobic cultures appeared more turbid than anaerobic cultures. In fact, most anaerobic cultures visually resembled uninoculated controls. Additionally, at the lowest pH, there was no evidence for microbial growth in any of the cultures when compared visually with the uninoculated controls. Turbidity of culture media appeared to increase with increasing pH. Thus, only the enrichments that exhibited observable growth (turbidity) relative to controls were analyzed for microbial community composition. All anaerobic and pH 2 enrichments were therefore excluded from community analysis.

At the phylum level, cellulolytic enrichments from all three hydrothermal sites are comprised of similar bacterial taxa in relatively equal abundances. In all cultures, *Bacteroidetes, Firmicutes*, and *Proteobacteria* are the most abundant, and each represent roughly 25-30% of the total community (Fig. 35). The only notable difference is in the Wood Chip Beach pH 4 enrichment, that is dominated by approximately 80% *Firmicutes*.



Figure 35. Relative abundances of various phyla in cellulolytic enrichments of environmental samples from three hot springs in Yellowstone National Park (YNP). Site designations and pH are denoted on the left: WCB = "Wood Chip Beach"; OP = "Obsidian Pool"; LJ = "Log Jam"

Comparison of enrichments at the family level reveals a similar diversity. Generally, the most abundant groups common to all cultures are S24-7 and *Streptococcaceae* (Fig. 36). Otherwise, there are limited differences in community composition between sites and varying pH. One interesting observation is the presence of *Enterobacteriaceae* in Obsidian Pool and Log Jam enrichments, but not in Wood Chip Beach enrichments. The Wood Chip Beach pH 4 culture that was previously noted as being comprised almost entirely of *Firmicutes*, primarily consists of bacteria in the family *Alicyclobacillaceae*.



Figure 36. Relative abundances of various taxa at the family level in cellulolytic enrichment cultures from three hot springs in Yellowstone National Park (YNP). Site designations and pH are denoted on the left. [WCB = "Wood Chip Beach"; OP = "Obsidian Pool"; L = "Log Jam"]

5.3.3 Quantification of cellulolytic potential in hydrothermal samples

After one week of incubation, only one culture exhibited obvious degradation of filter paper strips. Paper strips from all other cultures were dried and weighed, but no change was observed in the mass of filter paper from any other culture at any pH. Comparatively, the paper strips in the Obsidian Pool pH 4 culture were completely deconstructed, leaving a white amorphous residue in the serum vial. In lieu of weighing the sample, the culture was analyzed for microbial community composition to elucidate the identity of the highly cellulolytic consortium.

5.3.4 Obsidian Pool paper filter-degrading culture analysis

Community analysis reveals that the filter paper-degrading culture is predominantly composed of *Clostridiaceae* (Fig. 37). The second most abundant taxon is *Caldicellulosiruptoraceae*. Other families

comprise <3% of the total community. The corresponding dominant genera in the culture are *Thermoanaerobacterium* and *Caldicellulosiruptor*.



Figure 37. Relative abundances of dominant taxa at the family level in Obsidian Pool pH 4 filter paper culture. The smaller pie chart reveals detailed composition of the 8% wedge in the larger pie chart.

5.4 Discussion

5.4.1 Microbial taxa in acidic cellulolytic enrichment cultures

Community analysis reveals diverse groups of bacteria present in all cellulolytic enrichments. Interestingly, there are no significant variations between enrichments from different springs or in relation to changing pH. This potentially suggests that utilization of cellulose in these acidic hydrothermal environments may be common to many organisms across the same general phyla. This is supported by the overall lack of a single dominant phylum or family in any given culture. However, an alternate
explanation presents when comparing enrichment culture communities to those of the environmental samples. The high degree of similarity between environmental communities and enrichment cultures predicates the likelihood that most enrichments may not have been successful.

One exception is represented by "Wood Chip Beach" pH 4 enrichments, that were found to consist almost exclusively of *Alicyclobacillus*. The type species of this genus, *A. acidocaldarius*, was originally isolated from acidic fluids in Norris Geyser Basin, and incidentally exhibits optimal growth in the conditions used for enrichments in this study (Darland and Brock 1971). Furthermore, this species has also been shown to demonstrate optimal cellulolytic activity at pH 4 and 80°C (Eckert and Schneider 2003), the same pH at which this organism is most abundant. As "Wood Chip Beach" exhibits abundant cellulosic substrate and is located in Norris Geyser Basin, the findings from this study support previous work regarding *Alicyclobacillus* and cellulose degradation in its natural acidic habitat. Strong evidence is therefore presented for the successful enumeration of cellulolytic bacteria in this enrichment.

Interestingly, one taxon, S24-7, is common to every culture and is also one of the most abundant. S24-7, a family in the *Bacteroidales*, represents roughly a quarter of the community in most enrichments, and is especially prevalent at pH 3 in "Log Jam" and "Obsidian Pool." This family, also known as *Muribaculum*, is well cited as being the most dominant bacterial group in mouse intestines (Seedorf et al. 2014; Lagkouvardos et al. 2016). Although this may seem unusual, mice are likely abundant in the environment, and mouse fecal matter may be washed into hot springs after rainfall. Although there appears to be no previous evidence for cellulose degradation by these organisms, it is feasible that bacteria living in digestive tracts of mice would be adapted to degrade a wide variety of substrates, including cellulose. Alternatively, the previously mentioned possibility that cellulolytic communities were not enriched in these experiments must also be considered. When referring to the community analysis of field sites at the family level (data not shown), S24-7 is observed to comprise ~10-20% of the total

community from each spring. Therefore, this may be further evidence that some cellulolytic enrichments were not successful, and simply reflect relative abundances of natural environmental communities.

5.4.2 Obsidian Pool paper filter-degrading community

The prevalence of *Caldicellulosiruptor* and *Thermoanaerobacterium* in the paper filter-degrading culture is anomalous, because both genera are characterized as being strictly anaerobic (Lee et al. 1993; Rainey et al. 1994). As cultures were designed to be aerobic, it must be speculated that oxygen availability dramatically decreased with growth of other organisms. It may be possible that the initial growth phase of other aerobic organisms consumed the supply of oxygen, and optimized conditions for the growth of these obligate anaerobes. Both organisms are well-known cellulose degraders that can produce useful fermentation byproducts such as ethanol and acetate (Rainey et al. 1994; Lynd et al. 2002). However, this may be the first reported case of these organisms actively degrading cellulose filter paper below pH 5. This finding has enormous implications in developing strategies for the direct conversion of cellulosic biomass to useful end products, a critical goal of current biofuel research.

5.5 Conclusion

Results from this study support continued investigations in hot springs environments for thermophilic, acidophilic cellulose-degrading organisms. While there were generally no dominant organisms that were functional in acidic conditions, considerable diversity of taxa is observed in enrichments. However, due to significant similarities between enrichment communities and environmental samples, it may be likely that enrichment cultures were largely unsuccessful. In contrast, the presence of several well-known cellulolytic bacteria such as *Alicyclobacillus, Caldicellulosiruptor*, and *Thermoanaerobacterium* in "Wood Chip Beach" pH 4 cultures and paper filter-degrading cultures are undeniable. These results strengthen support for the continued use of these organisms for industrial applications. Specifically, the latter two genera were shown to almost completely deconstruct whole

paper filters within a short time, and may even represent the first reported instance of cellulose degradation by these organisms at pH 4. Physical deconstruction of cellulose fibers is the slowest step in cellulose fermentation, as the produced sugar byproducts can be metabolized much more quickly. Thus, the results may provide useful data in developing strategies for pretreatment of cellulosic biomass with enzymes from these organisms to increase degradation rate.

VI. Conclusion

6.1 Microbes and metal tolerance in serpentinizing and hydrothermal springs

To first order, trace metal analysis from both serpentinizing and hydrothermal fluids determined that environmental metal concentrations are very low. In the Philippines, it is possible that extreme alkalinity facilitated the precipitation of metal cations from the aqueous phase, forming solid minerals that may have accumulated in spring sediments. In Yellowstone, acidic spring fluids and high temperatures allow for metals to remain in solution, but concentrations were typically observed in the ppb range in the sites sampled for culturing. In either case, it was demonstrated that highly metal tolerant organisms are present and can be cultivated from both environments. Furthermore, these organisms display a range of metal tolerance mechanisms. It is likely that these bacteria adapted to tolerate the presence of toxic metal cations in low concentrations, but possess mechanisms that can function at higher concentrations of metal-tolerant than those from hydrothermal environments, as several organisms from serpentinizing environments exhibit growth above 600 mg/L of at least one meta. Conversely, the MIC for all isolates from Yellowstone was determined to be below 600 mg/L.

The data suggest that for most bacterial isolates, an efflux pump is the likely mechanism of metal tolerance as evidenced by ICP data showing constant metal concentrations in cultures. Bacterial membrane proteins responsible for shuttling ions across the cell membrane are not specific to trace elements required for metabolic function, thus allowing for toxic elements in the environment to also enter the cell. Therefore, it is logical that in environments with low trace metal concentrations, an efflux pump would be the most efficient mechanism of action to remove the relatively small amounts of toxic ions from the cytosol. Data from this study demonstrate that the efflux transporters utilized by bacteria

in serpentinizing and hydrothermal systems may be highly competent and functional even when metals are elevated well beyond the low concentrations in their natural habitat.

Exclusively in the presence of Cu, several bacteria from the serpentinizing environment showed the ability to considerably reduce Cu concentration in culture media. Considering the decrease in Cu concentration and presence of brown precipitates in cultures, it can be reasonably assumed that these organisms are immobilizing Cu through biomineralization. However, the precise mechanism is currently unclear. It is often difficult to distinguish between extracellular precipitation via the secretion of chelating compounds and intracellular sequestration and precipitation in the cell envelope, as the two processes sometimes coincide (Haferburg and Kothe 2007). Therefore, further analysis, preferentially electron microscopy, is required to elucidate the precise mechanism of Cu removal exhibited by these bacteria. Additionally, *Bacillus wiedmanii* organisms from Iron Fist outflow in Yellowstone potentially indicate intracellular accumulation and biomineralization of Ni as evidenced by green pigmentation of cellular biomass on media supplemented with 200 mg/L Ni. This coloration can be compared with the green crystals produced by isolate ML-15 from Manleluag, which were determined to be likely a Ni-chloride hydrate. Additional electron microscopy and EDS analysis may confirm the character of the greenpigmented cells.

Lastly, isolate CC-8, *Streptomyces misionensis*, demonstrated the use of extracellularly active melanin to chelate metals and thereby detoxify its surroundings. Secondary metabolite production is a common phenomenon in *Streptomyces* organisms. Furthermore, it has been shown that metals can promote the production of other secondary metabolites, including antibiotics, and may therefore offer a novel strategy to synthesize valuable chemicals from metal resistant *Streptomyces* organisms.

6.2. Cellulolytic communities in alkaline serpentinizing springs and acidic hydrothermal springs

Although cellulose as a substrate for metabolism may not be ubiquitous across serpentinizing environments, it is especially prevalent in Manleluag Spring National Park. Given the elevated pH that is characteristic of serpentinization and the abundance of cellulose, cellulolytic microbial communities adapted to such an environment have significant implications in biotechnology. This study identifies active cellulolytic microbial communities across a range of alkaline pH values, and more specifically, elucidates which bacterial taxa are dominant in different conditions. The most important finding is that in extreme alkalinity (pH ~12), classic cellulolytic bacteria such as *Clostridium* and members of the *Actinobacteria* may not be as active as other taxa. It is demonstrated that in cases where cellulases may be required to operate at high pH, targeted efforts to find stable cellulases and effective cellulolytic consortia should focus on bacteria in the *Ruminococcaceae* and *Lachnospiraceae*. Additionally, it was observed that *Bacillus* organisms may be stable across a range of conditions, evidenced by their relatively consistent abundance over increasing pH and oxygen availability. Lastly, this study marks the first detection and cultivation of *Ethanoligenens* from a serpentinizing environment, although these organisms did not appear to tolerate conditions exceeding pH 8. However, this data may be useful in determining optimal conditions for cellulose degradation using enzymes from these highly biotechnologically relevant organisms.

Similar to serpentinizing environments, hot springs are not typically known for having abundant amounts of cellulose. However, limited nutrient availability necessitates that hydrothermal microbial communities be capable of metabolizing any carbon source that is offered. The cellulolytic communities that were enriched from hot springs in Yellowstone National Park were in stark contrast with those from serpentinizing environments. The main difference in community composition is evidenced by the significant variation observed at the phylum level. While alkaline enrichments from serpentinizing fluids are composed almost entirely of *Firmicutes*, those from acidic hydrothermal springs exhibit greater diversity. Whereas alkaline cultures were largely dominated but two main groups, acidic cultures are composed of many taxa, each comprising roughly 10% of the community. For example, acidic enrichments show the presence of *Proteobacteria* and *Bacteroidetes* in almost equal proportions with *Firmicutes*. At high pH, *Bacillaceae* and *Clostridiaceae* dominated enrichments, but these groups were generally absent in acidic conditions, with the exception of a single enrichment in which *Alicyclobacillus* was the dominant genus. Perhaps the most intriguing result is the complete deconstruction of paper filter strips in pH 4 culture by a consortium consisting of *Thermoanaerobacterium* and *Caldicellulosiruptor*. The efficiency of this cellulolytic duo may prove useful in development of new cellulolytic technologies.

6.3 Geomicrobiology and potential applications in biotechnology

Ultimately, results from all experiments strongly support continued investigations of microbiology in extreme environments for use in biotechnology. Over billions of years of evolution, microorganisms have developed the most efficient ways to obtain energy and survive harsh environments. It is logical in that sense to learn from these creatures the best way to produce sustainable fuel for our own needs, and how to remediate toxic elements that threaten the environment as well as human health. It is well-known that only the smallest fraction of microorganisms is cultivable from any given environmental sample, insinuating the vast amount of knowledge yet to be gained from Earth's oldest living inhabitants. It is only through increased research and culturing efforts that we may discover novel microorganisms and processes that may prove practical and beneficial for human interests.

Works Cited

- Abou-Shanab R a I, van Berkum P, Angle JS (2007) Heavy metal resistance and genotypic analysis of metal resistance genes in gram-positive and gram-negative bacteria present in Ni-rich serpentine soil and in the rhizosphere of Alyssum murale. Chemosphere 68:360–367. doi: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2006.12.051
- Amy PS, Haldeman DL, Ringelberg D, et al (1992) Comparison of identification systems for classification of bacteria isolated from water and endolithic habitats within the deep subsurface. Appl Environ Microbiol 58:3367–3373.
- Arora PK, Srivastava A, Singh VP (2016) Diversity of 4-Chloro-2-nitrophenol-Degrading Bacteria in a Waste Water Sample. Hindawi J Chem 2016:1–5. doi: 7589068
- Bachate SP, Nandre VS, Ghatpande NS, Kodam KM (2013) Simultaneous reduction of Cr(VI) and oxidation of As(III) by Bacillus firmus TE7 isolated from tannery effluent. Chemosphere 90:2273–2278. doi: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2012.10.081
- Bastin ES (1926) The Problem of the Natural Reduction of Sulphates. Am Assoc Pet Geol Bull 10:1270– 1299.
- Boyd ES, Jackson RA, Encarnacion G, et al (2007) Isolation, Characterization, and Ecology of Sulfur-Respiring Crenarchaea Inhabiting Acid-Sulfate-Chloride-Containing Geothermal Springs in Yellowstone National Park. Appl Environ Microbiol 73:6669–6677.
- Brock TD, Freeze H (1969) Thermus aquaticus gen. nov. and sp. nov., a nonsporulating extreme thermophile. J Bacteriol 98:289–297.
- Bryner L (1969) Ore deposits of the Philippines; an introduction to their geology. Econ Geol 64:644–666. doi: 10.2113/gsecongeo.64.6.644
- Caporaso JG, Kuczynski J, Stombaugh J, et al (2010) QIIME allows analysis of high-throughput community sequencing data. Nat Methods 7:335–336.
- Cardace D, Meyer-Dombard DR, Woycheese KM, Arcilla CA (2015) Feasible metabolisms in high pH springs of the Philippines. Front Microbiol 6:10. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2015.00010
- Cercos AP, Eilberg BL, Goyena JG, et al (1962) Misionina: antibiotico polienico producido por Streptomyces misionensis n. sp. Rev Investig Agric 17:5–27.
- Chen Z, Pan X, Chen H, et al (2016) Biomineralization of Pb(II) into Pb-hydroxyapatite induced by Bacillus cereus 12-2 isolated from Lead-Zinc mine tailings. J Hazard Mater 301:531–537. doi: 10.1016/j.jhazmat.2015.09.023
- Colwell FS, D'Hondt S (2013) Nature and Extent of the Deep Biosphere. Rev Mineral Geochemistry 75:547–574. doi: 10.2138/rmg.2013.75.17

Cooksey DA (1993) Copper uptake and resistance in bacteria. Mol Microbiol 7:1-5. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-

2958.1993.tb01091.x

- Cross T (1981) Aquatic Actinomycetes: A critical survey of the ocurrence, growth and role of Actinomycetes in aquatic habitats. Appl Bacteriol 50:397–423.
- Darland G, Brock TD (1971) Bacillus acidocaldarius sp.nov., an Acidophilic Thermophilic Spore-forming Bacterium. J Gen Microbiol 67:9–15. doi: 10.1099/00221287-67-1-9
- Dave S, Damani M, Tipre D (2010) Copper remediation by Eichhornia spp. and sulphate-reducing bacteria. J Hazard Mater 173:231–235. doi: 10.1016/j.jhazmat.2009.08.073
- de Lima Procópio RE, da Silva IR, Martins MK, et al (2012) Antibiotics produced by Streptomyces. Brazilian J Infect Dis 16:466–471. doi: 10.1016/j.bjid.2012.08.014
- De Menezes AB, Lockhart RJ, Cox MJ, et al (2008) Cellulose degradation by micromonosporas recovered from freshwater lakes and classification of these actinomycetes by DNA gyrase B gene sequencing. Appl Environ Microbiol 74:7080–7084. doi: 10.1128/AEM.01092-08
- Dey A (2016) Evaluation of extracellular enzyme-producing autochthonous gut bacteria in walking catfish , Clarias batrachus (L.). J Fish 4:345–352. doi: 10.17017/jfish.v4i1.2016.115
- Eckert K, Schneider E (2003) A thermoacidophilic endoglucanase (CelB) from Alicyclobacillus acidocaldarius displays high sequence similarity to arabinofuranosidases belonging to family 51 of glycoside hydrolases. Eur J Biochem 270:3593–3602. doi: 10.1046/j.1432-1033.2003.03744.x
- Edgar RC (2004) MUSCLE: multiple sequence alignment with high accuracy and high throughput. Nucleic Acids Res 32:1792–1797.
- Ehlmann BL, Mustard JF, Murchie SL (2010) Geologic setting of serpentine deposits on Mars. Geophys Res Lett 37:1–5. doi: 10.1029/2010GL042596
- Evans C, Hawkins JW (1989) Compositional heterogeneities in upper mantle peridotites from the Zambales Range Ophiolite, Luzon, Philippines. Tectonophysics 168:23–41.
- Felsenstein J (1985) Confidence limits on phylogenies: An approach using the bootstrap. Evolution (N Y) 39:783–791.
- Fournier RO (1989) Geochemistry and Yellowstone National. Annu Rev Earth Planet Sci 17:13–53.
- Fredrickson JK, Balkwill DL, Zachara JM, et al (1991) Physiological Diversity and Distributions of Heterotrophic Bacteria in Deep Cretaceous Sediments of the Atlantic Coastal Plain Physiological Diversity and Distributions of Heterotrophic Bacteria in Deep Cretaceous Sediments of the Atlantic Coastal Plain. Appl Environ Microbiol 57:402–411.
- Fredrickson JK, Onstott TC (1996) Microbes deep inside the earth. Sci Am 275:68–73. doi: 10.1038/scientificamerican1096-68
- Fujinami S, Fujisawa M (2010) Industrial applications of alkaliphiles and their enzymes past, present and future. Environ Technol 31:845–856. doi: 10.1080/09593331003762807

- Gadd GM, Griffiths a J (1978) Microorganisms and heavy metal toxicity. Microb Ecol 4:303–317. doi: 10.1007/BF02013274
- Ghosh D, Bal B, Kashyap VK, Pal S (2003) Molecular Phylogenetic Exploration of Bacterial Diversity in a Bakreshwar (India) Hot Spring and Culture of Shewanella Molecular Phylogenetic Exploration of Bacterial Diversity in a Bakreshwar (India) Hot Spring and Culture of Shewanella -Related Ther. Appl Environ Microbiol 69:4332–4336. doi: 10.1128/AEM.69.7.4332
- Haferburg G, Kothe E (2007) Microbes and metals: Interactions in the environment. J Basic Microbiol 47:453–467. doi: 10.1002/jobm.200700275
- Hahn HJ (2009) A proposal for an extended typology of groundwater habitats. Hydrogeol J 17:77–81. doi: 10.1007/s10040-008-0363-5
- Hamilton-Brehm SD, Mosher JJ, Vishnivetskaya T, et al (2010) Caldicellulosiruptor obsidiansis sp. nov., an anaerobic, extremely thermophilic, cellulolytic bacterium isolated from obsidian pool, yellowstone National Park. Appl Environ Microbiol 76:1014–1020. doi: 10.1128/AEM.01903-09
- Hawkins JW, Evans C a (1983) Geology of the Zambales Range, Luzon, Philippine Islands ophiolite derived from an island arc-backarc basin pair. Tecton Geol Evol Southeast Asian seas islands, Part 2 (Hayes, DE, Ed) Am Geophys Union, Geophys Monogr Ser 27:95–123.
- Helgason E, Økstad OA, Dominique a, et al (2000) Bacillus anthracis, Bacillus cereus, and Bacillus thuringiensis –– One Species on the Basis of Genetic Evidence One Species on the Basis of Genetic Evidence. Appl Environ Microbiol 66:2627–2630. doi: 10.1128/AEM.66.6.2627-2630.2000.Updated
- Huber R, Eder W, Heldwein S, et al (1998) Thermocrinis ruber gen. nov., sp. nov., a pink-filament forming hyperthermophilic bacterium isolated from Yellowstone National Park. Appl Environ Microbiol 64:3576–3583.
- Inskeep WP, McDermott TR (2005) Geomicrobiology of Acid-Chloride Springs in Yellowstone National Park. In: McDermott TR, Inskeep WP (eds) Geothermal Biology and Geochemistry in Yellowstone National Park: Proceeding of the Thermal Biology Institute Workshop, Yellowstone National Park, WY, October 2003. Thermal Biology Institute, Montana State University, pp 143–162
- Jackson CR, Langner HW, Donahoe-Christiansen J, et al (2001) Molecular analysis of microbial community structure in an arsenite-oxidizing acidic thermal spring. Environ Microbiol 3:532–542.
- Jalali KK (2000) The role of sulfate reducing bacteria in copper removal from aqueous sulfate solutions.

Johnson DB (2015) Biomining goes underground. Nat Geosci 8:165–166. doi: 10.1038/ngeo2384

- Jukes TH, Cantor CR (1969) Evolution of protein molecules. Mamm Protein Metab 21–132.
- Kallmeyer J, Pockalny R, Adhikari RR, et al (2012) Global distribution of microbial abundance and biomass in subseafloor sediment. Proc Natl Acad Sci 109:16213–16216. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1203849109

Kopecný J, Hajer J, Mrázek J (2004) Detection of cellulolytic bacteria from the human colon. Folia

Microbiol (Praha) 49:175-177. doi: 10.1007/BF02931396

- Kumar M, Kumar V, Varma A, et al (2016a) An efficient approach towards the bioremediation of copper, cobalt and nickel contaminated field samples. J Soils Sediments 16:2118–2127. doi: 10.1007/s11368-016-1398-1
- Kumar S, Stecher G, Tamura K (2016b) MEGA7: Molecular Evolutionary Genetics Analysis version 7.0 for bigger datasets. Mol Biol Evol 33:msw054. doi: 10.1093/molbev/msw054
- Kwon SW, Kim JS, Park IC, et al (2003) Pseudomonas koreensis sp. nov., Pseudomonas umsongensis sp. nov. and Pseudomonas jinjuensis sp. nov., novel species from farm soils in Korea. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol 53:21–27. doi: 10.1099/ijs.0.02326-0
- La Duc MT, Dekas A, Osman S, et al (2007) Isolation and characterization of bacteria capable of tolerating the extreme conditions of clean room environments. Appl Environ Microbiol 73:2600–2611. doi: 10.1128/AEM.03007-06
- Lagkouvardos I, Pukall R, Abt B, et al (2016) Corrigendum: The Mouse Intestinal Bacterial Collection (miBC) provides host-specific insight into cultured diversity and functional potential of the gut microbiota. Nat Microbiol 1:16219. doi: 10.1038/nmicrobiol.2016.219
- Lee YE, Jain MK, Lee C, Zeikus JG (1993) Taxonomic Distinction of Saccharolytic Thermophilic Anaerobes. Int J Syst Bacteriol 43:41–51. doi: 10.1099/00207713-43-1-41
- Lovley DR, Coates JD (2000) Novel forms of anaerobic respiration of environmental relevance. Curr Opin Microbiol 3:252–256. doi: 10.1016/S1369-5274(00)00085-0
- Lynd LR, Weimer PJ, Zyl WH van, Pretorius IS (2002) Microbial Cellulose Utilization: Fundamentals and Biotechnology. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 66:506–577. doi: 10.1128/MMBR.66.3.506
- Marteinsson VT, Hauksdottir S, Hobel CFV, et al (2001) Phylogenetic diversity analysis of subterranean hot springs in Iceland. Appl Environ Microbiol 67:4242–4248.
- Martin MM, Jones CG, Bernays EA (1991) The Evolution of Cellulose Digestion in Insects [and Discussion]. Philos Trans R Soc B Biol Sci 333:281–288. doi: 10.1098/rstb.1991.0078
- Martin W, Baross J, Kelley D, Russell MJ (2008) Hydrothermal vents and the origin of life. Nat Rev Microbiol 6:805–814. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro1991
- Meddeb-Mouelhi F, Moisan JK, Beauregard M (2014) A comparison of plate assay methods for detecting extracellular cellulase and xylanase activity. Enzyme Microb Technol 66:16–19. doi: 10.1016/j.enzmictec.2014.07.004
- Mengoni A, Barzanti R, Gonnelli C, et al (2001) Characterization of nickel-resistant bacteria isolated from serpentine soil. Environ Microbiol 3:691–698. doi: 243 [pii]
- Mesa J, Mateos-Naranjo E, Caviedes MA, et al (2015) Scouting contaminated estuaries: Heavy metal resistant and plant growth promoting rhizobacteria in the native metal rhizoaccumulator Spartina maritima. Mar Pollut Bull 90:150–159. doi: 10.1016/j.marpolbul.2014.11.002

- Meyer-Dombard DR, Shock EL, Amend JP (2005) Archaeal and bacterial communities in geochemically diverse hot springs of Yellowstone National Park, USA. Geobiology 3:211–227. doi: 10.1111/j.1472-4669.2005.00052.x
- Meyer-Dombard DR, Shock EL, Amend JP (2012) Effects of trace element concentrations on culturing thermophiles. Extremophiles 16:317–331. doi: 10.1007/s00792-012-0432-5
- Meyer-Dombard DR, Swingley W, Raymond J, et al (2011) Hydrothermal Ecotones and Streamer Biofilm Communities in the Lower Geyser Basin, Yellowstone National Park. Environ Microbiol 13:2216– 2231.
- Miller RA, Beno SM, Kent DJ, et al (2016) Bacillus wiedmannii sp. nov. is a new psychrotolerant and cytotoxic Bacillus cereus group species isolated from dairy foods and environments in the USA. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol 4744–4753. doi: 10.1099/ijsem.0.001421
- Mohagheghi a., Grohmann K, Himmel M, et al (1986) Isolation and Characterization of Acidothermus cellulolyticus gen. nov., sp. nov., a New Genus of Thermophilic, Acidophilic, Cellulolytic Bacteria. Int J Syst Bacteriol 36:435–443. doi: 10.1099/00207713-36-3-435
- Nakagawa T, Fukui M (2002) Phylogenetic characterization of microbial mats and streamers from a Japanese alkaline hot spring with a thermal gradient. J Gen Appl Microbiol 48:211–222.
- Naureen A, Rehman A (2016) Arsenite oxidizing multiple metal resistant bacteria isolated from industrial effluent: their potential use in wastewater treatment. World J Microbiol Biotechnol 32:1–9. doi: 10.1007/s11274-016-2079-3
- Nayak PS, Arakha M, Kumar A, et al (2016) An approach towards continuous production of silver nanoparticles using Bacillus thuringiensis. RSC Adv 6:8232–8242. doi: 10.1039/C5RA21281B
- Norris PR, Burton NP, Foulis N a (2000) Acidophiles in bioreactor mineral processing. Extremophiles 4:71–76. doi: 10.1007/s007920050139
- Okaiyeto K, Nwodo UU, Mabinya L V., Okoh AI (2015) Bacillus toyonensis strain AEMREG6, a bacterium isolated from South African marine environment sediment samples produces a glycoprotein bioflocculant. Molecules 20:5239–5259. doi: 10.3390/molecules20035239
- Oze C, Fendorf S, Bird DK, Coleman RG (2004) Chromium geochemistry in serpentinized ultramafic rocks and serpentine soils from the Franciscan complex of California. Am J Sci 304:67–101. doi: 10.2475/ajs.304.1.67
- Pal A, Dutta S, Mukherjee PK, Paul AK (2005) Occurrence of heavy metal-resistance in microflora from serpentine soil of Andaman. J Basic Microbiol 45:207–218. doi: 10.1002/jobm.200410499
- Panchanadikar V V, Kar RN (1993) Precipitation Desulfovibrio. World J Microbiol Biotechnol 9:280–281.
- Paz A, Carballo J, P??rez MJ, Dom??nguez JM (2016a) Bacillus aryabhattai BA03: a novel approach to the production of natural value-added compounds. World J Microbiol Biotechnol. doi: 10.1007/s11274-016-2113-5

- Paz A, Carballo J, Pérez MJ, Domínguez JM (2016b) Vanillin production by Bacillus aryabhattai. N Biotechnol 33:423. doi: 10.1016/j.nbt.2015.10.025
- Pikuta E V., Hoover RB, Tang J (2007) Microbial Extremophiles at the Limits of Life. Crit Rev Microbiol 33:183–209. doi: 10.1080/10408410701451948
- Plonka PM, Grabacka M (2006) Melanin synthesis in microorganisms Biotechnological and medical aspects. Acta Biochim Pol 53:429–443. doi: 20061329 [pii]
- Quemeneur M, Palvadeau A, Postec A, et al (2015) Endolithic microbial communities in carbonate precipitates from serpentinite-hosted hyperalkaline springs of the Voltri Massif (Ligurian Alps, Northern Italy). Environ Sci Pollut Res 22:13613–13624. doi: 10.1007/s11356-015-4113-7
- Rainey FA, Donnison AM, Janssen PH, et al (1994) Description of Caldicellulosiruptor saccharolyticus. FEMS Microbiol Lett 120:263–266.
- Rainey FA, Janssen PH, Morgan HW, Stackebrandt E (1993) A biphasic approach to the determination of the phenotypic and genotypic diversity of some anaerobic, cellulolytic, thermophilic, rod-shaped bacteria. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek 64:341–355. doi: 10.1007/BF00873092
- Rajkumar M, Ma Y, Freitas H (2008) Characterization of metal-resistant plant-growth promoting Bacillus weihenstephanensis isolated from serpentine soil in Portugal. J Basic Microbiol 48:500–508. doi: 10.1002/jobm.200800073
- Rajkumar M, Vara Prasad MN, Freitas H, Ae N (2009) Biotechnological applications of serpentine soil bacteria for phytoremediation of trace metals. Crit Rev Biotechnol 29:120–130. doi: 10.1080/07388550902913772
- Ramamorthy S, Kushner DJ (1975) Binding of mercuric and other heavy metal ions by microbial growth media. Microb Ecol 2:162–176.
- Rastogi G, Muppidi GL, Gurram RN, et al (2009) Isolation and characterization of cellulose-degrading bacteria from the deep subsurface of the Homestake gold mine, Lead, South Dakota, USA. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 36:585–598. doi: 10.1007/s10295-009-0528-9
- Rathgeber C, Yurkova N, Stackebrandt E, et al (2002) Isolation of Tellurite- and Selenite-Resistant Bacteria from Hydrothermal Vents of the Juan de Fuca Ridge in the Pacific Ocean Isolation of Tellurite- and Selenite-Resistant Bacteria from Hydrothermal Vents of the Juan de Fuca Ridge in the Pacific Ocean. Appl Environ Microbiol 68:4613–4622. doi: 10.1128/AEM.68.9.4613
- Rawlings DE, Dew D, Plessis C du (2003) Biomineralization of metal-containing ores and concentrates. TRENDS Biotechnol 21:38–44.
- Raytapadar S, Datta R, Paul A (1995) Effects of some heavy metals on growth, pigment and antibiotic production by Streptomyces galbus. Acta Microbiol Immunol Hung 42:171–177.
- Reysenbach AL, Banta A, Civello S, et al (2005) Aquifiacales in Yellowstone National Park. In: McDermott TR, Inskeep WP (eds) Geothermal Biology and Geochemistry in Yellowstone National Park: Proceeding of the Thermal Biology Institute Workshop, Yellowstone National Park, WY, October

2003. Thermal Biology Institute, Montana State University, pp 129–142

- Reysenbach AL, Wickham GS, Pace NR (1994) Phylogenetic analysis of the hyperthermophilic pink filament community in Octopus Spring, Yellowstone National Park. Appl Environ Microbiol 60:2113–2119.
- Russell JB, Muck RE, Weimer PJ (2009) Quantitative analysis of cellulose degradation and growth of cellulolytic bacteria in the rumen. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 67:183–197. doi: 10.1111/j.1574-6941.2008.00633.x
- Russell MJ, Hall AJ, Martin W (2010) Serpentinization as a source of energy at the origin of life. Geobiology 8:355–371. doi: 10.1111/j.1472-4669.2010.00249.x
- Saitou N, Nei M (1987) The neighbor-joining method: A new method for reconstructing phylogenetic trees. Mol Biol Evol 4:406–425.
- Salehizadeh H, Shojaosadati SA (2003) Removal of metal ions from aqueous solution by polysaccharide produced from Bacillus firmus. Water Res 37:4231–4235. doi: 10.1016/S0043-1354(03)00418-4
- Sathyavathi S, Manjula A, Rajendhran J, Gunasekaran P (2014) Extracellular synthesis and characterization of nickel oxide nanoparticles from Microbacterium sp. MRS-1 towards bioremediation of nickel electroplating industrial effluent. Bioresour Technol 165:270–273. doi: 10.1016/j.biortech.2014.03.031
- Schrenk MO, Brazelton WJ, Lang SQ (2013) Serpentinization, Carbon, and Deep Life. Rev Mineral Geochemistry 75:575–606. doi: 10.2138/rmg.2013.75.18
- Schulte M, Blake D, Hoehler T, McCollom T (2006) Early Earth and Mars. 6:364–376.
- Schwarz WH (2001) The cellulosome and cellulose degradation by anaerobic bacteria. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 56:634–649. doi: 10.1007/s002530100710
- Seedorf H, Griffin NW, Ridaura VK, et al (2014) Bacteria from diverse habitats colonize and compete in the mouse gut. Cell 159:253–266. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2014.09.008
- Shiratori H, Ikeno H, Ayame S, et al (2006) Isolation and characterization of a new Clostridium sp. that performs effective cellulosic waste digestion in a thermophilic methanogenic bioreactor. Appl Environ Microbiol 72:3702–3709. doi: 10.1128/AEM.72.5.3702-3709.2006
- Shivaji S, Chaturvedi P, Suresh K, et al (2006) Bacillus aerius sp. nov., Bacillus aerophilus sp. nov., Bacillus stratosphericus sp. nov. and Bacillus altitudinis sp. nov., isolated from cryogenic tubes used for collecting air samples from high altitudes. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol 56:1465–1473. doi: 10.1099/ijs.0.64029-0
- Shock EL, Holland M, Meyer-Dombard DR, et al (2010) Quantifying inorganic sources of geochemical enrgy in hydrothermal ecosystems, Yellowstone National Park, USA. Geochim Cosmochim Acta 74:4005–4043.

Shock EL, Holland M, Meyer-Dombard DR, Amend JP (2005) Geochemical Sources of Energy for

Microbial Metabolism in Hydrothermal Ecosystems: Obsidian Pool, Yellowstone National Park. In: McDermott TR, Inskeep WP (eds) Geothermal Biology and Geochemistry in Yellowstone National Park: Proceeding of the Thermal Biology Institute Workshop, Yellowstone National Park, WY, October 2003.

- Singh N, Gupta S, Marwa N, et al (2016) Arsenic mediated modifications in Bacillus aryabhattai and their biotechnological applications for arsenic bioremediation. Chemosphere 164:524–534. doi: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2016.08.119
- Sleep NH, Meibom a, Fridriksson T, et al (2004) H2-rich fluids from serpentinization: geochemical and biotic implications. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101:12818–12823. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0405289101
- Spear JR, Walker JJ, McCollom TM, Pace NR (2005) Hydrogen and bioenergetics in the Yellowstone geothermal ecosystem. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102:2555–2560. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0409574102
- Stoppel R, Schlegel HG (1995) Nickel-resistant bacteria from anthropogenically nickel-polluted and naturally nickel-percolated ecosystems. Appl Environ Microbiol 61:2276–85.
- Takeuchi M, Hatano K (1998) Proposal of six new species in the genus Microbacterium and transfer of Flavobacterium marinotypicum ZoBell and Upham to the genus Microbacterium as Microbacterium maritypicum comb. nov. Int J Syst Bacteriol 48:973–982. doi: 10.1099/00207713-48-3-973
- Ticknor LO, Kolstø A, Hill KK, et al (2001) Fluorescent Amplified Fragment Length Polymorphism Analysis of Norwegian Bacillus cereus and Bacillus thuringiensis Soil Isolates Fluorescent Amplified Fragment Length Polymorphism Analysis of Norwegian Bacillus cereus and Bacillus thuringiensis Soil Isol. Appl Environ Microbiol 67:4863. doi: 10.1128/AEM.67.10.4863
- Verma DK, Hasan SH, Singh DK, et al (2014) Enhanced biosorptive remediation of hexavalent chromium using chemotailored biomass of a novel soil isolate bacillus aryabhattai ITBHU02: Process variables optimization through artificial neural network linked genetic algorithm. Ind Eng Chem Res 53:3669–3681. doi: 10.1021/ie404266k
- Vilanova C, Marco G, Domínguez-Escribà L, et al (2012) Bacteria from acidic to strongly alkaline insect midguts: Potential sources of extreme cellulolytic enzymes. Biomass and Bioenergy 45:288–294. doi: 10.1016/j.biombioe.2012.06.017
- Wang P, Ma Y, Wang C, et al (2015) Isolation and Characterization of Heavy Metal- Resistant Bacterias Capable of Removing Cr (VI). Polish J Environ Stud 24:339–345.
- Wang Z, Xu J, Li Y, et al (2010) Rhodococcus jialingiae sp. nov., an actinobacterium isolated from sludge of a carbendazim wastewater treatment facility. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol 60:378–381. doi: 10.1099/ijs.0.013219-0
- Watve MG, Tickoo R, Jog MM, Bhole BD (2001) How many antibiotics are produced by the genus Streptomyces? Arch Microbiol 176:386–390. doi: 10.1007/s002030100345
- White C, Gadd GM (2000) Copper accumulation by sulfate-reducing bacterial biofilms. FEMS Microbiol Lett 183:313–318. doi: 10.1016/S0378-1097(00)0002-1

- Whitman WB, Coleman DC, Wiebe WJ (1998) Prokaryotes: the unseen majority. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95:6578–6583. doi: 10.1073/pnas.95.12.6578
- Wilson DB (2011) Microbial diversity of cellulose hydrolysis. Curr Opin Microbiol 14:259–263. doi: 10.1016/j.mib.2011.04.004
- Woycheese KM, Meyer-Dombard DR, Cardace D, et al (2015) Out of the dark: transitional subsurface-tosurface microbial diversity in a terrestrial serpentinizing seep (Manleluag, Pangasinan, the Philippines). Front Microbiol 6:1–12. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2015.00044
- Wu H, Wu Q, Wu G, et al (2016) Cd-resistant strains of B. cereus S5 with endurance capacity and their capacities for cadmium removal from cadmium-polluted water. PLoS One 11:1–25. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0151479
- Xing D, Ren N, Li Q, et al (2006) Ethanoligenens harbinense gen. nov., sp. nov., isolated from molasses wastewater. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol 56:755–760. doi: 10.1099/ijs.0.63926-0
- Yoon SH, Ha SM, Kwon S, et al (2017) Introducing EzBioCloud: A taxonomically united database of 16S rRNA and whole genome assemblies.
- Zevenhuizen LP, Dolfing J, Eshuis EJ, Scholten-Koerselman IJ (1979) Inhibitory effects of copper on bacteria related to the free ion concentration. Microb Ecol 5:139–46. doi: 10.1007/BF02010505
- Zhan G, Li D, Zhang L (2012) Aerobic bioreduction of nickel(II) to elemental nickel with concomitant biomineralization. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 96:273–281. doi: 10.1007/s00253-011-3827-9



APPENDIX A. Phase Contrast Images of Bacterial Isolates in the Presence of Metals

Figure A1. Comparison of cells of isolate ML-15 grown on LBA (right) and LBA + 600 mg/L Ni (left). Squares in grid are 10x10 μ m.



Figure A2. Image of isolate CC-8 grown in the presence of 200 mg/L Cu. Squares are 10x10 um. Filamentous cells can be seen protruding from solidified melanin.

APPENDIX B. Final pH of Metal-amended Cultures

Table A-I. Alteration of culture pH facilitated by isolates growing in the presence of 200 mg/L of C	u,
Cr, and Ni.	

Isolate	Metal conc. (mg/L)	Starting pH	Final pH
ML-15	200 Cu	7.07	8.83
BL-3	200 Cu	7.07	8.99
ML-8	200 Cu	7.07	8.56
ML-15	200 Cu	7.07	8.57
CC-7	200 Cr	7.55	8.90
ML-7	200 Cr	7.55	8.91
ML-9	200 Cr	7.55	8.81
CC-8	200 Ni	7.10	8.80
IF-3	200 Ni	7.10	8.77
BL-6	200 Ni	7.10	8.85

Appendix C. Screening of Metal-tolerant Isolates for Cellulase Activity

Isolate	Clearing Zone	
BL-4	+	
ML-9	+	
CC-1	+	
ML-4	-	
ML-7	+	
ML-8	+	
CC-6	-	
BL-6	-	
IF-1	+	
IF-5	+	
FE-3	+	

Table A-II. Ability of isolates to produce a hydrolytic clearing zone indicative of cellulase activity when grown on Mm-CMC agar. "+" indicates the presence of a clearing; "-" indicates no clearing.



Appendix D. Community Analysis of Environmental Samples

Figure A3. Relative abundances of various phyla in sediment collected from acid mine drainage in Barlo mine.



Figure A4. Relative abundances of various bacterial phyla in environmental samples from two hydrothermal springs, Iron Fist and Figure 8, in Yellowstone National Park.

Appendix E. Reference Diameter of Isolates Grown on LBA

Isolate	Colony Diameter
ML-1	1.0 cm
ML-4	1.0 cm
ML-6	1.5 cm
ML-7	1.3 cm
ML-8	2.8 cm
ML-9	1.5 cm
ML-10	1.2 cm
ML-14	1.0 cm
ML-15	1.0 cm
ML-16	1.0 cm
CC-1	1.5 cm
CC-2	1.7 cm
CC-3	1.3 cm
CC-4	3.2 cm
CC-6	1.3 cm
CC-7	1.4 cm
CC-8	1.0 cm
BL-3	2.5 cm
BL-4	1.1 cm
BL-6	2.2 cm
FE-1	3.0 cm
FE-2	3.0 cm
FE-3	3.0 cm
IF-1	3.0 cm
IF-3	3.0 cm
IF-5	3.0 cm
IF-6	3.0 cm
IF-8	3.0 cm

Table A-III. Measurements correlate to diameter of bacterial growth on LBA (without metal). The values indicate the standard to which organisms grown on metal-amended media were compared.

121

VITA

NAME:	Udayabharathi Vallalar	
EDUCATION:	B.S., Biological Sciences, Louisiana State University M.S., Biological Sciences, Louisiana State University	2010 2012
MEMBERSHIPS:	American Society for Microbiology	
HONORS AND AWARDS:	Bodmer International Travel Grant Geological Society of America Research Grant	2013 2013
PUBLISHED ABSTRACTS:	Vallalar, B. , Meyer-Dombard, D., Cardace, D., Arcilla, C., "Heavy Metal Resistant, Alkalitolerant Bacteria Isolated from Serpentinizing Springs in the Zambales Ophiolite, Philippines" <i>AGU Fall Meeting</i> , San Francisco, CA.	2016
	Vallalar, B., and Meyer-Dombard, D., "Isolation of Cellulolytic Bacteria from High pH Serpentinizing Springs in the Philippines" <i>Astrobiology Science Conference</i> , Chicago, IL.	2015
	Meyer-Dombard, D.R., Cardace, D., Woycheese, K., Casar, C., Vallalar, B. Arcilla, C., "Geochemistry of microbial environments in serpentinizing springs of the Philippines" <i>Second Annual Midwest Geobiology</i> <i>Symposium</i> , St. Louis, MO.	2013
	Vallalar, B. , Meyer-Dombard, DA., "Culturing Cellulolytic Bacteria from High pH Serpentinizing Springs" <i>Third Annual Midwest Geobiology</i> <i>Symposium</i> , Chicago, IL.	2013
PUBLICATIONS IN PREP.	Vallalar, B. , Meyer-Dombard, D., Cardace, D., Arcilla, C., "Multi Resistant Bacteria Isolated from Serpentinizing Springs in the Zar Ophiolites, the Philippines" <i>Applied and Environmental Microbiolo</i>	i-metal mbales <i>gy</i> .
	Vallalar, B. , Meyer-Dombard, D.A., "Cultivation and Characteriza Cellulose-degrading Bacteria from Alkaline Serpentinizing Springs Zambales Ophiolite, the Philippines" <i>Applied and Environ</i> <i>Microbiology</i> .	tion of in the <i>mental</i>